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PART I
Forward-Looking Statements
Certain disclosures related to acquisitions, refinancing, capital expenditures, resolution of pending litigation, and realization of deferred tax assets contained in this annual report
involve substantial risks and uncertainties and may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as
amended. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs, plans and objectives of
management for future operations. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,”
“plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue,” “project,” or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions.
These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but rather are based on our current expectations, assumptions, and projections about future events. Although we
believe that the expectations, assumptions, and projections on which these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, they nonetheless could prove to be inaccurate,
and as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those expectations, assumptions, and projections also could be inaccurate. Forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance. Instead, forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that may cause our strategy,
planning, actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any strategy, planning, future results, levels of activity, performance, or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ materially from those currently anticipated as a result of a number of factors,
including the risks and uncertainties discussed under the caption “Risk Factors” set forth in Item 1A of this annual report. Given these uncertainties, current or prospective
investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements.
All forward-looking statements attributable to the Company, as defined herein, or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary
statements included in this annual report; they should not be regarded as a representation by the Company or any other individual. We undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise. In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the
forward-looking events discussed in this annual report might not occur or might be materially different from those discussed.
Item 1 – Business.
General
The Hillman Companies, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, “Hillman” or “Company”) are one of the largest providers of hardware-related products and
related merchandising services to retail markets in North America. Our principal business is operated through our wholly-owned subsidiary, The Hillman Group, Inc. and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, “Hillman Group”), which had net sales of approximately $1,368.3 million in 2020. Hillman Group sells its products to hardware stores,
home centers, mass merchants, pet supply stores, and other retail outlets principally in the United States, Canada, Mexico, Latin America, and the Caribbean. Product lines
include thousands of small parts such as fasteners and related hardware items; threaded rod and metal shapes; keys, key duplication systems, and accessories; builder's
hardware; personal protective equipment, such as gloves and eye-wear; and identification items, such as tags and letters, numbers, and signs. We support product sales with
services that include design and installation of merchandising systems, maintenance of appropriate in-store inventory levels, and break-fix for our robotics kiosks.
Our headquarters are located at 10590 Hamilton Avenue, Cincinnati, Ohio. We maintain a website at www.hillmangroup.com. Information contained or linked on our website
is not incorporated by reference into this annual report and should not be considered a part of this annual report.
On August 16, 2019, we acquired the assets of Sharp Systems, LLC ("Resharp"), a California-based innovative developer of automated knife sharpening systems, for a cash
payment of $3.0 million and contingent consideration valued at $18.1 million. The maximum payout for the contingent consideration is $25.0 million plus 1.8% of net knifesharpening revenues for five years after the $25.0 million is fully paid. Resharp has business operations in the United States and its financial results reside within our Robotics
and Digital Solutions segment.
On July 1, 2019, the Company acquired the assets of West Coast Washers, Inc for a total purchase price of $3.1 million. The financial results of West Coast Washers, Inc. reside
within the Company's Hardware and Protective Solutions segment.
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On October 1, 2018, we completed the acquisition of NB Parent Company, Inc. and its affiliated companies including Big Time Products, LLC and Rooster Products
International, Inc. (collectively, "Big Time"), a leading provider of Personal Protective Solutions and work gear products for a purchase price of approximately $348.8 million.
With the addition of Big Time, Hillman’s product portfolio now spans the hardware, automotive, garden, and cleaning categories and includes Big Time’s industry-leading
brands such as Firm Grip, AWP, McGuire-Nicholas, Grease Monkey, and Gorilla Grip, which are sold throughout retailers in North America. Big Time has operations in the
United States, Canada, and Mexico and is included in our Hardware and Protective Solutions segment.
On August 10, 2018, we completed the acquisition of Minute Key Holdings, Inc. (“MinuteKey”), an innovative leader in self-service key duplicating kiosks, for a total
consideration reflecting an enterprise value of $156.3 million. We believe that the combination of MinuteKey's self service kiosk business with Hillman's existing key
duplication platform will create additional growth opportunities. MinuteKey has operations in the United States and Canada and is included in our Robotics and Digital
Solutions segment.
Subsequent to our year end, on January 24, 2021, the Company’s parent, HMan Group Holdings, Inc., and Landcadia Holdings III, Inc. ("Landcadia"), a special purpose
acquisition company ("SPAC") entered into an agreement ("Merger Agreement") whereby the Parent would become a wholly owned subsidiary of Landcadia for the
consideration of $911.3 million upon approval of the Landcadia shareholders shareholders and will be accounted for as a reverse acquisition resulting in a recapitalization of
HMan Group Holdings. Consideration would be a combination of roll-over equity by current Company shareholders, new share purchases by Landcadia SPAC participants,
cash from a new credit agreement and refinancing of existing credit facilities of the Company. A full description of the proposed acquisition terms may be found in the
Landcadia Proxy Statement dated February 3, 2021 (the “Proxy”) filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), which is available on
www.sec.gov.
Hillman Group
We are comprised of three separate operating business segments: (1) Hardware and Protective Solutions, (2) Robotics and Digital Solutions, and (3) Canada.
We provide products such as fasteners and related hardware items; threaded rod and metal shapes; keys, key duplication systems, and accessories; builder's hardware; personal
protective equipment, such as gloves and eye-wear; and identification items, such as tags and letters, numbers, and signs, to retail outlets, primarily hardware stores, home
centers and mass merchants, pet supply stores, grocery stores, and drug stores. We complement our extensive product selection with regular retailer visits by our field sales and
service organization.
We market and distribute a wide variety of stock keeping units (“SKUs”) of small, hard-to-find and hard-to-manage hardware items. We function as a category manager for
retailers and support these products with in-store service, high order fill rates, and rapid delivery of products sold. Sales and service representatives regularly visit retail outlets
to review stock levels, reorder items in need of replacement, and interact with the store management to offer new product and merchandising ideas. Thousands of items can be
actively managed with the retailer experiencing a substantial reduction of in-store labor costs and replenishment paperwork. Service representatives also assist in organizing the
products in a consumer-friendly manner. We complement our broad range of products with merchandising services such as displays, product identification stickers, retail price
labels, store rack and drawer systems, assistance in rack positioning and store layout, and inventory restocking services. We regularly refresh retailers' displays with new
products and package designs utilizing color-coding to simplify the shopping experience for consumers and improve the attractiveness of individual store displays.
We operate from 22 strategically located distribution centers in North America. Our main distribution centers utilize state-of-the-art warehouse management systems (“WMS”)
to ship customer orders within 48 hours while achieving a very high order fill rate. We also supplement our operations with third-party logistics providers to warehouse and ship
customer orders in the certain areas.
Products and Suppliers
Our product strategy concentrates on providing total project solutions using the latest technology for common and unique home improvement projects. Our portfolio provides
retailers the assurance that their shoppers can find the right product at the right price within an 'easy to shop' environment.
We currently manage a worldwide supply chain comprised of a large number of vendors, the largest of which accounted for approximately 4.9% of the Company's annual
purchases and the top five of which accounted for approximately 15.7% of its annual purchases. Our vendor quality control procedures include on-site evaluations and frequent
product testing. Vendors are also evaluated based on delivery performance and the accuracy of their shipments.
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Hardware and Protective Solutions
Hardware and protective solutions segment includes a wide selection of product categories including fasteners; builders hardware; wall hanging; threaded rod and metal shapes;
letters, numbers, and signs ("LNS"); personal protection products; and work gear.
Our fastener business consists of three categories: core fasteners, construction fasteners, and anchors, sold under a variety of brands including Hillman, FasnTite, DeckPlus, and
PowerPro. Core fasteners include nuts, bolts, screws, washers, and specialty items. Construction fasteners include deck, drywall, metal screws, and both hand driven and
collated nails. Anchors include hollow wall and solid wall items such as plastic anchors, toggle bolts, concrete screws, and wedge anchors.
Builder's hardware includes a variety of common household items such as coat hooks, door stops, hinges, gate latches, and decorative hardware. We market the builder's
hardware products under the Hardware Essentials® brand and provide the retailer with innovation in both product and merchandising solutions. The Hardware Essentials®
program utilizes modular packaging, color coding, and integrated merchandising to simplify the shopping experience for consumers. Colorful signs, packaging, and installation
instructions guide the consumer quickly and easily to the correct product location in store while digital content including pictures and videos assist the on-line journey.
Hardware Essentials® provides retailers and consumers decorative upgrade opportunities through contemporary finishes and designs.
The wall hanging category includes traditional picture hanging hardware, primarily marketed under the Ook® and Hillman brands, and the High & Mighty® series of tool-free
wall hangers, decorative hooks and floating shelves that was launched in 2017.
We are the leading supplier of metal shapes and threaded rod in the retail market. The SteelWorks® threaded rod product includes hot and cold rolled rod, both weldable and
plated, as well as a complete offering of All-Thread rod in galvanized steel, stainless steel, and brass. The SteelWorks® program is carried by many top retailers, including
Lowe's and Menard's, and through cooperatives such as Ace Hardware. In addition, we are the primary supplier of metal shapes to many wholesalers throughout the country.
Letters, numbers, and signs (“LNS”) includes product lines that target both the homeowner and commercial user. Product lines within this category include individual and/or
packaged letters, numbers, signs, safety related products (e.g. 911 signs), driveway markers, and a diversity of sign accessories, such as sign frames.
Our expansive glove category covers many uses for DIYer around the house and for the pro at the job site. We sell a full assortment of work gloves under the Firm Grip®, True
Grip®, and Gorilla Grip brands, automotive gloves including Grease Monkey®, gardening gloves including Digz®, as well as cleaning and all-purpose gloves. As a category
leader in work gloves our portfolio is founded on design and consumer driven innovation. Our products can be found at leading retailers across North America.
Our work gear category consists of tool storage, knee pads, clothing, and other accessories sold under variety of brands including AWP®, McGuire Nicholas®, and Firm
Grip®. The portfolio offers a “one stop shop” for leading retailers with an expansive assortment to meet the needs of both the pro and DIYer.
Our safety category includes face masks, safety vests, and sanitizing wipes and sprays sold under a variety of brands including Firm Grip®, AWP®, and Premium Defense®.
With our focus on innovative materials and intuitive design, along with industry trends, this is a growth category for Hardware and Protective Solutions.
Hardware and protective solutions generated approximately $1,024.4 million, $853.0 million and $636.7 million of revenues in the years ended December 26, 2020,
December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
Robotics and Digital Solutions
Our Robotics and Digital Solutions segment consists primarily of software-enabled robotic key duplication and engraving solutions that are tailored to the unique needs of the
consumer. We provide our offerings in retail and other high-traffic locations providing customized licensed and unlicensed key and engraving products targeted to consumers in
the respective locations. Our offerings include self-service robotic engraving and robotic self service key duplication kiosks, as well as store associate assisted key duplication
kiosks together with related software and systems, keys and key accessories sold in proximity to the kiosks. Our services include product and category management,
merchandising services, and access to our proprietary robotic key duplicating and engraving software platforms and equipment.
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We design proprietary software and engineer, design and manufacture our proprietary equipment in our Boulder, Colorado and Tempe, Arizona facilities, which forms the
cornerstone for our key duplication business. Our key duplication system is offered in various retail channels including mass merchants, home centers, automotive parts
retailers, franchise and independent hardware stores, and grocery/drug chains.We believe we provide the most complete key duplication systems in the industry, through our
unique combination of self-service kiosk technology and store associate assisted duplication systems. Our self- service solutions are driven by our MinuteKey technology, while
store associate assisted duplication currently uses the state of the art KeyKrafter equipment and other legacy duplication machines depending on the retail channel to fit that
channel’s specific needs.
In 2018, we completed the acquisition of MinuteKey, the world’s first self-service robotic key duplication machine. The accuracy of robotics technology put to work in an
innovative way makes MinuteKey machines easy to use, convenient, fast and highly reliable. We utilize a propriety network integration software with our MinuteKey kiosks to
maintain high levels of machine up-time and ensure machines have the optimal mix of key types available for duplication. The kiosk is completely self-service and has a 100%
customer satisfaction guarantee. We manufacture and support the Minute Key kiosk out of our Boulder, Colorado and Tempe, Arizona facilities.
The Hillman KeyKrafter® is our most popular, innovative, and effective store associate assisted key duplication kiosk. It provides significant reduction in duplication time
while increasing accuracy and ease of use for unskilled store associates. Additionally, with the KeyKrafter® solution, the capability exists for consumers to securely store and
retrieve digital back-ups of their key without the original through the revolutionary Hillman KeyHero® Technology. Our Precision Laser Key System™ system uses a digital
optical camera, lasers, and proprietary software to scan a customer’s key. The system identifies the key and retrieves the key’s specifications, including the appropriate blank and
cutting pattern, from a comprehensive database. This technology automates nearly every aspect of key duplication and provides the ability for every store associate to cut a key
accurately. In the automotive key space, we offer the SmartBox Automotive Key Programmer which is a tool to quickly and easily pair transponder keys, remotes, and smart
keys.
We retain ownership of the key duplicating equipment and market and sell keys and key accessories. Our proprietary key offering features the universal blank which uses a
“universal” keyway to replace up to five original equipment keys. This innovative system allows a retailer to duplicate 99% of the key market while stocking less than 100
SKUs. We continually refresh the retailer’s key offerings by introducing decorated and licensed keys and accessories. Our key offering features decorative themes of art and
popular licenses such as NFL, Disney, Breast Cancer Awareness, and Marvel to increase personalization, purchase frequency and average transaction value per key. We also
market a successful line of decorative and licensed lanyards and other key accessories.
All of our key duplication systems are supported by a dedicated in store kiosk sales and service team.
In our engraving business, we supply a variety of innovative options of consumer-operated robotic kiosks such as Quick-Tag®, TagWorks®, and FIDO® for engraving
specialty items such as pet identification tags, luggage tags, and other engraved identification tags. We have developed unique engraving systems leveraging state-of- the-art
technologies to provide a customized solution for mass merchant, pet supply retailers, and other high traffic areas such as theme parks, all supported by our in store kiosk field
service technicians. We design, engineer, manufacture, and assemble the engraving kiosks in our Boulder, Colorado and Tempe, Arizona facilities.
Our engraving business focuses on the growing consumer spending trends surrounding personalized and pet identification. Innovation has played a major role in the
development of our engraving business unit. From the original Quick-Tag® consumer-operated Kiosk system to the proprietary laser system of TagWorks®, we continue to lead
the industry with consumer-friendly engraving solutions. As in our key business, we retain ownership of the key engraving equipment and market and sell blank tags.
We have continued to build out our robotics and digital solutions segment with two recent acquisitions. In August 2019, we acquired the assets of Sharp Systems, LLC
(“Resharp”), a California-based innovative developer of robotic automated knife sharpening systems, for a cash payment of $3.0 million and contingent consideration valued at
$18.1 million. The maximum payout for the contingent consideration is $25.0 million plus 1.8% of net knife-sharpening revenues for five years after the $25.0 million is fully
paid. We expect to begin rolling out the knife sharpening systems to customers in early 2021.In February 2020, we acquired the assets of Instafob, LLC (“Instafob”), a
California-based innovative developer of RFID key duplication systems and a cloud based platform, for a cash payment for a cash payment of $800 and a total purchase price of
$2,618, which includes $1,818 in contingent and non-contingent considerations that remain payable to the seller.Contingent consideration is based on 5% of the net sales from
2020 through 2022 plus 1% of net sales from 2023 through 2029. We expect to roll out Instafob systems to customers in 2021.
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Robotics and Digital solutions generated approximately $209.3 million, $236.1 million, and $196.0 million of revenues in the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28,
2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
Canada
Our Canada segment distributes fasteners and related hardware items, threaded rod, keys, key duplicating systems, accessories, and identification items, such as tags and letters,
numbers, and signs to hardware stores, home centers, mass merchants, industrial distributors, automotive aftermarket distributors, and other retail outlets and industrial Original
Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMs”) in Canada. The product lines offered in our Canada segment are consistent with the product offerings detailed in our other segments. The
Canada segment also produces made to order screws and self-locking fasteners for automotive suppliers, OEMs, and industrial distributors.
Our Canada segment generated approximately $134.6 million, $125.3 million and $141.4 million of revenues in the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and
December 29, 2018, respectively.
Markets and Customers
We sell our products to national accounts such as Home Depot, Lowe’s, Menard’s, PETCO, PetSmart, Tractor Supply, and Walmart. Our status as a national supplier of
proprietary products to big box retailers allows us to develop a strong market position and high barriers to entry within our product categories.
We service a wide variety of franchise and independent retail outlets. These individual dealers are typically members of the larger cooperatives, such as Ace Hardware, True
Value, and Do-It-Best. We ship directly to the cooperative's retail locations and also supply many items to the cooperative's central warehouses. These central warehouses
distribute to their members that do not have a requirement for Hillman's in-store service. These arrangements reduce credit risk and logistic expenses for us while also reducing
central warehouse inventory and delivery costs for the cooperatives.
A typical hardware store maintains thousands of different items in inventory, many of which generate small dollar sales but large profits. It is difficult for a retailer to
economically monitor all stock levels and to reorder the products from multiple vendors. This problem is compounded by the necessity of receiving small shipments of
inventory at different times and stocking the goods. The failure to have these small items available will have an adverse effect on store traffic, thereby possibly denying the
retailer the opportunity to sell items that generate higher dollar sales.
We sell our products to a large volume of customers, the top two of which accounted for approximately $671.4 million, or approximately 49%, of our total revenue in 2020. For
the year ended December 26, 2020, Home Depot was the single largest customer, representing approximately $362.9 million of our total revenues. Lowe's was the second
largest at approximately $308.5 million. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue in 2020. In each of the years ended December 26, 2020,
December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, we derived over 10% of our total revenues from Lowe's and Home Depot which operated in each of our operating segments.
Hillman continues to expand its B2B eCommerce platform allowing certain customers to order online through the Company’s website, www.hillmangroup.com. The B2B
eCommerce platform features many of our items available for sale online and over thousands of customers are enrolled with the online ordering platform. We continue to
support direct-to-store and direct-to-consumer fulfillment for consumers who choose to order fasteners directly from retailers' websites.
Sales and Marketing
We believe that our primary competitive advantage is rooted in our ability to provide a greater level of customer service than our competitors. We partner with our customers to
understand the unmet needs of consumers, design creative solutions, and commercialize those solutions bringing them to life in both physical and digital channels through a
tight alignment between the product management, marketing communications, and channel marketing functions. We provide best in class support and customer service at every
touch point for our retail partners, and service is the hallmark of Hillman company-wide. The national accounts field service organization consists of approximately 800
employees and 70 field managers focusing on big box retailers, pet super stores, large national discount chains, and grocery stores. This organization reorders products, details
store shelves, and sets up in-store promotions. Many of our largest customers use electronic data interchange (“EDI”) for processing of orders and invoices.
We employ what we believe to be the largest direct sales force in the industry. The sales force, which consists of approximately 270 employees and is managed by 30 field
managers, focuses on the franchise and independent customers. The depth of the sales and service team enables us to maintain consistent call cycles ensuring that all customers
experience proper stock levels and inventory turns. This team also prepares custom plan-o-grams of displays to fit the needs of any store and establishes
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programs that meet customers' requirements for pricing, invoicing, and other needs. This group also benefits from daily internal support from our inside sales and customer
service teams. On average, each sales representative is responsible for approximately 60 full service accounts that the sales representative calls on approximately every two
weeks. These efforts allow the sales force to sell and support our product lines.
Competition
Our primary competitors in the national accounts marketplace for fasteners are Primesource Building Products, Inc., Midwest Fastener Corporation, Illinois Tool Works Inc.,
Spectrum Brands, and competition from direct import by our customers. Our national competitors for gloves and personal protective equipment include West Chester Protective
Gear, PIP, Iron Clad, and MidWest Quality Gloves, Inc. Competition is primarily based on sourcing and price. We believe our product innovation and and in store
merchandising service create a more compelling and unique experience for both the consumer and our customers. Other competitors are local and regional distributors.
Competitors in the pet tag market are specialty retailers, direct mail order, and retailers with in-store mail order capability. The Quick-Tag®, FIDO®, and TagWorks® systems
have patent protected technology that is a major barrier to entry and helps to preserve this market segment.
The principal competitor for our franchise and independent business is Midwest Fastener in the hardware store marketplace. The hardware outlets that purchase our products
without regularly scheduled sales representative visits may also purchase products from local and regional distributors and cooperatives. We compete primarily on field service,
merchandising, as well as product availability, price, and depth of product line.
Insurance Arrangements
Under our current insurance programs, commercial umbrella coverage is obtained for catastrophic exposure and aggregate losses in excess of expected claims. We retain the
exposure on certain expected losses related to workers' compensation, general liability, and automobile claims. We also retain the exposure on expected losses related to health
benefits of certain employees. We believe that our present insurance is adequate for our businesses. See Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies, of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
Employees
As of December 26, 2020, we had 3,780 full time and part time employees, none of which were covered by a collective bargaining agreement. In our opinion, employee
relations are good.
Backlog
We do not consider the sales backlog to be a significant indicator of future performance due to the short order cycle of our business. Our sales backlog from ongoing operations
was approximately $58.3 million as of December 26, 2020 and approximately $19.2 million as of December 28, 2019. We expect to realize the entire December 26, 2020
backlog during fiscal 2021.
Where You Can Find More Information
We file quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and annual reports on Form 10-K and furnish current reports on Form 8-K and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Commission”). The Commission also maintains an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains quarterly, annual, and current reports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers, like Hillman, that file electronically with the Commission.
In addition, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, annual reports on Form 10-K, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports, are available free of charge on
our website at www.hillmangroup.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with the Commission. We are providing the address to our
website solely for the information of investors. We do not intend the address to be an active link or to incorporate the contents of the website into this report.
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Item 1A - Risk Factors.
You should carefully consider the following risks. However, the risks set forth below are not the only risks that we face, and we face other risks which have not yet been
identified or which are not yet otherwise predictable. If any of the following risks occur or are otherwise realized, our business, financial condition, and results of operations
could be materially adversely affected. You should carefully consider the risks described below and all other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our
Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and schedules thereto.
Risks Relating to Our Business
Supply and demand for our products is influenced by general economic conditions and trends in spending on repair and remodel home projects, new home
construction, and personal protective equipment. Adverse trends in, among other things, the general health of the economy, consumer confidence, interest rates,
repair and remodel home projects, new home construction activity, commercial construction activity, and the use of personal protective equipment could adversely
affect our business.
Demand for our products is impacted by general economic conditions in North American and other international markets including, without limitation, inflation, recession,
instability in financial or credit markets, the level of consumer debt, interest rates, discretionary spending and the ability of our customers to obtain credit. We are particularly
impacted by spending trends in existing home sales, new home construction activity, home repair and remodel activity, commercial construction and demand for personal
protective equipment including masks and cleaning supplies. While we believe consumer preferences have increased spending on the home and personal protective equipment,
the level of spending could decrease in the future. Our customers, suppliers, and other parties with whom we do business are also impacted by the foregoing conditions and
adverse changes may result in financial difficulties leading to restructurings, bankruptcies, liquidations, and other unfavorable events for our customers, suppliers, and other
service providers. Adverse trends in any of the foregoing factors could reduce our sales, adversely impact the mix of our sales or increase our costs which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The COVID-19 pandemic could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In December 2019, a strain of coronavirus, now known as COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since that time, the widespread and sustained
transmission of the virus has reached global pandemic status. In response to the pandemic, many national and international health agencies have recommended, and many
countries and state, provincial and local governments have implemented, various measures, including travel bans and restrictions, limitations on public and private gatherings,
business closures or operating restrictions, social distancing, and shelter-in-place orders.
Given the ongoing and dynamic nature of the COVID-19 virus and the worldwide response related thereto, it is difficult to predict the full impact of the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic on our business. Although the reported cases of COVID-19 have decreased in certain regions of the world, they have continued to increase in others, particularly
following the 2020 holiday season, including the United States and other regions in which we operate, and it is uncertain when the pandemic or its effects will subside.
We could experience future reductions in demand for our products depending on the future course of the pandemic and related actions taken to curb its spread.
The increased demand for imported goods driven by a shift in consumer spending has also stressed the global supply chain from factory production capacity to transportation
availability. The impact of a continued COVID-19 outbreak or sustained measures taken to limit or contain the outbreak could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Our suppliers could fail to deliver product in a timely manner as a result of disruption to the global supply chain due to
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. If such failures occur, we may be unable to provide products when requested by our customers. Our business could be substantially disrupted
if we were required to, or chose to, replace the products from one or more major suppliers with products or services from another source, especially if the replacement became
necessary on short notice. Any such disruption could increase our costs, decrease our operating efficiencies, and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.
Demand for our personal protective products could exceed global supply capacity thereby causing increased costs and limited availability.
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The extent to which the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic impacts us will depend on numerous evolving factors and future developments that we are not able to predict, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the duration of the pandemic, including the ability of governments and health care providers to timely distribute available vaccines and the efficacy of such vaccines;
governmental, business and other actions (which could include limitations on our operations or mandates to provide products or services) taken to limit the reach of the
virus and the impact of the pandemic;
the impact on our supply chain;
the impact on our contracts with customers and suppliers, including potential disputes over whether COVID-19 constitutes a force majeure event;
the impact of the pandemic on worldwide economic activity;
the health of and the effect on our workforce and our ability to meet the staffing needs of our critical functions, particularly if members of our work force are infected
with COVID-19, quarantined as a result of exposure to COVID-19 or unable to work remotely in areas subject to shelter-in-place orders;
the health and effect on our distribution network staff, if we need to close any of our facilities or a critical number of our employees become too ill to work;
any impairment in value of our tangible or intangible assets that could be recorded as a result of a weaker economic conditions; and
the potential effects on our internal controls including those over financial reporting as a result of changes in working environments such as shelter-in-place and similar
orders that are applicable to our team members and business partners, among others.

We operate in a highly competitive industry, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
The retail industry is highly competitive, with the principal methods of competition being product innovation, price, quality of service, quality of products, product availability
and timeliness, credit terms, and the provision of value-added services, such as merchandising design, in-store service, and inventory management. We encounter competition
from a large number of regional and national distributors which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
To compete successfully, we must develop and commercialize a continuing stream of innovative new products that create consumer demand.
Our long-term success in the current competitive environment depends on our ability to develop and commercialize a continuing stream of innovative new products, including
those in our new mass merchant fastener program, which create and maintain consumer demand. We also face the risk that our competitors will introduce innovative new
products that compete with our products. Our strategy includes increased investment in new product development and continued focus on innovation. There are, nevertheless,
numerous uncertainties inherent in successfully developing and commercializing innovative new products on a continuing basis, and new product launches may not provide
expected growth results.
Our business may be adversely affected by seasonality.
In general, we have experienced seasonal fluctuations in sales and operating results from quarter to quarter. Typically, the first calendar quarter is the weakest due to the effect
of weather on home projects and the construction industry. If adverse weather conditions persist on a regional or national basis into the second or other calendar quarters, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
Because our business is working capital intensive, we rely on our ability to manage our product purchasing and customer credit policies.
Our operations are working capital intensive, and our inventories, accounts receivable and accounts payable are significant components of our net asset base. We manage our
inventories and accounts payable through our purchasing policies and our accounts receivable through our customer credit policies. If we fail to adequately manage our product
purchasing or customer credit policies, our working capital and financial condition may be adversely affected.
We are subject to inventory management risks: insufficient inventory may result in increased costs, lost sales and lost customers, while excess inventory may increase
our costs.
We balance the need to maintain inventory levels that are sufficient to maintain superior customer fulfillment levels against the
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risk and financial costs of carrying excess inventory levels. In order to successfully manage our inventories, we must estimate demand from our customers at the product level
and timely purchase products in quantities that substantially correspond to that demand. If we overestimate demand and purchase too much of a particular product, we could
have excess inventory handling costs, distribution center capacity constraints and inventory that we cannot sell profitably. In addition, we may have to write down such
inventory if we are unable to sell it for its recorded value. By contrast, if we underestimate demand and purchase insufficient quantities of a product, and/or do not maintain
enough inventory of a product we may not be able to fulfill customer orders on a timely basis which could result in fines, the loss of sales and ultimately loss of customers for
those products as they turn to our competitors. Our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer a material adverse effect if either or both of these
situations occur frequently or in large volumes.
We have substantial fixed costs and, as a result, our operating income is sensitive to changes in our net sales.
A significant portion of our expenses are fixed costs (including personnel), which do not fluctuate with net sales. Consequently, a percentage decline in our net sales could have
a greater percentage effect on our operating income if we do not act to reduce personnel or take other cost reduction actions. Any decline in our net sales would cause our
profitability to be adversely affected.
Large customer concentration and the inability to penetrate new channels of distribution could adversely affect our business.
Our two largest customers constituted approximately $671.4 million of net sales and $54.7 million of the year-end accounts receivable balance for 2020. Each of these
customers is a big box chain store. Our results of operations depend greatly on our ability to maintain existing relationships and arrangements with these big box chain stores.
To the extent that the big box chain stores are materially adversely impacted by the changing retail landscape, this could have a negative effect on our results of operations.
These two customers have been key components of our growth and failure to maintain fulfillment and service levels or relationships with these customers could result in a
material loss of business. Our inability to penetrate new channels of distribution, including ecommerce, may also have a negative impact on our future sales and business.
Successful sales and marketing efforts depend on our ability to recruit and retain qualified employees.
The success of our efforts to grow our business depends on the contributions and abilities of key executives, our sales force, and other personnel, including the ability of our
sales force to achieve adequate customer coverage. We must therefore continue to recruit, retain, and motivate management, sales, and other personnel to maintain our current
business and to support our projected growth. A shortage of these key employees might jeopardize our ability to implement our growth strategy.
Increases in labor costs, potential labor disputes and work stoppages or an inability to hire skilled distribution, sales and other personnel could adversely affect our
business.
An increase in labor costs, work stoppages or disruptions at our facilities or those of our suppliers or transportation service providers, or other labor disruptions, could decrease
our sales and increase our expenses. In addition, although our employees are not represented by a union, our labor force may become subject to labor union organizing efforts,
which could cause us to incur additional labor costs and increase the related risks that we now face.
A significant increase in the salaries and wages paid by competing employers could result in a reduction of our labor force, increases in the salaries and wages that we must pay
or both. If we are unable to hire warehouse, distribution, sales and other personnel, our ability to execute our business plan and our results of operations would suffer.
We are exposed to adverse changes in currency exchange rates.
Exposure to foreign currency risk exists because we, through our global operations, enter into transactions and make investments denominated in multiple currencies. Our
predominant exposures are in Canadian, Mexican, and Asian currencies, including the Chinese Yuan (“CNY”). In preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements for foreign
operations with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, asset and liability accounts are translated at current exchange rates and income and expenses are translated
using weighted-average exchange rates. With respect to the effects on translated earnings, if the U.S. dollar strengthens relative to local currencies, our earnings could be
negatively impacted. We do not make a practice of hedging our non-U.S. dollar earnings.
We source many products from China and other Asian countries for resale in other regions. To the extent that the CNY or other currencies appreciate with respect to the U.S.
dollar, we may experience cost increases on such purchases. The U.S. dollar
10

decreased in value relative to the CNY by 6.5% in 2020, increased by 1.7% in 2019 and increased by 5.7% in 2018. Significant appreciation of the CNY or other currencies in
countries where we source our products could adversely impact our profitability. In addition, our foreign subsidiaries in Canada and Mexico may purchase certain products
from their vendors denominated in U.S. dollars. If the U.S. dollar strengthens compared to the local currencies, it may result in margin erosion. We have a practice of hedging
some of our Canadian subsidiary's purchases denominated in U.S. dollars. We may not be successful at implementing customer pricing or other actions in an effort to mitigate
the related cost increases and thus our results of operations may be adversely impacted.
Our results of operations could be negatively impacted by inflation or deflation in supply chain costs, including raw materials, sourcing, transportation and energy.
Our products are manufactured of metals, including but not limited to steel, aluminum, zinc, and copper. Additionally, we use other commodity-based materials in the
manufacture of LNS that are resin-based and subject to fluctuations in the price of oil. We source the majority of our products from third parties and are subject to changes in
their underlying manufacturing costs. We also use third parties for transportation and are exposed to fluctuations in freight costs to transport goods from our suppliers to our
distribution facilities and from there to our customers, as well as the price of diesel fuel in the form of freight surcharges on customer shipments and the cost of gasoline used by
the field sales and service force. Inflation in these costs could result in significant cost increases. If we are unable to mitigate the any cost increases from the foregoing factors
through various customer pricing actions and cost reduction initiatives, our financial condition may be adversely affected. Conversely, in the event that there is deflation, we
may experience pressure from our customers to reduce prices. There can be no assurance that we would be able to reduce our cost base (through negotiations with suppliers or
other measures) to offset any such price concessions which could adversely impact our results of operations and cash flows.
We are subject to the risks of doing business internationally.
A portion of our revenue is generated outside the United States, primarily from customers located in Canada, Mexico, Latin America, and the Caribbean. Because we sell our
products and services outside the United States, our business is subject to risks associated with doing business internationally, which include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

changes in a specific country's or region's political and cultural climate or economic condition;
unexpected or unfavorable changes in foreign laws and regulatory requirements;
difficulty of effective enforcement of contractual provisions in local jurisdictions;
inadequate intellectual property protection in foreign countries;
the imposition of duties and tariffs and other trade barriers;
trade-protection measures, import or export licensing requirements such as Export Administration Regulations promulgated by the U.S. Department of Commerce, Economic
Sanctions Laws and Regulations administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, and fines, penalties, or suspension or revocation of export privileges;
violations of the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
the effects of applicable and potentially adverse foreign tax law changes;
significant adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates; and
difficulties associated with repatriating cash in a tax-efficient manner.

Any failure to adapt to these or other changing conditions in foreign countries in which we do business could have an adverse effect on our business and financial results.
Our business is subject to risks associated with sourcing product from overseas.
We import a significant amount of our products and rely on foreign sources to meet our supply demands at prices that support our current operating margins. Substantially all of
our import operations are subject to customs requirements and to tariffs and quotas set by governments through mutual agreements or unilateral actions. The U.S. tariffs on steel
and aluminum and other imported goods have materially increased the costs of many of our foreign sourced products, and any escalation in the tariffs will increase the impact.
In order to sustain current operating margins while the tariffs are in effect, we must be able to increases prices with our customers and find alternative, similarly priced sources
that are not subject to the tariffs. If we are unable to effectively implement these countermeasures, our operating margins will be impacted.
In addition, the countries from which our products and materials are manufactured or imported may, from time to time, impose additional quotas, duties, tariffs, or other
restrictions on their imports or adversely modify existing restrictions. Adverse changes in these import costs and restrictions, or our suppliers' failure to comply with customs
regulations or similar laws, could harm our business.
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If any of our existing vendors fail to meet our needs, we believe that sufficient capacity exists in the open market to supply any shortfall that may result. However, it is not
always possible to replace a vendor on short notice without disruption in our operations which may require more costly expedited transportation expense and replacement of a
major vendor is often at higher prices.
Our ability to import products in a timely and cost-effective manner may also be affected by conditions at ports or issues that otherwise affect transportation and warehousing
providers, such as port and shipping capacity, labor disputes, severe weather, or increased homeland security requirements in the U.S. and other countries. These issues could
delay importation of products or require us to locate alternative ports or warehousing providers to avoid disruption to customers. These alternatives may not be available on
short notice or could result in higher transit costs, which could have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.
Further, our business could be adversely affected by the recent outbreak of COVID-19. This situation may have a material and adverse effect on our business which could
include temporary closures of our facilities, the facilities of our suppliers, and other disruptions caused to us, our suppliers or customers. This may adversely affect our results of
operations, financial position, and cash flows.
Acquisitions have formed a significant part of our growth strategy in the past and may continue to do so. If we are unable to identify suitable acquisition candidates,
successfully integrate an acquired business, or obtain financing needed to complete an acquisition, our growth strategy may not succeed.
Historically, our growth strategy has relied in part on acquisitions that either expand or complement our businesses in new or existing markets. However, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to identify or acquire acceptable acquisition candidates on terms favorable to us and in a timely manner, if at all, to the extent necessary.
The process of integrating acquired businesses into our operations may result in unforeseen difficulties and may require a disproportionate amount of resources and management
attention, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate acquired businesses into our operations. Additionally, we may not achieve the anticipated
benefits from any acquisition.
Unfavorable changes in the current economic environment may make it difficult to acquire businesses in order to further our growth strategy. We will continue to seek
acquisition opportunities both to expand into new markets and to enhance our position in our existing markets. However, our ability to do so will depend on a number of factors,
including our ability to obtain financing that we may need to complete a proposed acquisition opportunity which may be unavailable or available on terms that are not
advantageous to us. If financing is unavailable, we may be forced to forego otherwise attractive acquisition opportunities which may have a negative effect on our ability to
grow.
If we were required to write down all or part of our goodwill or indefinite-lived trade names, our results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
We have $816.2 million of goodwill and $85.6 million of indefinite-lived trade names recorded on our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 26, 2020. We
are required to periodically determine if our goodwill or indefinite-lived trade names have become impaired, in which case we would write down the impaired portion. If we
were required to write down all or part of our goodwill or indefinite-lived trade names, our net income could be materially adversely affected.
Our success is highly dependent on information and technology systems.
We believe that our proprietary computer software programs are an integral part of our business and growth strategies. We depend on our information systems to process orders,
to manage inventory and accounts receivable collections, to purchase, sell, and ship products efficiently and on a timely basis, to maintain cost-effective operations, and to
provide superior service to our customers. If these systems are damaged, intruded upon, shutdown, or cease to function properly (whether by planned upgrades, force majeure,
telecommunications failures, hardware or software break-ins or viruses, other cyber-security incidents, or otherwise), we may suffer disruption in our ability to manage and
operate our business.
There can be no assurance that the precautions which we have taken against certain events that could disrupt the operations of our information systems will prevent the
occurrence of such a disruption. Any such disruption could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential customer, employee, supplier, or Company information, whether through a breach of our computer systems,
including cyber-attacks or otherwise, could severely harm our business.
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As part of our business, we collect, process, and retain sensitive and confidential personal information about our customers, employees, and suppliers. Despite the security
measures we have in place, our facilities and systems, and those of the retailers and other third party distributors with which we do business, may be vulnerable to security
breaches, cyber-attacks, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and/or human errors, or other similar events. Any security breach involving
the misappropriation, loss, or other unauthorized disclosure of confidential customer, employee, supplier, or Company information, whether by us or by the retailers and other
third party distributors with which we do business, could result in losses, severely damage our reputation, expose us to the risks of litigation and liability, disrupt our operations,
and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. The regulatory environment related to information security, data collection,
and privacy is increasingly rigorous, with new and constantly changing requirements applicable to our business, and compliance with those requirements could result in
additional costs.
Failure to adequately protect intellectual property could adversely affect our business.
Intellectual property rights are an important and integral component of our business. We attempt to protect our intellectual property rights through a combination of patent,
trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws, as well as licensing agreements and third-party nondisclosure and assignment agreements.
In the event that our trademarks or patents are successfully challenged and we lose the rights to use those trademarks or patents, or if we fail to prevent others from using them,
we could experience reduced sales or be forced to redesign or rebrand our products, requiring us to devote resources to product development, advertising and marketing new
products and brands. In addition, we cannot be sure that any pending trademark or patent applications will be granted or will not be challenged or opposed by third parties or
that we will be able to enforce our trademark rights against counterfeiters.
Failure to obtain or maintain adequate protection of our intellectual property rights for any reason could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
Our success depends in part on our ability to operate without infringing on or misappropriating the proprietary rights of others, and if we are unable to do so we may
be liable for damages.
We cannot be certain that United States or foreign patents or patent applications of other companies do not exist or will not be issued that would prevent us from
commercializing our products. Third parties may sue us for infringing or misappropriating their patent or other intellectual property rights. Intellectual property litigation is
costly. If we do not prevail in litigation, in addition to any damages we might have to pay, we could be required to cease the infringing activity or obtain a license requiring us to
make royalty payments. It is possible that a required license may not be available to us on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, a required license may be nonexclusive, and therefore our competitors may have access to the same technology licensed to us. If we fail to obtain a required license or are unable to design around another
company’s patent, we may be unable to make use of some of the affected products, which would reduce our revenues.
The defense costs and settlements for patent infringement lawsuits are not covered by insurance. Patent infringement lawsuits can take years to settle. If we are not successful in
our defenses or are not successful in obtaining dismissals of any such lawsuit, legal fees or settlement costs could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and
financial position.
Recent changes in United States patent laws may limit our ability to obtain, defend, and/or enforce our patents.
The United States has recently enacted and implemented wide ranging patent reform legislation. The United States Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent
years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing
uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained.
Depending on actions by the United States Congress, the United States federal courts, and the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the laws and regulations governing
patents could change in unpredictable ways that could weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we have licensed or that we might obtain in the future.
Similarly, changes in patent law and regulations in other countries or jurisdictions, changes in the governmental bodies that enforce them or changes in how the relevant
governmental authority enforces patent laws or regulations may weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we have licensed or that we may obtain in the
future.
Regulations related to conflict minerals could adversely impact our business.
The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act contains provisions to improve transparency and accountability concerning the supply of certain minerals,
known as “conflict minerals”, originating from the Democratic
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Republic of Congo (“DRC”) and adjoining countries. These rules could adversely affect the sourcing, supply, and pricing of materials used in our products, as the number of
suppliers who provide conflict-free minerals may be limited. We may also suffer harm to our image if we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not
determined to be conflict-free or if we are unable to modify our products to avoid the use of such materials. We may also face challenges in satisfying customers who may
require that our products be certified as containing conflict-free minerals.
Future changes in financial accounting standards may significantly change our reported results of operations.
The accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”),
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these
principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported financial results and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of
a change. Additionally, our assumptions, estimates and judgments related to complex accounting matters could significantly affect our financial results. GAAP and related
accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines and interpretations with regard to a wide range of matters that are relevant to our business, including, but not limited to,
revenue recognition, impairment of long-lived assets, leases and related economic transactions, intangibles, self-insurance, income taxes, property and equipment, litigation and
stock-based compensation are highly complex and involve many subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by us. Changes in these rules or their interpretation or
changes in underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments by us (i) could require us to make changes to our accounting systems to implement these changes that could increase
our operating costs and (ii) could significantly change our reported or expected financial performance.
Future tax law changes may materially increase our prospective income tax expense.
We are subject to income taxation in many jurisdictions in the U.S. as well as foreign jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining our worldwide income tax provision
and, accordingly, there are many transactions and computations for which our final income tax determination is uncertain. We are occasionally audited by income tax authorities
in several tax jurisdictions. Although we believe the recorded tax estimates are reasonable, the ultimate outcome from any audit (or related litigation) could be materially
different from amounts reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. Future settlements of income tax audits may have a material effect on earnings between the period
of initial recognition of tax estimates in the financial statements and the point of ultimate tax audit settlement.
Additionally, it is possible that future income tax legislation, regulations or interpretations thereof and/or import tariffs in any jurisdiction to which we are subject to taxation
may be enacted and such changes could have a material impact on our worldwide income tax provision beginning with the period during which such changes become effective.
In addition, our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including:
•
•
•
•
•

changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;
expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances;
tax effects of stock-based compensation;
costs related to intercompany restructurings; and
lower than anticipated future earnings in jurisdictions where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated future earnings in jurisdictions where we have
higher statutory tax rates.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that, if not properly corrected, could materially adversely affect our
operations and result in material misstatements in our financial statements.
As described in “Item 9A. Controls and Procedures,” we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was ineffective as of December 26, 2020 because
material weaknesses existed in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to remediate our material weaknesses in a timely manner, we may be unable to
provide required financial information in a timely and reliable manner and we may incorrectly report financial information. Either of these events could have a material adverse
effect on our operations, investor, supplier and customer confidence in our reported financial information.
We are subject to legal proceedings and legal compliance risks.
We are involved in various legal proceedings, which from time to time may involve lawsuits, state and federal governmental inquiries, audits and investigations, environmental
matters, employment, tort, state false claims act, consumer litigation, and intellectual property litigation. At times, such matters may involve executive officers and other
management. Certain of these
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legal proceedings may be a significant distraction to management and could expose us to significant liability, including settlement expenses, damages, fines, penalties, attorneys'
fees and costs, and non-monetary sanctions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Increases in the cost of employee health benefits could impact our financial results and cash flows.
Our expenses relating to employee health benefits, for which we are primarily self insured, are significant. Healthcare costs have risen significantly in recent years, and recent
legislative and private sector initiatives regarding healthcare reform have resulted and could continue to result in significant changes to the U.S. healthcare system. Unfavorable
changes in the cost of such benefits could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and cash flows.
If we become subject to material liabilities under our self-insured programs, our financial results may be adversely affected.
We provide workers’ compensation, automobile, and product/general liability coverage through a high deductible insurance program. In addition, we are self-insured for our
health benefits and maintain per employee stop-loss coverage. Although we believe that we have adequate stop-loss coverage for catastrophic claims to cap the risk of loss, our
results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected if the number and severity of claims that are not covered by stop-loss insurance increases.
We occupy most of our locations under long-term non-cancelable leases. We may be unable to renew leases on favorable terms or at all. Also, if we close a location, we
may remain obligated under the applicable lease.
Most of our locations are located in leased premises. Many of our current leases are non-cancelable and typically have terms ranging from two to fourteen years, with options to
renew for specified periods of time. We believe that leases we enter into in the future will likely be long-term and noncancelable and have similar renewal options. However,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to renew our current or future leases on favorable terms or at all which could have an adverse effect on our ability to operate our
business and on our results of operations. In addition, if we close a location, we generally remain committed to perform our obligations under the applicable lease, which
include, among other things, payment of the base rent for the balance of the lease term. Our obligation to continue making rental payments in respect of leases for closed
locations could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Risks Relating to Our Indebtedness
We have significant indebtedness that could affect operations and financial condition and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under our indebtedness.
We have a significant amount of indebtedness. On December 26, 2020, total indebtedness was $1,549.8 million, consisting of $108.7 million of indebtedness of Hillman and
$1,441.1 million of indebtedness of Hillman Group.
Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences. For example, it could:
•

make it more difficult for us to satisfy obligations to holders of our indebtedness;

•

increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

•

require the dedication of a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to payments on indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of cash flow to fund working
capital, capital expenditures, research and development efforts, and other general corporate purposes;

•

limit flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

•

place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that have less debt; and

•

limit our ability to borrow additional funds.

In addition, the indenture governing Hillman Group's notes and senior secured credit facilities contain financial and other restrictive covenants that limit our ability to engage in
activities that may be in our long-term best interests. The failure to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in
the acceleration of all outstanding debts.
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Despite current indebtedness levels, we may still be able to incur substantially more debt. This could further exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial
leverage.
We may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. The terms of the indenture do not fully prohibit us from doing so. The senior secured credit facilities
permit additional borrowing of $154.4 million on the revolving credit facility. If new debt is added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify.
We rely on available borrowings under the asset-based revolving credit facility (“ABL Revolver”) for cash to operate our business, and the availability of credit
under the ABL Revolver may be subject to significant fluctuation.
In addition to cash we generate from our business, our principal existing source of cash is borrowings available under the ABL Revolver. Availability will be limited to the
lesser of a borrowing base and $250.0 million. The borrowing base is calculated on a monthly (or more frequent under certain circumstances) valuation of our inventory,
accounts receivable and certain cash balances. As a result, our access to credit under the ABL Revolver is potentially subject to significant fluctuation, depending on the value of
the borrowing base-eligible assets as of any measurement date. The inability to borrow under the ABL Revolver may adversely affect our liquidity, financial position and
results of operations. As of December 26, 2020, the ABL Revolver had an outstanding amount of $72.0 million and outstanding letters of credit of $23.6 million leaving $154.4
million of available borrowings as a source of liquidity.
The failure to meet certain financial covenants required by our credit agreements may materially and adversely affect assets, financial position, and cash flows.
Certain aspects of our credit agreements require the maintenance of a leverage ratio and limit our ability to incur debt, make investments, make dividend payments to holders of
the Trust Preferred Securities, or undertake certain other business activities. In particular, our minimum allowed fixed charge coverage ratio requirement is 1.0x as of
December 26, 2020. A breach of the covenant, or any other covenants, could result in an event of default under the credit agreements. Upon the occurrence of an event of
default under the credit agreements, all amounts outstanding, together with accrued interest, could be declared immediately due and payable by our lenders. If this happens, our
assets may not be sufficient to repay in full the payments due under the credit agreements. The current credit market environment and other macro-economic challenges
affecting the global economy may adversely impact our ability to borrow sufficient funds or sell assets or equity in order to pay existing debt.
We are subject to fluctuations in interest rates.
On May 31, 2018 we entered into a new credit agreement that includes a funded term loan for$530.0 million and a unfunded delayed draw term loan facility ("DDTL") for
$165.0 million (collectively, "2018 Term Loan"). Concurrently, we also entered into a new asset-based revolving credit agreement ("ABL Revolver") for$150.0 million. We
utilized the full $165.0 million DDTL to finance the MinuteKey acquisition on August 10, 2018. OnOctober 1, 2018, we entered into an amendment (the "Amendment") to the
aforementioned 2018 Term Loan agreement which provided an additional $365.0 million of incremental term loan proceeds. On November 15, 2019, the Company entered into
an amendment (the "ABL Amendment") to the aforementioned ABL Revolver agreement which provided an additional $100.0 million of revolving credit, bringing the total
available to $250.0 million.
All of our indebtedness incurred in connection with the 2018 Term Loan and ABL Revolver has variable interest rates. Increases in borrowing rates will increase our cost of
borrowing, which may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, regulatory changes, such as the announcement of the United Kingdom’s
Financial Conduct Authority to phase out the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") by the end of 2021, may adversely affect our floating rate debt and interest rate
derivatives. If LIBOR ceases to exist, we may need to renegotiate any credit agreements or interest rate derivatives agreements extending beyond 2021 that utilize LIBOR as a
factor in determining the interest rate or hedge rate, which could adversely impact our cost of debt.
Restrictions imposed by the indenture governing the 6.375% Senior Notes, and by our Senior Facilities and our other outstanding indebtedness, may limit our ability
to operate our business and to finance our future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities.
The terms of our Senior Facilities and the indenture governing the notes restrict us from engaging in specified types of transactions. These covenants restrict our ability and the
ability of our restricted subsidiaries, among other things, to:
•
•
•

incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;
pay dividends on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase, or retire our capital stock or indebtedness;
make investments, loans, advances, and acquisitions;
16

•
•
•
•
•

pay dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted subsidiaries;
engage in transactions with our affiliates;
sell assets, including capital stock of our subsidiaries;
consolidate or merge; and
create liens.

In addition, the ABL Revolver requires us to maintain inventory and accounts receivable balances to collateralize the underlying loan with a maximum allowable borrowing
limit of $250.0 million. Our ability to comply with this covenant can be affected by events beyond our control, and we may not be able to satisfy them. A breach of this
covenant would be an event of default. In the event of a default under the ABL Revolver, those lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding under the ABL Revolver
to be immediately due and payable or terminate their commitments to lend additional money, which would also lead to a cross-default and cross-acceleration of amounts owing
under the Senior Facilities. If the indebtedness under our Senior Facilities or the notes were to be accelerated, our assets may not be sufficient to repay such indebtedness in full.
In particular, note holders will be paid only if we have assets remaining after we pay amounts due on our secured indebtedness, including our Senior Facilities. We have
pledged a significant portion of our assets as collateral under our Senior Facilities.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness, including the notes, and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations
under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing
economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, and other factors beyond our control. We may not be able to maintain a level of cash flows from
operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness, including the notes. If our cash flows and capital resources are
insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital, or
restructure or refinance our indebtedness. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such
time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business
operations. The terms of existing or future debt instruments may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives. In addition, any failure to make payments of interest and
principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in a reduction of our credit rating, which could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness.
In the absence of such operating results and resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our
debt service and other obligations. In addition, the ability to borrow under our asset-based revolving credit facility is subject to limitations based on advances rates against
certain eligible inventory and accounts receivables that collateralize the underlying loans. Our ability to ability to access the full $250.0 million of revolving credit can be
affected by events beyond our control if the value of our inventory and accounts receivables is materially adversely affected.
Our ability to repay our debt is affected by the cash flow generated by our subsidiaries.
Our subsidiaries own substantially all of our assets and conduct substantially all of our operations. Accordingly, repayment of our indebtedness will be dependent on the
generation of cash flow by our subsidiaries and their ability to make such cash available to us, by dividend, debt repayment, or otherwise. Unless they are guarantors of the
notes, our subsidiaries will not have any obligation to pay amounts due on the notes or to make funds available for that purpose. Our subsidiaries may not be able to, or may not
be permitted to, make distributions to enable us to make payments in respect of our indebtedness. Each subsidiary is a distinct legal entity and, under certain circumstances,
legal and contractual restrictions may limit our ability to obtain cash from our subsidiaries. While the indenture governing the notes limits the ability of our subsidiaries to incur
consensual restrictions on their ability to pay dividends or make other intercompany payments to us, these limitations are subject to certain qualifications and exceptions. In the
event that we do not receive distributions from our subsidiaries, we may be unable to make required principal and interest payments on our indebtedness.
Volatility and weakness in bank and capital markets may adversely affect credit availability and related financing costs for us.
Bank and capital markets can experience periods of volatility and disruption. If the disruption in these markets is prolonged, our ability to refinance, and the related cost of
refinancing, some or all of our debt could be adversely affected. Additionally, during periods of volatile credit markets, there is a risk that lenders, even those with strong
balance sheets and sound lending practices, could fail or refuse to honor their legal commitments and obligations under existing credit commitments. Although we currently can
access the bank and capital markets, there is no assurance that such markets will continue to be a reliable source of financing for us. These factors, including the tightening of
credit markets, could adversely affect our ability to obtain cost-effective financing. Increased volatility and disruptions in the financial markets also could make it more difficult
and more
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expensive for us to refinance outstanding indebtedness and obtain financing. In addition, the adoption of new statutes and regulations, the implementation of recently enacted
laws or new interpretations or the enforcement of older laws and regulations applicable to the financial markets or the financial services industry could result in a reduction in
the amount of available credit or an increase in the cost of credit. Disruptions in the financial markets can also adversely affect our lenders, insurers, customers, and other
counterparties. Any of these results could cause a material adverse effect to our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Item 1B - Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2 – Properties.
As of December 26, 2020, our principal office, manufacturing, and distribution properties were as follows:
Approximate
Square
Footage

Business Segment
Hardware and Protective Solutions & Robotics and Digital Solutions
Cincinnati, Ohio
Dallas, Texas
Forest Park, Ohio
Jacksonville, Florida
Rialto, California
Shafter, California
Tempe, Arizona
Hardware and Protective Solutions
Atlanta, Georgia
Fairfield, Ohio
Guadalajara, Mexico
Guleph, Ontario
Pompano Beach, Florida
Monterrey, Mexico
Rome, Georgia
Shannon, Georgia
Springdale, Ohio
Tyler, Texas (1)

270,000
166,000
385,000
97,000
402,000
168,000
184,000

Office, Distribution
Distribution
Office, Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Office, Mfg., Distribution

14,000
85,000
12,000
25,000
39,000
13,000
14,000
300,000
28,000
202,000

Office
Distribution
Office, Distribution
Distribution
Office, Distribution
Distribution
Office
Distribution
Mfg., Distribution
Office, Mfg., Distribution

Robotics and Digital Solutions
Boulder, Colorado

20,000

Canada
Burnaby, British Columbia
Edmonton, Alberta
Laval, Quebec
Milton, Ontario
Pickering, Ontario
Scarborough, Ontario
Toronto, Ontario
Winnipeg, Manitoba

29,000
100,000
34,000
26,000
110,000
23,000
389,000
42,000
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Description

Office

Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Manufacturing
Distribution
Mfg., Distribution
Office, Distribution
Distribution

(1) The Company leases two facilities in Tyler, Texas. The first is a 139,000 square foot facility located at 2329 E. Commerce Street used for manufacturing and
distribution. The second is a 63,000 square foot facility located at 6357 Reynolds Road used for offices, manufacturing, and distribution.
All of the Company's facilities are leased. In the opinion of the Company's management, the Company's existing facilities are in good condition.
Item 3 – Legal Proceedings.
We are subject to various claims and litigation that arise in the normal course of business. For a description of our material legal proceedings, see Note 15 - Commitments and
Contingencies, to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 4 – Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not Applicable.
PART II
Item 5 – Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Stock Exchange Listing
Our common stock does not trade and is not listed on or quoted in an exchange or other market. The Trust Preferred Securities trade under the ticker symbol "HLM.Pr." on the
NYSE Amex. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices as reported on the NYSE Amex for the Trust Preferred Securities.
2020
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2019
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

High
$

Low
36.27
30.40
30.19
31.28

$

34.18
35.37
36.21
36.88

$

High
$

25.19
25.08
25.03
28.25
Low
30.49
32.16
33.85
33.67

The Trust Preferred Securities have a liquidation value of $25.00 per security. As of March 3, 2021, the total number of Trust Preferred Securities outstanding was 4,217,724.
As of March 3, 2021, our total number of shares of common stock outstanding was 5,000, held by one stockholder.
Distributions
We pay interest to the Hillman Group Capital Trust (the “Trust”) on the junior subordinated debentures underlying the Trust Preferred Securities at the rate of 11.6% per annum
on their face amount of $105.4 million, or $12.2 million per annum in the aggregate. The Trust distributes an equivalent amount to the holders of the Trust Preferred Securities.
For the years ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, we paid $12.3 million and $11.2 million, respectively, per year in interest on the junior subordinated
debentures, which was equivalent to the amounts distributed by the Trust for the same periods. As of December 26, 2020 $1.0 million remained payable on our balance sheet
due to the timing of our year end.
Pursuant to the indenture that governs the Trust Preferred Securities, the Trust is able to defer distribution payments to holders of the Trust Preferred Securities for a period that
cannot exceed 60 months (the “Deferral Period”). During the Deferral Period, we are required to accrue the full amount of all interest payable, and such deferred interest
payments are immediately payable at the end of the Deferral Period. In fiscal 2020, the Company elected to defer interest payments to the holders of the Trust Preferred
Securities during April 2020 through July 2020. See Note 7 - Long-Term Debt for additional details. There were no deferrals of distribution payments to holders of the Trust
Preferred Securities in fiscal 2019.
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The interest payments on the junior subordinated debentures underlying the Trust Preferred Securities are subject to the interest expense limitations arising from the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”) (see Note 6 - Income Taxes for further information) and will remain our obligation until the Trust Preferred Securities are redeemed or upon
their maturity in 2027.
For more information on the Trust and junior subordinated debentures, see “Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
We made no sales of our equity securities during the year ended December 26, 2020.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
We made no repurchases of our equity securities during the year ended December 26, 2020.
Item 6 – Selected Financial Data.
The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 30 2017, December 29, 2018, December 28, 2019, and
December 26, 2020. Net (loss) income and total assets for the years ended December 29, 2018 and December 28, 2019 have been restated due to the correction of errors in the
accounting for income taxes related to the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, which impacted our net deferred tax liabilities. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for
additional details.

(dollars in thousands)
Income Statement Data:
Net sales
Cost of Sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
Income from operations
Net (loss) income
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Long-term debt & finance lease obligations (1) (2)
11.6% Junior Subordinated Debentures
6.375% Senior Notes

Year
Ended
12/28/2019
As Restated

Year
Ended
12/26/2020

Year
Ended
12/29/2018
As Restated

Year
Ended
12/30/2017

Year
Ended
12/31/2016

$

1,368,295
781,815
65,766
(24,499)

$

1,214,362
693,881
7,695
(85,479)

$

974,175
537,885
27,443
(58,681)

$

838,368
455,717
35,504
58,648

$

814,908
438,418
40,809
(14,206)

$

2,468,618
1,111,088
108,704
330,000

$

2,437,983
1,162,928
108,704
330,000

$

2,428,243
1,167,676
108,704
330,000

$

1,799,217
550,685
108,704
330,000

$

1,781,636
536,572
108,704
330,000

(1) Includes current portion of long-term debt (at face value) and finance lease obligations in 2019, and capitalized lease obligations in 2016.
(2) In 2018 we refinanced our term loan, see Note 7 - Long-Term Debt of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on our current debt.
Item 7 – Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion provides information which our management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our operations and financial condition. This
discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and schedules thereto appearing elsewhere
herein. In addition, see “Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Regarding Forward-Looking Information”, as well as “Risk Factors”
in Item 1A of this Annual Report. We have restated our financial statements for 2019 and 2018 due to the correction of errors in the accounting for income taxes related to the
valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, which impacted our net deferred tax liabilities. Accordingly, the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations set forth below reflect the effects of the restatements. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for additional details.
General
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Hillman is one of the largest providers of hardware-related products and related merchandising services to retail markets in North America. Our principal business is operated
through our wholly-owned subsidiary, The Hillman Group, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, “Hillman Group”), which had net sales of approximately
$1,368.3 million in 2020. Hillman Group sells its products to hardware stores, home centers, mass merchants, pet supply stores, and other retail outlets principally in the United
States, Canada, Mexico, Latin America, and the Caribbean. Product lines include thousands of small parts such as fasteners and related hardware items; threaded rod and metal
shapes; keys, key duplication systems, and accessories; builder's hardware; personal protective equipment, such as gloves and eye-wear; and identification items, such as tags
and letters, numbers, and signs. We support product sales with services that include design and installation of merchandising systems, maintenance of appropriate in-store
inventory levels, and break-fix for our robotics kiosks.
Subsequent to our year end, on January 24, 2021, the Company’s parent, HMan Group Holdings, Inc., and Landcadia Holdings III, Inc. ("Landcadia"), a special purpose
acquisition company ("SPAC") entered into an agreement ("Merger Agreement") whereby the Parent would become a wholly owned subsidiary of Landcadia for the
consideration of $911.3 million upon approval of the Landcadia shareholders and will be accounted for as a reverse acquisition resulting in a recapitalization of HMan Group
Holdings. Consideration would be a combination of roll-over equity by current Company shareholders, new share purchases by Landcadia SPAC participants, cash from a new
credit agreement and refinancing of existing credit facilities of the Company. A full description of the proposed acquisition terms may be found in the Landcadia Proxy
Statement dated February 3, 2021 (the “Proxy”) filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), which is available on www.sec.gov.
Current Economic Conditions
Our business is impacted by general economic conditions in the North American and international markets, particularly the U.S. and Canadian retail markets including hardware
stores, home centers, mass merchants, and other retailers.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China, and has since spread to a number of other countries, including
the United States and Canada. In March 2020, the World Health Organization characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic. Efforts to contain the spread of COVID-19 intensified
during our fiscal 2020 second quarter and remained in effect throughout our fiscal year. Most states and municipalities within the U.S. enacted temporary closures of businesses,
issued quarantine orders and took other restrictive measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Within the United States and Canada, our business has been designated an
essential business, which allows us to continue to serve customers that remain open.
While all of our operations are located in North America, we participate in a global supply chain, and the existence of a worldwide pandemic and the reactions of governments
around the world in response to COVID-19 to regulate the flow of labor and products began to impact our business in March 2020. If we need to close any of our facilities or a
critical number of our employees become too ill to work, our distribution network could be materially adversely affected in a rapid manner. Similarly, if our customers
experience adverse business consequences due to COVID-19, demand for our products could also be materially adversely affected in a rapid manner. The Company continues to
experience customer demand during the year ended December 26, 2020 and during the subsequent period. Our teams continue to monitor demand disruption and there can be no
assurance as to the level of demand that will prevail in fiscal 2021. A large portion of our customers continue to operate and sell our products, with some customers reducing
operations or restricting some access to portions of the retail space. The magnitude of the financial impact on our quarterly and annual results is dependent on the duration of the
COVID-19 pandemic and how quickly the U.S. and Canada economies resume normal operations.
An extended period of global supply chain, workforce availability, and economic disruption could materially affect the Company's business, the results of operations, financial
condition, access to sources of liquidity, and the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets. While a triggering event did not occur during the year ended December 26,
2020, a prolonged COVID-19 pandemic could negatively impact net sales growth, change key assumptions and other global and regional macroeconomic factors that could
result in future impairment charges for goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and definite lived intangible assets. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is fluid and
continues to evolve, and therefore, we cannot predict the extent to which our business, results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity will ultimately be impacted.
We are exposed to the risk of unfavorable changes in foreign currency exchange rates for the U.S. dollar versus local currency of our suppliers located primarily in China and
Taiwan. We purchase a significant variety of our products for resale from multiple vendors located in China and Taiwan. The purchase price of these products is routinely
negotiated in U.S. dollar amounts rather than the local currency of the vendors and our suppliers' profit margins decrease when the U.S. dollar declines in value relative to the
local currency. This puts pressure on our suppliers to increase prices to us. The U.S. dollar increased in value relative to the CNY by approximately by 5.7% in 2018, increased
by 1.7% in 2019, and decreased by 6.5% in 2020. The
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U.S. dollar increased in value relative to the Taiwan dollar by approximately 3.3% in 2018, decreased by 0.2% in 2019, and decreased by 7.9% in 2020.
In addition, the negotiated purchase price of our products may be dependent upon market fluctuations in the cost of raw materials such as steel, zinc, and nickel used by our
vendors in their manufacturing processes. The final purchase cost of our products may also be dependent upon inflation or deflation in the local economies of vendors in China
and Taiwan that could impact the cost of labor used in the manufacturing of our products. We identify the directional impact of changes in our product cost, but the
quantification of each of these variable impacts cannot be measured as to the individual impact on our product cost with a sufficient level of precision.
We are also exposed to risk of unfavorable changes in Canadian dollar exchange rate versus the U.S. dollar. Our sales in Canada are denominated in Canadian dollars while a
majority of the products are sourced in U.S. dollars. A weakening of the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar results in lower sales in terms of U.S. dollars while the cost of
sales remains unchanged. We have a practice of hedging some of our Canadian subsidiary's purchases denominated in U.S. dollars. The U.S. dollar increased in value relative to
the Canadian dollar by approximately 8.7% in 2018, decreased by 4.1% in 2019, and decreased by 1.9% in 2020. We may take pricing action, when warranted, in an attempt to
offset a portion of product cost increases. The ability of our operating divisions to institute price increases and seek price concessions, as appropriate, is dependent on
competitive market conditions.
We import large quantities of products which are subject to customs requirements and to tariffs and quotas set by governments through mutual agreements and bilateral actions.
The recently implemented U.S. tariffs on steel and aluminum and other imported goods has increased our product costs and required us to increase prices on the affected
products.
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Product Revenues
The following is revenue based on products for our significant product categories and operating segments:
Hardware and Protective
Solutions
Year Ended December 26, 2020
Fastening and hardware
Personal protective
Keys and key accessories
Engraving
Resharp
Consolidated
Year Ended December 28, 2019
Fastening and hardware
Personal protective
Keys and key accessories
Engraving
Resharp
Consolidated
Year Ended December 29, 2018
Fastening and hardware
Personal protective
Keys and key accessories
Engraving
Resharp
Consolidated

$

$

$

$

$

$

Robotics and Digital
Solutions

706,865
317,527
—
—
—
1,024,392

$

607,247
245,769
—
—
—
853,016

$

581,269
55,448
—
—
—
636,717

$

$

$

$
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Canada

—
—
157,828
51,423
36
209,287

$

—
—
185,451
50,613
22
236,086

$

—
—
143,898
52,145
—
196,043

$

$

$

$

Total Revenue
131,493
239
2,878
6
—
134,616

$

121,242
—
4,009
9
—
125,260

$

137,186
—
4,217
12
—
141,415

$

$

$

$

838,358
317,766
160,706
51,429
36
1,368,295

728,489
245,769
189,460
50,622
22
1,214,362

718,455
55,448
148,115
52,157
—
974,175

Results of Operations
The following table shows the results of operations for the years ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019. The income tax benefit and net loss for 2019 has been
rested due to the correction of errors related to income tax accounting. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for additional details.
Year Ended
December 26, 2020
(dollars in thousands)
Net sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below)
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation
Amortization
Management fees to related party
Other (income) expense, net
Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Mark-to-market adjustment of interest rate swap
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net loss
Adjusted EBITDA (1)

Year Ended
December 28, 2019
As Restated
% of
Amount
Net Sales
1,214,362
100.0 %

$

Amount
1,368,295

% of
Net Sales
100.0 % $

$

781,815
398,472
67,423
59,492
577
(5,250)
65,766
99,103
601
(33,938)
(9,439)
(24,499)

57.1 %
29.1 %
4.9 %
4.3 %
—%
(0.4)%
4.8 %
7.2 %
—%
(2.5)%
(0.7)%
(1.8)% $

693,881
382,131
65,658
58,910
562
5,525
7,695
113,843
2,608
(108,756)
(23,277)
(85,479)

57.1 %
31.5 %
5.4 %
4.9 %
—%
0.5 %
0.6 %
9.4 %
0.2 %
(9.0)%
(1.9)%
(7.0)%

$

221,215

16.2 % $

178,658

14.7 %

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for additional information, including our definition and our
use of Adjusted EBITDA, and for a reconciliation from net income to Adjusted EBITDA.
Year Ended December 26, 2020 vs December 28, 2019
Net Sales
Net sales for the year ended December 26, 2020 were $1,368.3 million, or $5.4 million per shipping day, compared to net sales of $1,214.4 million, or $4.8 million per shipping
day for the year ended December 28, 2019, an increase of approximately $153.9 million. Sales of personal protective equipment increased by $71.8 million due to high demand
for gloves and face masks. Fastening and hardware sales increased $99.6 million driven by strong sales with big box retailers and traditional hardware stores. Finally, sales in
Canada increased by $9.4 million primarily due to strong retail demand for our products partially offset by in store shopping restrictions during the second quarter which lead to
lower demand during that period. These increases were offset by a decrease of $27.6 million in key sales in the United States. Key sales were negatively impacted by restricted
access to key duplicating kiosks and retail key duplication services as a result of COVID-19. As the economy has started to reopen, our service team has worked closely with
our customers to restore access to key machines.
Cost of Sales
Our cost of sales ("COS") is exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense. COS was $781.8 million, or 57.1% of net sales, for the year ended December 26, 2020, an
increase of $87.9 million compared to $693.9 million, or 57.1% of net sales, for the year ended December 28, 2019. Cost of goods sold as a percentage of net sales was
consistent with the prior year primarily as a result of the following offsetting factors:
• Sourcing savings initiatives that we achieved in 2020.
• 2020 included a higher mix of construction fastener products and personal protective solutions.
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Expenses
Selling, general, and administrative ("SG&A") expenses were $398.5 million in the year ended December 26, 2020, an increase of $16.3 million compared to $382.1 million in
the year ended December 28, 2019. The following changes in underlying trends impacted the change in SG&A expenses:
•

Selling expense was $149.6 million in the year ended December 26, 2020, a decrease of $7.2 million compared to $156.8 million for the year ended December 28, 2019. The
decrease in selling expense was primarily due to lower marketing and travel and entertainment expense in the year ended December 26, 2020. Additionally, we had lower
compensation cost as a result of the restructuring in our U.S. operations that began in the fourth quarter of 2019.

•

Warehouse and delivery expenses were $159.0 million for the year ended December 26, 2020, an increase of $16.7 million compared to warehouse and delivery expenses of
$142.3 million for the year ended December 28, 2019. The additional expense was primarily due to higher variable compensation and freight expenses related to increased
sales. The remaining increase was due to increased labor driven by premium pay offered to warehouse workers during the COVID-19 outbreak along with additional supplies
and personal protective equipment for our facilities.

•

General and administrative (“G&A”) expenses were $89.8 million in the year ended December 26, 2020, an increase of $6.8 million compared to $83.0 million in the year
ended December 28, 2019. The increase was primarily due to increased legal fees associated with our ongoing litigation with KeyMe (see Note 15 - Commitments and
Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). Additionally, we incurred increased incentive compensation expense in the year
ended December 26, 2020.

Depreciation expense was $67.4 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 compared to $65.7 million in the year ended December 28, 2019. The increase was primarily
driven by our investment in key duplication machines and merchandising racks.
Amortization expense of $59.5 million in the year ended December 26, 2020, which was comparable to $58.9 million in the year ended December 28, 2019.
Other income of $5.3 million for the year ended December 26, 2020 increased $10.8 million compared to expense of $5.5 million in the year ended December 28, 2019. In the
year ended December 26, 2020 other income consisted primarily of a $3.5 million gain on the revaluation of the contingent consideration associated with the acquisition of
Resharp and Instafob, (see Note 13 - Fair Value Measurements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). Additionally we received $1.8
million in cash from the Canadian government as part of the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy program for relief during the second quarter shutdown in Canada during the
COVID-19 pandemic. These gains were partially offset by exchange rate losses of $0.7 million. In the year ended December 28, 2019, other expense consisted of an impairment
charge of $7.0 million related to the loss on the disposal of our FastKey self-service key duplicating kiosks. This loss was offset by a gain on the sale of machinery and
equipment of $0.4 million (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information), and exchange rate gains of $0.7 million.
Interest expense, net, of $99.1 million for the year ended December 26, 2020 decreased $14.7 million, compared to $113.8 million for the year ended December 28, 2019. This
decrease was primarily due to lower interest rates combined with lower outstanding debt balances in the year ended December 26, 2020.
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Results of Operations
The following table shows the results of operations for the years ended December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018. the income tax benefit and net loss for 2019 and 2019 has
been rested due to the correction of errors related to income tax accounting. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for additional details.

(dollars in thousands)
Net sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately
below)
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation
Amortization
Management fees to related party
Other (income) expense, net
Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Refinancing charges
Mark-to-market adjustment of interest rate swap
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net loss

$

Adjusted EBITDA (1)

Year Ended
Year Ended
December 28, 2019
December 29, 2018
As Restated
As Restated
% of
% of
Amount
Total
Amount
Total
1,214,362
100.0 % $
974,175
100.0 %

$

693,881
382,131
65,658
58,910
562
5,525
7,695
113,843
—
2,608
(108,756)
(23,277)
(85,479)

57.1 %
31.5 %
5.4 %
4.9 %
—%
0.5 %
0.6 %
9.4 %
—%
0.2 %
(9.0)%
(1.9)%
(7.0)% $

537,885
320,543
46,060
44,572
546
(2,874)
27,443
82,775
11,632
607
(67,571)
(8,890)
(58,681)

55.2 %
32.9 %
4.7 %
4.6 %
0.1 %
(0.3)%
2.8 %
8.5 %
1.2 %
0.1 %
(6.9)%
(0.9)%
(6.0)%

$

178,658

14.7 % $

139,756

14.3 %

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for additional information, including our definition and our
use of Adjusted EBITDA, and for a reconciliation from net income to Adjusted EBITDA.
Year Ended December 28, 2019 vs Year Ended December 29, 2018
Net Sales
Net sales for the year ended December 28, 2019 were $1,214.4 million, or $4.8 million per shipping day, compared to net sales of $974.2 million, or $3.9 million per shipping
day, for the year ended December 29, 2018. The increase was primarily driven by the acquisitions of MinuteKey in the third quarter of 2018 and Big Time in the fourth quarter
of 2018. The acquisitions increased revenue $227.6 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 as compared to the year ended December 29, 2018. Construction fastener
products and builders hardware sales increased $19.2 million and $6.4 million, respectively, due to new product line roll outs with customers. Additionally, sales decreased $7.8
million due to the closure of a manufacturing facility in Canada and exiting the related product lines (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information).
Cost of Sales
Our cost of sales was $693.9 million, or 57.1% of net sales, for the year ended December 28, 2019, an increase of $156.0 million compared to $537.9 million, or 55.2% of net
sales, for the year ended December 29, 2018. The increase of 1.9% in cost of sales, expressed as a percent of net sales, in 2019 compared to 2018 was primarily due to the
following items:
•
•

Fiscal 2019 included a higher mix of personal protective equipment.
In the year ended December 28, 2019, we had inventory valuation adjustments in our Hardware and Protective Solutions segment of $5.7 million primarily related to
strategic review of our product offerings and restructuring activities (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information).
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•
•
•
•

Net sales was reduced by $7.2 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 for payments made to customers associated with the new product line roll outs for
construction fastener products and builders hardware.
We recorded a reduction of $3.8 million in cost of sales recorded in 2018 due to an adjustment of our accrual for anti-dumping duties based on the final results of the
Department of Commerce’s administrative review of nails from China (see Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information).
The remaining increase was driven by higher product cost due to tariffs.
These increases were partially offset by lower inventory valuation adjustments in our Canada segment of $5.5 million driven by charges taken in 2018 related to exiting
certain lines of business and rationalizing stock keeping units (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).

Expenses
Selling, general, and administrative ("SG&A") expenses were $382.1 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 an increase of $61.6 million compared to $320.5 million in
the year ended December 29, 2018. The following changes in underlying trends impacted the change in SG&A expenses:
•

Selling expense was $156.8 million in the year ended December 28, 2019, an increase of $22.8 million compared to $134.0 million for the year ended December 29,
2018. The acquisition of MinuteKey in the third quarter of 2018 and Big Time in the fourth quarter of 2018 added $24.9 million in selling expense for the year ended
December 28, 2019 as compared to 2018. These increases were offset by a decrease of $3.3 million for the cost of updating customer store labels for a new pricing program in
2018.

•

Warehouse and delivery expenses were $142.3 million for the year ended December 28, 2019, an increase of $17.3 million compared to warehouse and delivery expenses of
$124.9 million for the year ended December 29, 2018. The acquisition of MinuteKey in the third quarter of 2018 and Big Time in the fourth quarter of 2018 added $7.5
million in warehouse expense for the year ended December 28, 2019. We incurred $4.6 million of higher expense for increases in labor, benefits, freight, and equipment costs.
We also incurred additional warehouse expense of $3.8 million in 2019 related to restructuring activities in our Canada segment (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).

•

G&A expenses were $83.0 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 an increase of $21.4 million compared to $61.6 million in the year ended December 29, 2018. The
increase was primarily due to the acquisitions of Big Time and MinuteKey, which added $10.1 million an G&A expense in the current year. We also incurred $5.4 million of
additional expense for retention and long term incentive compensation plans introduced in the fourth quarter of 2018. Additionally, we incurred severance and related charges
of $3.9 million related to corporate restructuring activities (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). Finally,
we incurred $1.6 million of higher compensation and benefits expense in 2019. These increases were partially offset by lower acquisition related charges in the year ended
December 28, 2019.

Depreciation expense was $65.7 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 compared to $46.1 million in the year ended December 29, 2018. The increase was primarily due
to the acquisitions of Big Time and MinuteKey, which added $9.2 million in depreciation expense in 2019. The remaining increase was driven by our investment in key
duplicating machines and merchandising racks.
Amortization expense was $58.9 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 compared to $44.6 million in the year ended December 29, 2018. The increase was primarily due
to the acquisitions of Big Time and MinuteKey, which added $14.3 million an amortization expense in 2019.
Other expense was $5.5 million for the year ended December 28, 2019, an increase of $8.4 million compared to a loss of $2.9 million in the year ended December 29, 2018. In
the year ended December 28, 2019, other expense consisted of an impairment charge of $7.0 million related to the loss on the disposal of our FastKey self-service key
duplicating kiosks. These losses were offset by a gain on the sale of machinery and equipment of $0.4 million (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information), and exchange rate gains of $0.7 million. Other expense of $2.9 million for the year ended December 29, 2018 consisted of a
$5.3 million net gain on the sale and disposal of property, plant, and equipment associated with the restructuring of the Canada segment (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). The gain was partially offset by $2.0 million of exchange rate losses.
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Interest expense, net, was $113.8 million for the year ended December 28, 2019, an increase of $31.1 million, compared to $82.8 million for the year ended December 29, 2018.
During 2018 we refinanced our term loan and revolver, increasing the outstanding term loan by approximately $527.5 million. In connection with the refinancing, we incurred
$11.6 million in refinancing charges. The increase in the term loan and additional draws on our revolving credit facility during the year led to increased interest expense.
See Note 7 - Long-Term Debt of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
Results of Operations – Operating Segments
The following table provides supplemental information of our sales and profitability by operating segment (in thousands):
Hardware and Protective Solutions
Year Ended
December 26, 2020

Year Ended
December 28, 2019

Year Ended
December 29, 2018

Hardware and Protective Solutions
Segment Revenues
Segment Income from Operations
Adjusted EBITDA (1)

$
$
$

1,024,392
67,313
153,765

$
$
$

853,016
14,204
101,319

$
$
$

636,717
18,555
76,896

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for additional information, including our definition and our
use of Adjusted EBITDA, and for a reconciliation from net income to Adjusted EBITDA.
Year Ended December 26, 2020 vs December 28, 2019
Net Sales
Hardware and Protective Solutions net sales for the year ended December 26, 2020 increased by $171.4 million from the prior year. The primary drivers of this increase were:
•
•

Fastening and hardware sales increased $99.6 million due to strong demand from big box retailers and traditional hardware stores along with price increases initiated in
the second quarter of 2019 to offset the impact of tariffs.
Sales of personal protective equipment increased by $71.8 million due to high demand.

Income from Operations
Income from operations of our Hardware and Protective Solutions operating segment increased by approximately $53.1 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 to $67.3
million from $14.2 million in the year ended December 28, 2019. The increased sales noted above were partially offset by increased cost of sales and increased selling, general
and administrative expenses as outlined below:
Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 60.8% in the year ended December 26, 2020, a decrease of 1.2 % from 62.0% in the year ended December 28, 2019. The decrease
in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was primarily driven $7.2 million for payments made to customers in the year ended December 28, 2019 associated with the new
product line roll outs for construction fastener products and builders hardware combined with sourcing savings. This was partially offset by a higher mix of construction fastener
products and personal protective solutions.
Operating expenses increased $25.1million in our Hardware and Protective Solutions segment primarily due to:
• Warehouse expense increased $17.7 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 compared to the year ended December 28, 2019. The additional expense was primarily
due to increased labor driven by premium pay offered to warehouse workers during the COVID-19 pandemic along with additional supplies and personal protective
equipment for our facilities. The remaining increase was primarily due to higher variable and incentive compensation expense related to increased sales.
• General and administrative (“G&A”) expenses increased $2.9 million in the year ended December 26, 2020. The increase was primarily due to increased incentive
compensation in the year ended December 26, 2020.
• Depreciation expense increased $2.3 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 due to our merchandising racks.
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Year Ended December 28, 2019 vs December 29, 2018
Net Sales
Net sales for our Hardware and Protective Solutions operating segment increased by $216.3 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 primarily due to:
•
•

The acquisition of Big Time in the fourth quarter of 2018 increased revenue $190.3 million in the year ended December 28, 2019
Fastening and hardware sales increased $26.0 million primarily due to new product line rollouts with customers

Income from Operations
Income from operations of our Hardware and Protective Solutions segment decreased by approximately $4.4 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 to $14.2 million as
compared to $18.6 million in the year ended December 29, 2018. The increased sales noted above were offset by increased cost of sales and increased selling, general and
administrative expenses as outlined below:
Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 62.0% in the year ended December 28, 2019, an increase of 5.3% from 56.7% in the year ended December 29, 2018. The primary
drivers of this increase were:
• Fiscal 2018 included a higher mix of personal protective equipment.
• Inventory valuation adjustments were $5.7 million in the current year primarily related to restructuring activities (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).
• Net sales was reduced by $7.2 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 for payments made to customers associated with the new product line roll outs for
construction fastener products and builders hardware.
• We recorded a reduction of $3.8 million in cost of sales recorded in 2018 due to an adjustment of our accrual for anti-dumping duties based on the final results of the
Department of Commerce’s administrative review of nails from China (see Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information).
Operating expenses increased $52.3 million in our Fastening, Hardware, and Personal Protective Solutions segment primarily due to:
• The acquisition of Big Time in the fourth quarter of 2018 increased SG&A $22.0 million and amortization expense of $10.6 million in the year ended December 28,
2019.
• Warehouse costs, excluding the acquisition of Big Time, increased $6.8 million primarily driven by increased labor, benefits, freight and maintenance costs.
• We incurred $4.4 million of additional expense for retention and long term incentive compensation plans introduced in the fourth quarter of 2018.
• Additionally, we incurred severance and related charges of $3.2 million related to corporate restructuring activities (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).

Robotics and Digital Solutions
Year Ended
December 26, 2020

Year Ended
December 28, 2019

Year Ended
December 29, 2018

Robotics and Digital Solutions
Segment Revenues
Segment Income from Operations
Adjusted EBITDA (1)

$
$
$

209,287
3,177
60,265

$
$
$

236,086
3,385
70,966

$
$
$

196,043
17,705
57,369

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for additional information, including our definition and our
use of Adjusted EBITDA, and for a reconciliation from net income to Adjusted EBITDA.
Year Ended December 26, 2020 vs December 28, 2019
Net Sales
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Net sales for our Robotics and Digital Solutions operating segment decreased $26.8 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 compared to the net sales for 2019 primarily
due to a decrease of $27.6 million in key sales. Key sales were negatively impacted by reduced retail foot traffic and restricted access to key duplicating kiosks along with retail
key duplication services as a result of COVID-19. As the economy has started to reopen, our service team has worked closely with our customers to restore access to key
duplicating kiosks.
Income from Operations
Income from operations of our Robotics and Digital Solutions operating segment decreased by approximately $0.2 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 to $3.2
million from $3.4 million in the year ended December 28, 2019. The decreased sales were offset by decreased SG&A and other income as outlined below:
•
•
•
•

Selling expense decreased $6.7 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 compared to the year ended December 28, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to lower
sales commissions for kiosk sales and reduced travel and compensation expense.
Warehouse expense decreased $1.8 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 compared to the year ended December 28, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to
lower freight and shipping expenses driven by lower sales volume.
General and administrative expense increased by $4.1 million primarily due to increased legal fees associated with our ongoing litigation with KeyMe, Inc. (see Note 15
- Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).
Other income increased by $10.4 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 compared to the year ended December 28, 2019. Other income was $3.5 million in the
year ended December 26, 2020 and was driven by revaluation of the contingent consideration associated with the acquisition of Resharp and Instafob (see Note 13 - Fair
Value Measurements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). In the year ended December 26, 2020 other expense was comprised
primarily of an impairment charge of $7.7 million related to the loss on the disposal of our FastKey self-service key duplicating kiosks and related assets.

Year Ended December 28, 2019 vs December 29, 2018
Net Sales
Net sales for our Robotics and Digital Solutions operating segment increased $40.0 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily due to:
•
•

The acquisition of Minute Key in the third quarter of 2018 increased revenue $37.3 million in the year ended December 28, 2019.
Automotive key sales increased $4.2 million in the year ended December 28, 2019.

Income from Operations
Income from operations of our Robotics and Digital Solutions operating segment decreased $14.3 million the year ended December 28, 2019 to $3.4 million as compared
to $17.7 million in the year ended December 29, 2018. The increases in net sales were offset by increased operating expenses as outlined below:
•
•
•
•
•

The acquisition of MinuteKey added $20.5 million in SG&A expenses, $8.5 million in depreciation and $3.7 million in amortization expense in the year ended December
28, 2019.
We incurred $7.7 million of impairment charges in 2019 related to the loss on the disposal of our FastKey self-service key duplicating kiosks.
Depreciation expense, excluding MinuteKey, increased $4.4 million driven by our continued investment in key duplicating machines.
We incurred $1.5 million in legal fees related to the ongoing litigation with KeyMe, Inc. (see Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information).
We incurred $1.0 million of additional expense for retention and long term incentive compensation plans introduced in the fourth quarter of 2018.
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Canada
Year Ended
December 26, 2020

Year Ended
December 28, 2019

Year Ended
December 29, 2018

Canada
Segment Revenues
Segment Loss from Operations
Adjusted EBITDA (1)

$
$
$

134,616
(4,724)
7,185

$
$
$

125,260
(9,894)
6,373

$
$
$

141,415
(8,817)
5,491

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for additional information, including our definition and our
use of Adjusted EBITDA, and for a reconciliation from net income to Adjusted EBITDA.

Year Ended December 26, 2020 vs December 28, 2019
Net Sales
Net sales in our Canada operating segment increased by $9.4 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 primarily due to strong retail demand for our products partially offset
by in store shopping restrictions in the second quarter which lead to lower demand during that period
Loss from Operations
Loss from operations of our Canada segment decreased by $5.2 million in the year ended December 26, 2020 to a loss of $4.7 million as compared to a loss of $9.9 million in
the year ended December 28, 2019. In addition to the increased sales, loss from operations increased due to the following items:
•
•

COS as a percentage of net sales decreased 1.5% from 69.1% in the year ended December 28, 2019 to 67.6% in the year ended December 26, 2020 primarily due to $4.3
million of inventory valuation adjustments taken in 2019 in our Canada segment driven by exiting certain lines of business and rationalizing stock keeping units
(see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).
Other income and expense increased $0.7 million to income of $1.8 million in the current year compared with income of $1.1 million in the year ended December 28,
2019. Other income for the year ended December 26, 2020 consisted primarily of $1.8 million in cash received from the Canadian government as a part of the Canada
Emergency Wage Subsidy program for relief during the second quarter shutdown in Canada during the COVID-19 outbreak. This was partially offset by exchange rate
losses of $0.6 million. Other income for the year ended December 28, 2019 included a gain on the sale of machinery and equipment of $0.4 million (see Note 14 Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information), and exchange rate gains of $0.7 million.

Year Ended December 28, 2019 vs December 29, 2018
Net Sales
Net sales for our Canada operating segment decreased by $16.2 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 primarily due to:
•
•

The unfavorable impact of conversion of the local currency to U.S. dollars.
The closure of a manufacturing facility in Canada and exiting the related product lines resulted in to $7.8 million in lower sales.

Loss from Operations
Income from operations of our Canada segment decreased by $1.1 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 to a loss of $9.9 million as compared to a loss of $8.8
million in the year ended December 29, 2018. The decrease in sales was offset by lower COS as percentage of sales. Additionally, we incurred higher other expense in the year
ended December 28, 2019.

•

COS as a percentage of net sales decreased 5.3% from 74.4% in the year ended December 29, 2018 to 69.1% in the year ended December 28, 2019 primarily due to $9.8
million of inventory valuation adjustments taken in 2018 in our Canada segment driven by exiting certain lines of business and rationalizing stock keeping units as
compared to
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•

inventory adjustments of $4.3 million in the year ended December 28, 2019 (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information).
Other income and expense decreased $2.4 million to income of $1.1 million in the current year compared with income of $3.5 million in the year ended December 29,
2018. Other income for the year ended December 28, 2019 included a gain on the sale of machinery and equipment of $0.4 million (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information), and exchange rate gains of $0.7 million. Other income for the year ended December 29, 2018
consisted of a $5.3 million net gain on the sale and disposal of property, plant, and equipment associated with the restructuring of the Canada segment, (see Note 14 Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). The gain in the year ended December 29, 2018 was offset by $1.8 million
exchange rate losses of exchange rate losses.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure and is the primary basis used to measure the operational strength and performance of our businesses as well as to assist in
the evaluation of underlying trends in our businesses. This measure eliminates the significant level of noncash depreciation and amortization expense that results from the
capital-intensive nature of our businesses and from intangible assets recognized in business combinations. It is also unaffected by our capital and tax structures, as our
management excludes these results when evaluating our operating performance. Our management and Board of Directors use this financial measure to evaluate our
consolidated operating performance and the operating performance of our operating segments and to allocate resources and capital to our operating segments. Additionally, we
believe that Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors because it is one of the bases for comparing our operating performance with that of other companies in our industries,
although our measure of Adjusted EBITDA may not be directly comparable to similar measures used by other companies.
We have restated our financial statements for 2019 and 2018 due to the correction of errors in the accounting for income taxes related to the valuation allowance against
deferred tax assets, which impacted our net deferred tax liabilities. Accordingly, the EBITDA reconciliation below has been restated. There was no impact to EBITDA or
Adjusted EBITDA in either 2019 or 2018. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for additional details.The following table presents a reconciliation of Net loss, the most directly
comparable financial measures under GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented:
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Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Net loss
Income tax (benefit) expense
Interest expense, net
Interest expense on junior subordinated debentures
Investment income on trust common securities
Depreciation
Amortization
Mark-to-market adjustment on interest rate swaps
EBITDA

$

$

(24,499) $
(9,439)
86,774
12,707
(378)
67,423
59,492
601
192,681 $

$

5,125
577
3,894
4,902
7,719
9,832
(3,515)
—
—
—
—
221,215 $

Stock compensation expense
Management fees
Facility exits (1)
Restructuring (2)
Litigation expense (3)
Acquisition and integration expense (4)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Buy-back expense (5)
Asset impairment charges (6)
Refinancing costs
Anti-dumping duties
Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended
December 28, 2019
As Restated
(85,479) $
(23,277)
101,613
12,608
(378)
65,658
58,910
2,608
132,263 $
2,981
562
—
13,749
1,463
12,557
—
7,196
7,887
—
—
178,658

$

Year Ended
December 29, 2018
As Restated
(58,681)
(8,890)
70,545
12,608
(378)
46,060
44,572
607
106,443
1,590
546
1,279
9,737
—
12,358
—
—
—
11,632
(3,829)
139,756

(1) Facility exits include costs associated with the closure of facilities in Parma, Ohio, San Antonio, Texas, and Dallas, Texas.
(2) Restructuring includes restructuring costs associated with restructuring in our Canada segment announced in 2018, including facility consolidation, stock keeping unit
rationalization, severance, sale of property and equipment, and charges relating to exiting certain lines of business. Also included is restructuring in our United Stated
business announced in 2019, including severance related to management realignment and the integration of sales and operating functions. See Note 14 - Restructuring of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. Finally, includes consulting and other costs associated with streamlining our
manufacturing and distribution operations.
(3) Litigation expense includes legal fees associated with our ongoing litigation with KeyMe, Inc. (see Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).
(4) Acquisition and integration expense includes professional fees, non-recurring bonuses, and other costs related to historical acquisitions.
(5) Buy-back expense includes one-time payments made to customers associated with the new product line roll outs for construction fastener products and builders
hardware.
(6) Asset impairment charges includes impairment losses for the disposal of FastKey self-service key duplicating kiosks and related assets.
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The following tables presents a reconciliation of segment operating income, the most directly comparable financial measures under GAAP, to segment Adjusted EBITDA for
the periods presented (amounts in millions):

Year Ended December 26, 2020
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization

Hardware and
Protective Solutions
$
67,313
69,164

Stock compensation expense
Management fees
Facility exits
Restructuring
Litigation expense
Acquisition and integration expense
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Corporate and intersegment adjustments

4,464
502
3,894
74
—
8,284
—
70
153,765

Adjusted EBITDA

$

Year Ended December 28, 2019
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization

Hardware and
Protective Solutions
$
14,204
65,369

Stock compensation expense
Management fees
Restructuring
Litigation expense
Acquisition and integration expense
Buy-back expense
Asset impairment charges
Corporate and intersegment adjustments
Adjusted EBITDA

$

Robotics and Digital
Solutions
$
3,177
50,670

$
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(4,724) $
7,081

661
75
—
—
7,719
1,548
(3,515)
(70)
60,265 $

Robotics and Digital
Solutions
$
3,385
52,924

2,436
562
3,163
—
8,837
7,196
—
(448)
101,319 $

Canada
$

545
—
708
1,463
3,720
—
7,773
448
70,966

—
—
—
4,828
—
—
—
—
7,185

$

5,125
577
3,894
4,902
7,719
9,832
(3,515)
—
221,215

(9,894) $
6,275

Consolidated
7,695
124,568

Canada
$

$

Consolidated
65,766
126,915

—
—
9,878
—
—
—
114
—
6,373

$

2,981
562
13,749
1,463
12,557
7,196
7,887
—
178,658

Year Ended December 29, 2018
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization

Hardware and
Protective Solutions
$
18,555
50,163

Stock compensation expense
Management fees
Facility exits
Restructuring
Acquisition and integration expense
Anti-dumping duties
Corporate and intersegment adjustments
Adjusted EBITDA

$

Robotics and Digital
Solutions
$
17,705
35,898

1,302
546
1,279
—
7,126
(3,829)
1,754
76,896 $

Canada
$

288
—
—
—
5,232
—
(1,754)
57,369 $

(8,817) $
4,571
—
—
—
9,737
—
—
—
5,491

$

Consolidated
27,443
90,632
1,590
546
1,279
9,737
12,358
(3,829)
—
139,756

Income Taxes
Effective tax rates for the years ended December 29, 2018 and December 28, 2019 have been restated due to the correction of errors in the accounting for income taxes related
to the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, which impacted our net deferred tax liabilities. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for additional details.
Year Ended December 26, 2020 vs December 28, 2019
In the year ended December 26, 2020, we recorded an income tax benefit of $9.4 million on a pre-tax loss of $33.9 million. The effective income tax rate was 27.8% for the
year ended December 26, 2020. In the year ended December 28, 2019, we recorded income tax benefit of $23.3 million on a pre-tax loss of $108.8 million. The effective
income tax rate was 21.4% for the year ended December 28, 2019.
On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into law by the President of the United States. The CARES Act included, among other things, corporate income tax relief in
the form of accelerated alternative minimum tax ("AMT") refunds, allowed employers to defer certain payroll tax payments throughout 2020, and provided favorable corporate
interest deductions for the 2019 and 2020 periods. During 2020, the Company received an accelerated AMT income tax refund of $1.1 million and was able to defer $7.1
million of payroll taxes. The CARES Act interest modification provisions allowed for increased interest deductions. The Company was able to deduct an additional $32.0
million in interest on its 2019 income tax return when compared to the 2019 income tax provision. For the fiscal year 2020, the Company's increased interest deduction will
result in the utilization of accumulated interest limitation carryforwards.
In 2020, the Company's effective tax rate differed from the federal statutory tax rate primarily due to state and foreign income taxes. In 2019, the Company's effective tax rate
differed from the federal statutory tax rate primarily due to state and foreign income taxes. The Company recorded $1.0 million in income tax expense attributable to state
NOLs that are expected to expire prior to their utilization.
Year Ended December 28, 2019 vs December 29, 2018
In the year ended December 28, 2019, we recorded an income tax benefit of $23.3 million on a pre-tax loss of $108.8 million. The effective income tax rate was 21.4% for the
year ended December 28, 2019. In the year ended December 29, 2018, we recorded income tax benefit of $8.9 million on a pre-tax loss of $67.6 million. The effective income
tax rate was 13.2% for the year ended December 29, 2018.
In 2019, the Company's effective tax rate differed from the federal statutory tax rate primarily due to state and foreign income taxes. The Company recorded $1.0 million in
income tax expense attributable to state NOLs that are expected to expire prior to their utilization.
The effective income tax rate differed from the federal statutory tax rate in the year ended December 29, 2018 primarily due to a valuation allowance of $6.1 million for certain
U.S. federal net operating losses that are subject to the dual consolidated loss
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limitation rules. Additionally, the Company recorded $2.2 million in income tax expense for certain non-deductible acquisition costs attributable to the MinuteKey and Big
Time acquisitions. The remaining differences between the effective income tax rate and the federal statutory rate in the year ended December 29, 2018 were attributable to state
and foreign income taxes.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows
The statements of cash flows reflect the changes in cash and cash equivalents for the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018 by
classifying transactions into three major categories: operating, investing, and financing activities.
Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 26, 2020 was approximately $92.1 million. Operating cash flows for the year ended December 26, 2020
were favorably impacted by the increased net income in the current year. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 28, 2019 was approximately
$52.4 million and was unfavorably impacted by lower net income driven by increased interest expense, partially offset by improvements in working capital. Net cash provided
by operating activities for the year ended December 29, 2018 was approximately $7.5 million and was unfavorably impacted by lower net income driven by increased interest
expense and acquisition related costs along with an increase in inventory due to commodity inflation and new business wins. This was partially offset by an increase in accounts
payable due to changes in payment terms and increased inventory purchases and a decrease in accounts receivable.
Investing Activities
Net cash used for investing activities was $46.1 million, $53.5 million, and $572.6 million for the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018,
respectively. In the year ending December 26, 2020 we acquired Instafob for approximately $0.8 million. In the year ended December 28, 2019 we acquired Resharp and West
Coast Washers for approximately $6.1 million. In the year ended December 29, 2018 we acquired MinuteKey and Big Time and made a final working capital true up payment
for ST Fastening Systems which equated a total net cash outflow of approximately $501.0 million. Finally, cash was used in all periods to invest in our investment in new key
duplicating kiosks and machines and merchandising racks. In 2019, we also received $10.4 million in cash proceeds from the sale of a building and machinery in Canada and a
building in Georgia.
Financing Activities
Net cash used for financing activities was $45.1 million for the year ended December 26, 2020. The borrowings on revolving credit loans provided $99.0 million. The Company
used $140.0 million of cash for the repayment of revolving credit loans and $10.6 million for principal payments on the senior term loans. In the year ended December 26, 2020
the Company received $7.3 million on the exercise of stock options.
Net cash used for financing activities was $7.1 million for the year ended December 28, 2019. The borrowings on revolving credit loans provided $43.5 million. The Company
used $38.7 million of cash for the repayment of revolving credit loans and $10.6 million for principal payments on the senior term loans. On November 15, 2019, we amended
the ABL Revolver agreement which provided an additional $100.0 million of revolving credit, bringing the total available to $250.0 million. In connection with the amendment
we paid $1.4 million in fees.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $581.9 million for the year ended December 29, 2018. On May 31, we entered into a new term credit agreement consisting of a
new funded term loan of $530.0 million and $165.0 million delayed draw term loan facility. Concurrently, we entered into a new $150.0 million asset-based revolving credit
agreement. The proceeds were used to refinance in full all outstanding revolving credit and term loans under the existing credit agreement. In the third quarter of 2018, we
drew $165.0 million on the delayed draw facility of the term loan to finance the MinuteKey acquisition. In the fourth quarter, we amended the credit agreement and added an
additional $365.0 million in incremental term loans to finance the acquisition of Big Time. We paid approximately $20.5 million in fees associated with the refinancing
activities in the year ended December 29, 2018. See Note 7 - Long-Term Debt of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the refinancing.
Our revolver draws, net, were a source of cash of $88.7 million in the year ended December 29, 2018. Additionally, in the year ended December 29, 2018 we paid a dividend
of $3.8 million to Holdco for the purchase of shares of Holdco stock from former members of management.
Liquidity
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We believe that projected cash flows from operations and Revolver availability will be sufficient to fund working capital and capital expenditure needs for the next 12 months.
Our working capital (current assets minus current liabilities) position of $241.8 million as of December 26, 2020 represents an increase of $10.0 million from the December 28,
2019 level of $231.8 million. Because COVID-19 pandemic has not, as of the date of this report, had a materially negative impact on our operations or demand for our
products, it has not had a materially negative impact on the Company's liquidity position. We have initiated mitigating efforts to manage non-critical capital spending, assess
operating spend, and preserve cash. We expect to generate sufficient operating cash flows to meet our short-term liquidity needs, and we expect to maintain access to the capital
markets, although there can be no assurance of our ability to do so. However, the continued spread of COVID-19 has led to disruption and volatility in the global capital
markets, which, depending on future developments, could impact our capital resources and liquidity in the future.
Contractual Obligations
Our contractual obligations as of December 26, 2020 are summarized below:

(dollars in thousands)
Junior Subordinated Debentures (1)
Interest on Jr Subordinated Debentures
Long Term Senior Term Loans
Bank Revolving Credit Facility
6.375% Senior Notes
KeyWorks License Agreement
Interest payments (2)
Operating Leases
Deferred Compensation Obligations
Finance Lease Obligations
Other Obligations
Uncertain Tax Position Liabilities
Total Contractual Cash Obligations (3)

$

$

Total
108,704
82,562
1,037,044
72,000
330,000
72
218,053
108,169
1,911
2,252
7,578
1,101
1,969,446

Less Than
One Year
$

$

—
12,231
10,609
—
—
72
64,970
18,259
595
993
2,793
1,101
111,623

$

$

Payments Due
1 to 3
3 to 5
Years
Years
— $
—
24,463
24,463
21,218
1,005,217
—
72,000
330,000
—
—
—
97,001
56,082
29,575
24,993
—
—
1,129
130
4,509
276
—
—
507,895 $
1,183,161

More Than
Five Years
$
108,704
21,405
—
—
—
—
—
35,342
1,316
—
—
—
$
166,767

(1) The Junior Subordinated Debentures liquidation value is approximately $108,704.
(2) Interest payments for borrowings under the Senior Facilities, the 6.375% Senior Notes, and Revolver borrowings. Interest payments on the variable rate Senior Term
Loans were calculated using the actual interest rate of 4.15% as of December 26, 2020. Interest payments on the 6.375% Senior Notes were calculated at their fixed rate.
Interest payments on the variable rate Revolver borrowings were calculated using the actual interest rate of 1.65% as of December 26, 2020.
(3) All of the contractual obligations noted above are reflected on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 26, 2020 except for the interest payments.
Contingent consideration related to the acquisitions of Resharp and Instafob of $14,197 is not included in the chart above due to uncertainty about timing of the payments.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Related Party Transactions
The Company has recorded aggregate management fee charges and expenses from the Oak Hill Funds and CCMP of approximately $0.6 million for each of the years ended
December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, and $0.5 million for the year ended December 29, 2018.
We recorded proceeds from the sale of Holdco stock to members of management and the Board of Directors of $0.8 million for the year ended December 28, 2019. No such
sales were recorded in the years ended December 26, 2020 or December 29, 2018.
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In the year ended December 29, 2018, the Company paid a dividend of approximately $3.8 million to Holdco for the purchase of 4,200 shares of Holdco stock from former
members of management. No such dividends were paid in fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2019.
Gregory Mann and Gabrielle Mann are employed by the Company. The Company leases an industrial warehouse and office facility from companies under the control of the
Manns. We have recorded rental expense for the lease of this facility on an arm's length basis. Our rental expense for the lease of this facility was $0.4 million for each of the
years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018.
Douglas J. Cahill was hired effective July 29, 2019 as our Executive Chairman, Senior Executive Officer. He was promoted to President and Chief Executive Officer on
September 16, 2019. Mr. Cahill is also a former Managing Director of CCMP Capital Advisors, LP ("CCMP"). CCMP’s private equity fund CCMP Capital Investors III, L.P.
(“CCMP III”), together with its related fund vehicles, owns approximately 79.1% of Holdco's outstanding common stock as of December 26, 2020. Mr. Cahill has retained a
carried interest in CCMP III and the fair value of this carried interest, which is based on the overall performance of CCMP III, is contingent on several factors. As of
December 26, 2020, the fair value of the carried interest is not estimable in accordance with ASC 405 - Contingencies.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. As disclosed in
that note, the preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Future events cannot be predicted with certainty and, therefore, actual results could differ from those estimates.
The following section describes our critical accounting policies.
Revenue Recognition:
Revenue is recognized when control of goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for
those goods or services. Sales and other taxes we collect concurrent with revenue-producing activities are excluded from revenue.
We offer a variety of sales incentives to our customers primarily in the form of discounts, rebates, and slotting fees. Discounts are recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements at the date of the related sale. Rebates are based on the revenue to date and the contractual rebate percentage to be paid. A portion of the cost of the rebate is
allocated to each underlying sales transaction. Discounts, rebates, and slotting fees are included in the determination of net sales.
We also establish reserves for customer returns and allowances. The reserve is established based on historical rates of returns and allowances. The reserve is adjusted quarterly
based on actual experience. Returns and allowances are included in the determination of net sales.
Our performance obligations under its arrangements with customers are providing products, in-store merchandising services, and access to key duplicating and engraving
equipment. Generally, the price of the merchandising services and the access to the key duplicating and engraving equipment is included in the price of the related products.
Control of products is transferred at the point in time when the customer accepts the goods, which occurs upon delivery of the products. Judgment is required in determining the
time at which to recognize revenue for the in-store services and the access to key duplicating and engraving equipment. Revenue is recognized for in-store service and access to
key duplicating and engraving equipment as the related products are delivered, which approximates a time-based recognition pattern. Therefore, the entire amount of
consideration related to the sale of products, in-store merchandising services, and access to key duplicating and engraving equipment is recognized upon the delivery of the
products.
The costs to obtain a contract are insignificant, and generally contract terms do not extend beyond one year. Therefore, these costs are expensed as incurred. Freight and
shipping costs and the cost of our in-store merchandising services teams are recognized in selling, general, and administrative expense when control over products is transferred
to the customer.
We used the practical expedient regarding the existence of a significant financing component as payments are due in less than one year after delivery of the products.
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See Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information on disaggregated revenue by product category.
Inventory Realization:
Inventories consisting predominantly of finished goods are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, cost being determined principally on the standard cost method.
The historical usage rate is the primary factor used in assessing the net realizable value of excess and obsolete inventory. A reduction in the carrying value of an inventory item
from cost to net realizable value is recorded for inventory with excess on-hand quantities as determined based on historic and projected sales, product category, and stage in the
product life cycle. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the estimates or assumptions we use to calculate our excess and
obsolete inventory reserve. However, if our estimates regarding excess and obsolete inventory are inaccurate, we may be exposed to losses or gains that could be material. A
5% difference in actual excess and obsolete inventory reserved for at December 26, 2020, would have affected net earnings by approximately $1.1 million in fiscal 2020.
Goodwill:
We have adopted ASU 2017-04, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment which eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill
impairment test and instead requires an entity to perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying
amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we determine that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying value, then we would recognize an
impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit.
Our annual impairment assessment is performed for the reporting units as of October 1. In 2020, 2019, and 2018, with the assistance of an independent third-party specialist,
management assessed the value of our reporting units based on a discounted cash flow model and multiple of earnings. Assumptions critical to our fair value estimates under the
discounted cash flow model include the discount rate and projected revenue growth. The results of the quantitative assessments in 2020, 2019, and 2018 indicated that the fair
value of each reporting unit was in excess of its carrying value. In our annual review of goodwill for impairment in the fourth quarter of 2020, the fair value of each reporting
unit exceeded its carrying value by over 6% of its carrying value.
Intangible Assets:
We evaluate our indefinite-lived intangible assets (primarily trademarks and trade names) for impairment annually or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that
it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is below its carrying amount. With the assistance of an independent third-party specialist,
management assessed the fair value of our indefinite-lived intangible assets based on a relief from royalties, excess earnings, and lost profits discounted cash flow model.
Assumptions critical to our fair value estimates under the discounted cash flow model include the discount rate, projected average revenue growth and projected long-term
growth rates in the determination of terminal values. An impairment charge is recorded if the carrying amount of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds the estimated fair
value on the measurement date. No impairment charges related to indefinite-lived intangible assets were recorded in 2020, 2019, or 2018 as a result of the quantitative annual
impairment test.
Income Taxes:
Deferred income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for temporary differences between the
financial reporting basis and income tax basis of assets and liabilities, based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the temporary
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided for tax benefits where it is more likely than not that certain tax benefits will not be realized. Adjustments
to valuation allowances are recorded for changes in utilization of the tax related item. For additional information, see Note 6 - Income Taxes, of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
In accordance with guidance regarding the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, we recognize a tax position if, based solely on its technical merits, it is more likely than
not to be sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authority.
If a tax position does not meet the more likely than not recognition threshold, we do not recognize the benefit of that position in our financial statements. A tax position that
meets the more likely than not recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to be recognized in the financial statements.
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Business Combinations:
As we enter into business combinations, we perform acquisition accounting requirements including the following:
•
•
•
•

Identifying the acquirer
Determining the acquisition date
Recognizing and measuring the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, and
Recognizing and measuring goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase

We complete valuation procedures and record the resulting fair value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities based upon the valuation of the business enterprise and the
tangible and intangible assets acquired. Enterprise value allocation methodology requires management to make assumptions and apply judgment to estimate the fair value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If estimates or assumptions used to complete the enterprise valuation and estimates of the fair value of the acquired assets and assumed
liabilities significantly differed from assumptions made, the resulting difference could materially affect the fair value of net assets.
The calculation of the fair value of the tangible assets, including property, plant and equipment, utilizes the cost approach, which computes the cost to replace the asset, less
accrued depreciation resulting from physical deterioration, functional obsolescence and external obsolescence. The calculation of the fair value of the identified intangible assets
are determined using cash flow models following the income approach or a discounted market-based methodology approach. Significant inputs include estimated revenue
growth rates, gross margins, operating expenses, and estimated attrition, royalty and discount rates. Goodwill is recorded as the difference in the fair value of the acquired assets
and assumed liabilities and the purchase price. Each period, we estimate the fair value of liabilities for contingent consideration by applying a Monte Carlo analysis examining
the frequency and mean value of the resulting payments. The resulting value captures the risk associated with the form of the payout structure. The risk neutral method is
applied, resulting in a value that captures the risk associated with the form of the payout structure and the projection risk. The assumptions utilized in the calculation based on
financial performance milestones include projected revenue and/or EBITDA amounts, volatility and discount rates. For potential payments related to product development
milestones, we estimated the fair value based on the probability of achievement of such milestones. Any changes in fair value are recorded as other income (expense) in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements:
Recently issued accounting standards are described in Note 3 - Recent Accounting Pronouncements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 7A – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Interest Rate Exposure
We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes as borrowings under the Senior Facilities bear interest at variable interest rates. It is our policy to enter into interest rate
swap and interest rate cap transactions only to the extent considered necessary to meet our objectives.
Based on our exposure to variable rate borrowings at December 26, 2020, after consideration of our LIBOR floor rate and interest rate swap agreements, a one percent
(1%) change in the weighted average interest rate for a period of one year would change the annual interest expense by approximately $9.6 million.
Foreign Currency Exchange
We are exposed to foreign exchange rate changes of the Canadian and Mexican currencies as it impacts the $157.8 million tangible and intangible net asset value of our
Canadian and Mexican subsidiaries as of December 26, 2020. The foreign subsidiaries net tangible assets were $93.9 million and the net intangible assets were $63.8 million as
of December 26, 2020.
We utilize foreign exchange forward contracts to manage the exposure to currency fluctuations in the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. Dollar. See Note 12 - Derivatives and
Hedging, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and that receipts and
expenditures of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of The
Hillman Companies, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, as appropriate; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of the assets of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial
statements.
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 26, 2020, the end of our fiscal year. Management based its assessment on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management's assessment included evaluation of such elements as the design and
operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies, and our overall control environment. This assessment is supported by
testing and monitoring performed under the direction of management.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluations of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate. Accordingly, even an effective system of internal control over financial reporting will provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement
preparation.
A material weakness, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2, is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
While preparing our 2020 consolidated financial statements, the Company identified errors in the accounting for income taxes during 2018 and 2019. During 2018, the
Company became subject to additional provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“2017 Tax Act”) including computations related to the IRC §163(j) interest limitation
(Interest Limitation). The Company incorrectly established valuation allowances against the portion of interest expense that was not currently deductible. In addition, the
Company incorrectly established a valuation allowance on certain U.S. state NOLs. Upon further review of the guidance, the Company determined that the valuation allowance
should not have been established.
As part of our annual assessment of internal control over financial reporting, we have determined that a material weakness existed in the Company's internal control over
financial reporting as of December 26, 2020. A material weakness existed in that we did not design and maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of the
accounting for, and disclosure of, the valuation allowance against deferred income taxes. The material weakness resulted in material errors in the application of certain
provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“2017 Tax Act”) related to the IRC §163(j) interest limitation (Interest Limitation). This material weakness resulted in material
errors in our income tax benefit and deferred tax liabilities that were corrected through the restatement of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended
December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018 as described in Note 1 - Basis of Presentation of the notes to the consolidated financial statements and the correction of unaudited
quarterly financial information for fiscal years 2020 and 2019. Additionally, this material weakness could result in misstatements to the aforementioned account balances or
disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.
As a result of the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described above, management has concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 26, 2020.
Management's Plan for Remediation of the Material Weakness
In response to the material weakness described above, management implemented changes to its internal control over financial reporting to remediate the control deficiencies
that gave rise to the material weakness. Those changes included the engagement of third party consultants to assist with technical tax accounting research and application of
guidance, the addition of a
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committee to review technical accounting issues and ensure we have the appropriate subject matter experts engaged, and hiring additional personnel in our tax department.
While significant progress has been made to enhance our internal control over financial reporting, we are still in the process of testing these recently implemented processes,
procedures, and controls. Additional time is required to complete the assessment to ensure the sustainability of these procedures. We believe the above actions will be effective
in remediating the material weakness. However, the material weakness cannot be considered remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of
time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively.
The remediation efforts are intended both to address the identified material weakness and to enhance our overall financial control environment. Management is committed to
continuous improvement of the company’s internal control over financial reporting and will continue to diligently review the company’s internal control over financial
reporting.
We reviewed the results of management's assessment with the Audit Committee of The Hillman Companies, Inc. This annual report does not include an attestation report of our
independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by our independent
registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management's report in this annual report.
/s/ DOUGLAS J. CAHILL

/s/ ROBERT O. KRAFT

Douglas J. Cahill
President and Chief Executive Officer
Dated:
March 3, 2021

Robert O. Kraft
Chief Financial Officer
Dated:
March 3, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
The Hillman Companies, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 26, 2020 and December 28,
2019, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, stockholder’s equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended December 26, 2020,
and the related notes and financial statement schedule II – Valuation Accounts (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended December 26, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated its consolidated financial statements as of December 28, 2019, and for the two-year
period ended December 29, 2019 to correct misstatements.
Changes in Accounting Principles
As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases as of December 30, 2018 due to the adoption of
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-12, Leases (Topic 842).
As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for revenue recognition as of December 31, 2017 due to the
adoption of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgment. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which
it relates.
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Valuation of Goodwill
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the goodwill balance as of December 26, 2020 was $816 million. The Company performs goodwill
impairment testing annually as of October 1st and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying value.
With the assistance of a third-party specialist, management assesses the fair value of the reporting units based on a discounted cash flow model and multiples of earnings.
Assumptions critical to fair value estimates under the discounted cash flow model include the discount rates and the projected revenue growth rates.
We identified the assessment of the fair value of two of the Company’s reporting units within its goodwill impairment analysis as a critical audit matter. The estimation of fair
value of the specific reporting units is complex and subject to significant management judgment and estimation uncertainties. Specifically, the discount rate and projected
revenue growth rates used to determine the fair value of these reporting units were challenging to test as they represented subjective determinations of current and future
market and economic conditions that were sensitive to variation. Additionally, the audit effort associated with the discount rate required specialized skills and knowledge.
Changes to those assumptions could have had a significant effect on the Company’s assessment of the fair value of the two reporting units.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design of controls over the Company’s goodwill impairment
process, including controls related to the projected revenue growth rates and discount rate for the two reporting units. We performed sensitivity analyses over the Company’s
discount rates and projected revenue growth rates to assess their impact on the determination that the fair values of the specific reporting units exceeded their carrying values.
We compared the Company’s historical revenue forecasts to actual results to assess the Company’s ability to accurately forecast. We compared forecasted revenue growth
rates used in the valuation model against underlying business strategies and growth plans. We evaluated the reasonableness of the Company’s forecasted revenue growth
rates for these reporting units by comparing the growth assumptions to comparable entities within the industry. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with
specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:
•
•

evaluating the discount rate used by management in the valuation, by comparing it to a range of discount rates developed using existing market information for
comparable entities within the industry
developing an estimate of certain of the Company’s reporting units’ fair value using each reporting unit’s cash flow forecast and discount rate and compared the
results of our estimate of fair value to the Company’s fair value estimate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2010.
Cincinnati, Ohio
March 3, 2021
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THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousands)

December 26, 2020
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,395 ($1,891 - 2019)
Inventories, net
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $236,031 ($179,791 - 2019)
Goodwill
Other intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $ 291,434 ($232,060 - 2019)
Operating lease right of use assets
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

December 28, 2019
As Restated

21,520
121,228
391,679
19,280
553,707
182,674
816,200
825,966
76,820
2,075
11,176
2,468,618

$

201,461
11,481
12,168

$

$

19,973
88,374
323,496
8,828
440,671
205,160
815,850
882,430
81,613
702
11,557
2,437,983

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Current portion of debt and capital lease obligations
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Accrued expenses:
Salaries and wages
Pricing allowances
Income and other taxes
Interest
Other accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

$

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)
Stockholder's Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par, 5,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding at December 26, 2020 and December 28,
2019
Common stock, $0.01 par, 5,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholder's equity
Total liabilities and stockholder's equity
$

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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125,042
11,358
11,459

29,800
6,422
5,986
12,988
31,605
311,911
1,535,508
156,118
68,934
31,560
2,104,031

12,937
6,553
5,248
14,726
21,545
208,868
1,584,289
164,343
73,227
33,287
2,064,014

—

—

—
—
565,824
(171,849)
(29,388)
364,587
2,468,618 $

—
—
553,359
(147,350)
(32,040)
373,969
2,437,983

THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(dollars in thousands)

Year Ended
Year Ended December
Year Ended
December 28, 2019
29, 2018
December 26, 2020
As Restated
As Restated
$
1,368,295 $
1,214,362 $
974,175
781,815
693,881
537,885
398,472
382,131
320,543
67,423
65,658
46,060
59,492
58,910
44,572
577
562
546
(5,250)
5,525
(2,874)
65,766
7,695
27,443
86,774
101,613
70,545
12,707
12,608
12,608
(378)
(378)
(378)
601
2,608
607
—
—
11,632
(33,938)
(108,756)
(67,571)
(9,439)
(23,277)
(8,890)
$
(24,499) $
(85,479) $
(58,681)

Net sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below)
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation
Amortization
Management fees to related party
Other (income) expense
Income from operations
Interest expense, net
Interest expense on junior subordinated debentures
Investment income on trust common securities
Loss on mark-to-market adjustment of interest rate swap
Refinancing costs
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net loss
Net loss from above
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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$

(24,499) $

(85,479) $

(58,681)

$

2,652
2,652
(21,847) $

5,550
5,550
(79,929) $

(11,053)
(11,053)
(69,734)

THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in thousands)

Year Ended
December 28, 2019
As Restated

Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss (gain) on dispositions of property and equipment
Impairment of long lived assets
Deferred income taxes
Deferred financing and original issue discount amortization
Loss on debt restructuring
Stock-based compensation expense
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Other non-cash interest and change in value of interest rate swap
Changes in operating items:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable
Other accrued liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Other investing activities
Net cash used for investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings on senior term loans, net of discount
Repayments of senior term loans
Borrowings of revolving credit loans
Repayments of revolving credit loans
Financing fees
Principal payments under capitalized lease obligations
Dividend to Holdco
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from sale of Holdco stock
Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

$

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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(24,499)

$

(85,479)

Year Ended
December 29, 2018
As Restated
$

(58,681)

126,915
161
210
(9,462)
3,722
—
5,125
(3,515)
601

124,568
(573)
7,887
(23,586)
3,726
—
2,981
—
2,608

90,632
(5,988)
837
(10,566)
2,455
11,632
1,590
—
607

(32,417)
(67,147)
(10,743)
76,031
27,098
92,080

22,863
(3,205)
2,878
(11,975)
9,666
52,359

7,934
(68,978)
(1,496)
41,092
(3,523)
7,547

(800)
(45,274)
—
—
(46,074)

(6,135)
(57,753)
10,400
—
(53,488)

(500,989)
(71,621)
—
—
(572,610)

—
(10,608)
99,000
(140,000)
—
(836)
—
7,340
—
(45,104)
645
1,547
19,973
21,520

—
(10,608)
43,500
(38,700)
(1,412)
(683)
—
100
750
(7,053)
(79)
(8,261)
28,234
19,973

1,050,050
(532,488)
165,550
(76,850)
(20,520)
(235)
(3,780)
200
—
581,927
1,433
18,297
9,937
28,234

$

$

THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY
(dollars in thousands)

Common
Stock
Balance at December 30, 2017

$

Net Loss - As Restated
Stock-based compensation
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Dividend to Holdco
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Change in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance at December 29, 2018 - As Restated

$

Net Loss - As Restated
Stock-based compensation
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from sale of Holdco shares of stock
Change in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance at December 28, 2019 - As Restated

$

Net Loss
Stock-based compensation
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Change in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance at December 26, 2020

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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$

$

$

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
551,518
—
1,590
200
(3,780)
—
—
549,528
—
2,981
100
750
—
553,359
—
5,125
7,340
—
565,824

Retained Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)
$
2,422
(58,681)
—
—
—
(5,612)
—
$
(61,871)
(85,479)
—
—
—
—
$
(147,350)
(24,499)
—
—
—
$
(171,849)

$

$

$

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss)
(26,537)
—
—
—
—
—
(11,053)
(37,590)
—
—
—
—
5,550
(32,040)
—
—
—
2,652
(29,388)

$

$

$

$

Total
Stockholder's
Equity
527,403
(58,681)
1,590
200
(3,780)
(5,612)
(11,053)
450,067
(85,479)
2,981
100
750
5,550
373,969
(24,499)
5,125
7,340
2,652
364,587

THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands)

1. Basis of Presentation:
The accompanying financial statements include the consolidated accounts of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively “Hillman” or the
“Company”). Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "Hillman," "we," "us," "our," or "our Company" refer to The Hillman Companies, Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. The Consolidated Financial Statements included herein have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (U.S. GAAP) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated. References to 2020, 2019, and 2018 are for fiscal years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
We are a wholly-owned subsidiary of HMAN Group Holdings Inc. (“Holdco”). Affiliates of CCMP Capital Advisors, LLC (“CCMP”) own79.1% of Holdco's outstanding
common stock, affiliates of Oak Hill Capital Partners III, L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management Partners III, L.P. and OHCP III HC RO, L.P. (collectively “Oak Hill Funds”) own
16.7% of Holdco's outstanding common stock, and certain current and former members of management own4.2% of Holdco's outstanding common stock.
The Company has a 52-53 week fiscal year ending on the last Saturday in December 2017. In a 52 week fiscal year, each of the Company’s quarterly periods will comprise 13
weeks. The additional week in a 53 week fiscal year is added to the fourth quarter, making such quarter consist of 14 weeks. The Company’s first 53 week fiscal year will occur
in fiscal year 2022.
Nature of Operations:
The Company is comprised of three separate operating business segments: (1) Hardware and Protective Solutions, (2) Robotics and Digital Solutions, and (3) Canada.
In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company implemented a plan to restructure the management and operations of our U.S. business to achieve synergies and cost savings
associated with the recent acquisitions. The restructuring plan includes management realignment, integration of sales and operations functions, and strategic review of our
product offerings (see Note 14 - Restructuring of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details).
Hillman Group provides and, on a limited basis, produces products such as fasteners and related hardware items; threaded rod and metal shapes; keys, key duplication systems,
and accessories; personal protective equipment such as gloves and eye-wear; builder's hardware; and identification items, such as tags and letters, numbers, and signs, to retail
outlets, primarily hardware stores, home centers and mass merchants, pet supply stores, grocery stores, and drug stores. The Canada segment also produces fasteners,
stampings, fittings, and processes threaded parts for automotive suppliers, industrial Original Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMs”), and industrial distributors.
On August 10, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of Minute Key Holdings, Inc. ("MinuteKey"), an innovative leader in self-service key duplicating kiosks for a total
consideration of $156,289. MinuteKey has existing operations in the United States and Canada and is included in Hillman's Robotics and Digital Solutions reportable segment.
See Note 5 - Acquisitions for additional information.
On October 1, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of Big Time Products ("Big Time"), a leading provider of personal protective and work gear products ranging
from work gloves, tool belts and jobsite storage, for total consideration of $348,834. Big Time has existing operations throughout North America and its operating results reside
within the Company's Hardware and Protective Solutions reportable segment. See Note 5 - Acquisitions for additional information.
On August 16, 2019, the Company acquired the assets of Sharp Systems, LLC ("Resharp"), a California-based innovative developer of automated knife sharpening systems, for
a total purchase price of $21,100. Resharp has existing operations in the United States and its operating results reside within the Company's Robotics and Digital reportable
segment. See Note 5 - Acquisitions for additional information.
Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements for Income Tax Accounting Errors
On February 25, 2021, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Audit Committee”) of the Company, after considering the recommendations of management, and
discussing such recommendations with SEC counsel, concluded that our 2019 and 2018 Financial Statements, included in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K as of and for the
fiscal years ended
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December 29, 2018 and December 28, 2019, and our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the quarterly periods ended within those years along
with the three quarters in the thirty-nine weeks ended September 26, 2020, should no longer be relied upon due to misstatements that are described in greater detail below, and
that we would restate such financial statements to make the necessary accounting corrections.
While preparing our 2020 consolidated financial statements, the Company identified errors in the accounting for income taxes during 2018 and 2019. During 2018, the
Company became subject to additional provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“2017 Tax Act”) including computations related to the IRC §163(j) interest limitation
(Interest Limitation). The Company incorrectly established valuation allowances against the portion of interest expense that was not currently deductible in the years ended
December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018 and during the thirty-nine weeks ended September 26, 2020. In addition, the Company incorrectly established a valuation
allowance on certain U.S. state NOLs. Upon further review of income tax accounting guidance, the Company determined the valuation allowance should not have been
established.
The Company evaluated the materiality of these errors both qualitatively and quantitatively in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 99, Materiality and SAB
No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, and determined the effect of these corrections was material to the
consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018.
Accordingly, the Company has restated the 2018 consolidated financial statements and to reduce net loss by $10,960, driven by an increase in deferred tax benefit. Deferred tax
liabilities and goodwill decreased by $14,187 and $3,227, respectively. The Company has also restated the 2019 consolidated financial statements, reducing net loss by $17,907
due to an increase in deferred tax benefit. These adjustments resulted in a cumulative decrease to goodwill of $3,227, a decrease to the deferred tax liabilities of $32,094 and a
corresponding decrease in accumulated deficit and increase in total equity of $28,867 as of December 28, 2019. These errors had no impact on any period prior to 2018, when
the Company became subject to the provisions of the 2017 Tax Act. Impacts to the consolidated statements of cash flow are limited to changes within operating activities as
noted below, and, therefore, there are no impacts on the operating, investing or financing subtotals. Refer to Note 17 - Quarterly Data (unaudited) for the impact of correcting
these previously reported errors on our unaudited quarterly results.
The impacts of these corrections to fiscal years 2018 and 2019 are as follows:
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Income tax (benefit) expense
Net loss
Comprehensive loss

Year Ended December 28, 2019
Year Ended December 29, 2018
Restatement
Restatement
As Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
As Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
$
(5,370) $
(17,907) $
(23,277) $
2,070 $
(10,960) $
(8,890)
(103,386)
17,907
(85,479)
(69,641)
10,960
(58,681)
(97,836)
17,907
(79,929)
(80,694)
10,960
(69,734)

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Goodwill (1)
Total Assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholder's equity
Total liabilities and stockholder's equity

Year Ended December 28, 2019
Year Ended December 29, 2018
Restatement
Restatement
As Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
As Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
$
819,077 $
(3,227) $
815,850 $
803,847 $
(3,227) $
800,620
2,441,210
(3,227)
2,437,983
2,431,470
(3,227)
2,428,243
196,437
(32,094)
164,343
200,696
(14,187)
186,509
2,096,108
(32,094)
2,064,014
1,992,363
(14,187)
1,978,176
(176,217)
28,867
(147,350)
(72,831)
10,960
(61,871)
345,102
28,867
373,969
439,107
10,960
450,067
2,441,210
(3,227)
2,437,983
2,431,470
(3,227)
2,428,243
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(1) The Company incorrectly established a valuation allowance on deferred taxes related to the interest limitations from the MinuteKey and Big Time Products acquisitions
in 2018 during purchase accounting through goodwill. The correction of the error resulted in a reduction of goodwill of $1,160 for MinuteKey and $2,067 for Big Time
Products.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 28, 2019
Restatement
As Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
Cash flows from operating
activities:
Net loss
Deferred income taxes
Net cash provided by operating
activities

Year Ended December 29, 2018
Restatement
As Reported
Adjustments
As Restated

(103,386)
(5,679)

17,907
(17,907)

(85,479)
(23,586)

(69,641)
394

10,960
(10,960)

(58,681)
(10,566)

52,359

—

52,359

7,547

—

7,547

The impacts of the restatement have been reflected throughout the financial statements, including the applicable footnotes, as appropriate.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents consist of commercial paper, U.S. Treasury obligations, and other liquid securities purchased with initial maturities less than 90 days and are stated at
cost which approximates fair value. The Company has foreign bank balances of approximately $9,279 and $9,301 at December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively.
The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances with financial institutions that exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses related
to these balances. Management believes its credit risk is minimal.
Restricted Investments:
The Company's restricted investments are trading securities carried at fair market value which represent assets held in a Rabbi Trust to fund deferred compensation liabilities
owed to the Company's employees. The current portion of the investments is included in other current assets and the long term portion in other assets on the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 9 - Deferred Compensation Plan.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
The Company establishes the allowance for doubtful accounts using the specific identification method and also provides a reserve in the aggregate. The estimates for calculating
the aggregate reserve are based on the financial condition of the customers, the length of time receivables are past due, historical collection experience, current economic trends,
and reasonably supported forecasts. Increases to the allowance for doubtful accounts result in a corresponding expense. The Company writes off individual accounts receivable
when collection becomes improbable. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $2,395 and $1,891 as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively.
In the years ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, the Company entered into agreements to sell, on an ongoing basis and without recourse, certain trade accounts
receivable. The buyer is responsible for servicing the receivables. The sale of the receivables is accounted for in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing. Under that guidance, receivables are considered sold when they are transferred beyond the reach of the Company and its
creditors, the purchaser has the right to pledge or exchange the receivables, and the Company has surrendered control over the transferred receivables. The Company has
received proceeds from the sales of trade accounts receivable of approximately $323,715 and $292,432 for the years ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019,
respectively, and has included the proceeds in net cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Related to the sale of
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accounts receivable, the Company recorded losses of approximately $1,782 and $2,923 for the years ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively.
Inventories:
Inventories consisting predominantly of finished goods are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, cost being determined principally on the standard cost method.
The historical usage rate is the primary factor used in assessing the net realizable value of excess and obsolete inventory. A reduction in the carrying value of an inventory item
from cost to net realizable value is recorded for inventory with excess on-hand quantities as determined based on historic and projected sales, product category, and stage in the
product life cycle.
Property and Equipment:
Property and equipment are carried at cost and include expenditures for new facilities and major renewals. For financial accounting purposes, depreciation is computed on the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally 2 to 15 years. Assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the terms of the related
leases. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. The Company capitalizes certain costs that are directly associated with the development of internally
developed software, representing the historical cost of these assets. Once the software is completed and placed into service, such costs are amortized over the estimated useful
lives. When assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from their respective accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is
reflected in income (loss) from operations.
Property and equipment, net, consists of the following at December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019:
Estimated
Useful Life
(Years)
life of lease
2 - 10
2 - 5
6 - 8

Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Computer equipment and software
Furniture and fixtures
Construction in process
Property and equipment, gross
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

2020

$

2019
11,506
334,643
61,737
5,467
5,352
418,705
236,031
182,674

$

10,982
308,096
60,412
2,749
2,712
384,951
179,791
205,160

Goodwill:
The Company has adopted ASU 2017-04, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which eliminates Step 2 from the
goodwill impairment test and instead requires an entity to perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its
carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying value, then the
Company would recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill
allocated to the reporting unit.
The Company’s annual impairment assessment is performed for its reporting units as of October 1st. With the assistance of an independent third-party specialist, management
assessed the value the of the reporting units based on a discounted cash flow model and multiple of earnings. Assumptions critical to our fair value estimates under the
discounted cash flow model include the discount rate and projected average revenue growth. The results of the quantitative assessment in 2020, 2019, and 2018 indicated that
the fair value of each reporting unit was in excess of its carrying value. Therefore goodwill was not impaired as of our annual testing dates. In our annual review of goodwill for
impairment in the fourth quarter of 2020, the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by over 6% of its carrying value.
No impairment charges were recorded in the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, or December 29, 2018.
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Goodwill for the years ended December 29, 2018 and December 28, 2019 has been restated due to the correction of errors in the accounting for income taxes related to the
valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, which impacted our net deferred tax liabilities. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for additional details.
Goodwill amounts by reportable segment are summarized as follows:

Hardware and Protective Solutions
Robotics and Digital Solutions
Canada
Total

Goodwill at
December 29, 2019
As Restated
$
565,780
220,936
29,134
$
815,850

Goodwill at
Acquisitions
$

—
—
—
—

$

Other (1)

Disposals
$

—
—
—
—

$

$

$

(202)
—
552
350

December 26, 2020
$

$

565,578
220,936
29,686
816,200

(1) The "Other" change to goodwill relates to adjustments resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates for the Canada and Mexico reporting units.
Intangible Assets:
Intangible assets arise primarily from the determination of their respective fair market values at the date of acquisition. With the exception of certain trade names, intangible
assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from 5 to 20 years, representing the period over which the Company expects to receive future economic
benefits from these assets.
Other intangibles, net, as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019 consist of the following:
Estimated
Useful Life
(Years)
13 - 20
Indefinite
5 - 15
7 - 12

Customer relationships
Trademarks - Indefinite
Trademarks - Other
Technology and patents
Intangible assets, gross
Less: Accumulated amortization
Intangible assets, net

December 26, 2020
941,648
85,603
26,400
63,749
1,117,400
291,434
$
825,966
$

December 28, 2019
941,305
85,517
26,700
60,968
1,114,490
232,060
$
882,430
$

Estimated annual amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization at December 26, 2020 for the next five fiscal years is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

$
$
$
$
$

Amortization Expense
59,608
59,608
59,608
59,608
58,858

The Company also evaluates indefinite-lived intangible assets (primarily trademarks and trade names) for impairment annually or more frequently if events and circumstances
indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is below its carrying amount. With the assistance of an independent third-party
specialist, management assessed the fair value of our indefinite-lived intangible assets based on a relief from royalties model. An impairment charge is recorded
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if the carrying amount of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds the estimated fair value on the measurement date.No impairment charges related to indefinite-lived
intangible assets were recorded by the Company in 2020, 2019, or 2018 as a result of the quantitative annual impairment test.
Long-Lived Assets:
Long-lived assets, such as property plant and equipment and definite-lived intangibles assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group to be tested for possible impairment, the Company first compares
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group to its carrying value. If the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable
on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds its' fair value. Fair value is determined through various
valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values, and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary. In the year ended
December 28, 2019, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $7,887 related to the loss on the disposal of our FastKey self-service duplicating kiosks and related assets
in our Robotics and Digital Solutions operating segment. In the fiscal year ended December 29, 2018, the Company recorded impairment charges of $837 related to exiting
certain lines of business in our Canada segment, see Note 14 - Restructuring for more details. All of the aforementioned impairment charges incurred were included within the
respective other income/expense on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). Approximately 95% of the Company’s long-lived assets are held within the
United States.
Income Taxes:
Deferred income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for temporary differences between the
financial reporting basis and income tax basis of assets and liabilities, based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the temporary
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided for tax benefits where management estimates it is more likely than not that certain tax benefits will not be
realized. Adjustments to valuation allowances are recorded for changes in utilization of the tax related item. See Note 6 - Income Taxes for additional information.
In accordance with guidance regarding the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, the Company recognizes a tax position if, based solely on its technical merits, it is more
likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authority. If a tax position does not meet the more likely than not recognition threshold, the Company
does not recognize the benefit of that position in its Consolidated Financial Statements. A tax position that meets the more likely than not recognition threshold is measured to
determine the amount of benefit to be recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Contingent Consideration:
Contingent Consideration relates to the potential payment for an acquisition that is contingent upon the achievement of the acquired business meeting certain product
development milestones and/or certain financial performance milestones. The Company records contingent consideration at fair value at the date of acquisition based on the
consideration expected to be transferred. The estimated fair value of the contingent consideration was determined using a Monte Carlo analysis examining the frequency and
mean value of the resulting payments. The resulting value captures the risk associated with the form of the payout structure. The risk neutral method is applied, resulting in a
value that captures the risk associated with the form of the payout structure and the projection risk. The assumptions utilized in the calculation based on financial performance
milestones include projected revenue and/or EBITDA amounts, volatility and discount rates. For potential payments related to product development milestones, we estimated
the fair value based on the probability of achievement of such milestones. The assumptions utilized in the calculation of the acquisition date fair value include probability of
success and the discount rates. Contingent consideration involves certain assumptions requiring significant judgment and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated
amounts.
Risk Insurance Reserves:
The Company self-insures our product liability, automotive, and workers' compensation liability losses up to $250 per occurrence. General liability losses are self-insured up to
$500 per occurrence. Our policy is to estimate reserves based upon a number of factors, including known claims, estimated incurred but not reported claims, and third-party
actuarial analysis. The
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third-party actuarial analysis is based on historical information along with certain assumptions about future events. These reserves are classified as other current and other longterm liabilities within the balance sheets.
The Company self-insures our group health claims up to an annual stop loss limit of $250 per participant. Historical group insurance loss experience forms the basis for the
recognition of group health insurance reserves.
Retirement Benefits:
Certain employees of the Company are covered under a profit-sharing and retirement savings plan. The plan provides for a matching contribution for eligible employees of50%
of each dollar contributed by the employee up to 6% of the employee's compensation. In addition, the plan provides an annual contribution in amounts authorized by the Board
of Directors, subject to the terms and conditions of the plan.
Hillman Canada sponsors a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan (“DPSP”) and a Group Registered Retirement Savings Plan (“RRSP”) for all qualified, full-time employees, with at
least three months of continuous service. DPSP is an employer-sponsored profit sharing plan registered as a trust with the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”). On a periodic
basis, Hillman Canada shares business profits with employees by contributing to the DPSP on each employee's behalf. Employees do not contribute to the DPSP. There is no
minimum required contribution; however, DPSPs are subject to maximum contribution limits set by the CRA. The DPSP is offered in conjunction with a RRSP. All eligible
employees may contribute an additional voluntary amount of up to eight percent of the employee's gross earnings. Hillman Canada is required to match100% of all employee
contributions up to 2% of the employee's compensation. The assets of the RRSP are held separately from those of Hillman Canada in independently administered funds.
Retirement benefit costs were $3,343, $2,725, and $2,567 in the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
Revenue Recognition:
Revenue is recognized when control of goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in
exchange for those goods or services. Sales and other taxes the Company collects concurrent with revenue-producing activities are excluded from revenue.
The Company offers a variety of sales incentives to its customers primarily in the form of discounts and rebates. Discounts are recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements at the date of the related sale. Rebates are based on the revenue to date and the contractual rebate percentage to be paid. A portion of the cost of the rebate is
allocated to each underlying sales transaction. Discounts and rebate are included in the determination of net sales.
The Company also establishes reserves for customer returns and allowances. The reserve is established based on historical rates of returns and allowances. The reserve is
adjusted quarterly based on actual experience. Discounts and allowances are included in the determination of net sales.
The following table disaggregates our revenue by product category:
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Hardware and Protective
Solutions
Year Ended December 26, 2020
Fastening and Hardware
Personal Protective
Keys and Key Accessories
Engraving
Resharp
Consolidated
Year Ended December 28, 2019
Fastening and Hardware
Personal Protective
Keys and Key Accessories
Engraving
Resharp
Consolidated
Year Ended December 29, 2018
Fastening and Hardware
Personal Protective
Keys and Key Accessories
Engraving
Resharp
Consolidated

$

$

$

$

$

$

Robotics and Digital
Solutions

706,865
317,527
—
—
—
1,024,392

$

607,247
245,769
—
—
—
853,016

$

581,269
55,448
—
—
—
636,717

$

$

$

$
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Canada

—
—
157,828
51,423
36
209,287

$

—
—
185,451
50,613
22
236,086

$

—
—
143,898
52,145
—
196,043

$

$

$

$

Total Revenue
131,493
239
2,878
6
—
134,616

$

121,242
—
4,009
9
—
125,260

$

137,186
—
4,217
12
—
141,415

$

$

$

$

838,358
317,766
160,706
51,429
36
1,368,295

728,489
245,769
189,460
50,622
22
1,214,362

718,455
55,448
148,115
52,157
—
974,175
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The following table disaggregates our revenue by geographic location:
Hardware and Protective
Solutions
Year Ended December 26, 2020
United States
Canada
Mexico
Consolidated
Year Ended December 28, 2019
United States
Canada
Mexico
Consolidated
Year Ended December 29, 2018
United States
Canada
Mexico
Consolidated

$

$

$

$

$

$

Robotics and Digital
Solutions

1,007,135
7,789
9,468
1,024,392

$

835,957
5,905
11,154
853,016

$

626,490
1,944
8,283
636,717

$

$

$

$

Canada

207,283
2,004
—
209,287

$

234,216
1,870
—
236,086

$

195,538
505
—
196,043

$

$

$

$

Total Revenue
—
134,616
—
134,616

$

—
125,260
—
125,260

$

—
141,415
—
141,415

$

$

$

$

1,214,418
144,409
9,468
1,368,295

1,070,173
133,035
11,154
1,214,362

822,028
143,864
8,283
974,175

Our revenue by geography is allocated based on the location of our sales operations. Our Hardware and Protective Solutions segment contains sales of Big Time personal
protective equipment into Canada. Our Robotics and Digital Solutions segment contains sales of MinuteKey Canada.
Hardware and Protective Solutions revenues consist primarily of the delivery of fasteners, anchors, specialty fastening products, and personal protective equipment such as
gloves and eye-wear as well as in-store merchandising services for the related product category.
Robotics and Digital Solutions revenues consist primarily of sales of keys and identification tags through self service key duplication and engraving kiosks. It also includes our
associate-assisted key duplication systems and key accessories.
Canada revenues consist primarily of the delivery to Canadian customers of fasteners and related hardware items, threaded rod, keys, key duplicating systems, accessories,
personal protective equipment, and identification items as well as in-store merchandising services for the related product category.
The Company’s performance obligations under its arrangements with customers are providing products, in-store merchandising services, and access to key duplicating and
engraving equipment. Generally, the price of the merchandising services and the access to the key duplicating and engraving equipment is included in the price of the related
products. Control of products is transferred at the point in time when the customer accepts the goods, which occurs upon delivery of the products. Judgment is required in
determining the time at which to recognize revenue for the in-store services and the access to key duplicating and engraving equipment. Revenue is recognized for in-store
service and access to key duplicating and engraving equipment as the related products are delivered, which approximates a time-based recognition pattern. Therefore, the entire
amount of consideration related to the sale of products, in-store merchandising services, and access to key duplicating and engraving equipment is recognized upon the delivery
of the products.
The costs to obtain a contract are insignificant, and generally contract terms do not extend beyond one year. Therefore, these costs are expensed as incurred. Freight and
shipping costs and the cost of our in-store merchandising services teams are recognized in selling, general, and administrative expense when control over products is transferred
to the customer.
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The Company used the practical expedient regarding the existence of a significant financing component as payments are due in less than one year after delivery of the products.
Shipping and Handling:
The costs incurred to ship product to customers, including freight and handling expenses, are included in selling, general, and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses on the
Company's Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss.
Shipping and handling costs were $50,891, $47,713, and $42,458 in the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
Research and Development:
The Company expenses research and development costs consisting primarily of internal wages and benefits in connection with improvements to the Company's fastening
product lines along with the key duplicating and engraving machines. The Company's research and development costs were $2,876, $2,075, and $2,181 in the years ended
December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
Common Stock:
The Hillman Companies, Inc. has one class of common stock. All outstanding shares of The Hillman Companies, Inc. common stock are owned by Holdco. The management
shareholders of Holdco do not have the ability to put their shares back to Holdco.
Stock Based Compensation:
The Company has a stock-based employee compensation plan pursuant to which Holdco may grant options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and other stock-based
awards. Hillman reflects the options granted by Holdco in its stand-alone Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 718,
Compensation - Stock Compensation ("ASC 718"). The Company uses a Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options on the dates of grant.
The Black-Scholes pricing model requires various assumptions, including expected term, which is based on our historical experience and expected volatility which is estimated
based on the average historical volatility of similar entities with publicly traded shares. The Company also makes assumptions regarding the risk-free interest rate and the
expected dividend yield. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury interest rate whose term is consistent with the expected term of the share-based award. The
dividend yield on our common stock is assumed to be zero since we do not pay dividends and have no current plans to do so in the future. Determining the fair value of stock
options at the grant date requires judgment, including estimates for the expected life of the share-based award, stock price volatility, dividend yield, and interest rate. These
assumptions may differ significantly between grant dates because of changes in the actual results of these inputs that occur over time.
Stock-based compensation expense is recognized using a fair value based recognition method. Stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date based on the fair
value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite vesting period or performance period of the award on a straight-line basis. The stock-based compensation
expense is recorded in general and administrative expenses. The plan is more fully described in Note 11 - Stock Based Compensation.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments:
The Company uses the accounting guidance that applies to all assets and liabilities that are being measured and reported on a fair value basis. The guidance defines fair value as
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A fair value
hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs, where available, and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Whenever
possible, quoted prices in active markets are used to determine the fair value of the Company's financial instruments.
Derivatives and Hedging:
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposures to (1) interest rate fluctuations on its floating rate senior term loan and (2) fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates. The Company measures those instruments at fair value and recognizes changes in the fair value of derivatives in earnings in the period of change,
unless the derivative qualifies as an effective hedge that offsets certain exposures. The Company enters into derivative instrument transactions with financial institutions acting
as the counter-party. The Company does not enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes and, therefore, holds no derivative instruments for trading purposes.
The relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items are formally documented, in addition to the risk management objective and strategy for each hedge
transaction. For interest rate swaps, the notional amounts, rates, and maturities of our interest rate swaps are closely matched to the related terms of hedged debt obligations. The
critical terms of the interest rate swap are matched to the critical terms of the underlying hedged item to determine whether the derivatives used for hedging transactions are
highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the underlying hedged item. If it is determined that a derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, the hedge
accounting is discontinued and all subsequent derivative gains and losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income or loss.
Derivative instruments designated in hedging relationships that mitigate exposure to the variability in future cash flows of the variable-rate debt and foreign currency exchange
rates are considered cash flow hedges. The Company records all derivative instruments in other assets or other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair values.
If the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge and the hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting, the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the
derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income or loss. The change in fair value for instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income or loss in the period of the change. See Note 12 - Derivatives and Hedging.
Translation of Foreign Currencies:
The translation of the Company's Canadian and Mexican local currency based financial statements into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using exchange
rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using an average exchange rate during the period. Cumulative translation adjustments are recorded
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholder's equity.
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements:
The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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The extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company’s business and financial results will depend on numerous evolving factors including, but not limited to: the magnitude
and duration of COVID-19, the extent to which it will impact worldwide macroeconomic conditions including interest rates, employment rates and health insurance coverage,
the speed of the anticipated recovery, and governmental and business reactions to the pandemic. The Company assessed certain accounting matters that generally require
consideration of forecasted financial information in context with the information reasonably available to the Company and the unknown future impacts COVID-19 as of
December 26, 2020 and through the date of this report. The accounting matters assessed included, but were not limited to the carrying value of the goodwill and other long-lived
assets. While there was not a material impact to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the year ended December 26, 2020, the Company’s future
assessment of the magnitude and duration of COVID-19, as well as other factors, could result in material impacts to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements in future
reporting periods.

3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements:
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) ("ASU 2014-09"). On December 31, 2017, the Company adopted the
new accounting standard ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers and all the related amendments (“new revenue standard”) to all contracts using the modified
retrospective method. The Company recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying the new revenue standard as a $5,612 reduction to the opening balance of retained
earnings with corresponding decreases to other current assets and other assets of $3,846 and $3,370, respectively, an increase of $637 to other accrued expenses, and a decrease
of $2,241 in deferred tax liabilities. The cumulative adjustment primarily relates to payments to customers. The Company will now recognize certain payments as a reduction of
revenue when the payment is made as opposed to over the life of the master service agreement. The impact to revenues as a result of applying ASU 2014-09 were immaterial. A
majority of revenue continues to be recognized when products are shipped or delivered to customers. The Company expects the impact of the adoption of the new standard to be
immaterial to our net income on an ongoing basis.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). Subsequently, in July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11,Leases (Topic 842): Targeted
Improvements and ASU 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases. Effective December 30, 2018, the Company adopted the comprehensive new lease standard
issued by the FASB. The most significant impact was the recognition of right-of-use ("ROU") assets and liabilities for operating and finance leases applicable to lessees. The
Company elected to utilize the transition guidance within the new standard that allowed the Company to carry forward its historical lease classification(s). Operating and finance
ROU assets and liabilities are recognized based on the present value of future minimum lease payments over the expected lease term at commencement date. As the implicit rate
is not determinable for most of the Company's leases, management uses the Company's incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date
in determining the present value of future payments. The Company elected to not separate lease and non-lease components for all classes of underlying assets in which it is the
lessee and made an accounting policy election to not account for leases within an initial term of 12 months or less on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
expected lease terms include options to extend or terminate the lease when its reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such option. Lease expense for minimum lease
payments is recognized over a straight-line basis over the expected lease term. As of December 30, 2018, the Company recorded an Operating ROU Asset of $72,785 and a
Finance ROU Asset of $672 within our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Short-term and long-term operating lease liabilities were recorded as $12,040 and $63,291, respectively.
Short-term and long-term finance lease liabilities were determined to be $436 and $477, respectively. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on net income.
Refer to Note 8 - Leases for full lease-related disclosures.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13,Financial Instruments – Credit Losses. The ASU sets forth a “current expected credit loss” (CECL) model which requires the
Company to measure all expected credit losses for financial instruments held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable supportable
forecasts. This replaces the existing incurred loss model and is applicable to the measurement of credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost and applies to some
off-balance sheet credit exposures. The Company adopted this ASU in the first quarter of fiscal 2020, and it did not have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated
Financial Statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation
Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract, ("ASC 350-40") requiring a customer in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service
contract to follow the internal use software guidance in ASC 350-40 to determine which implementation costs to capitalize as assets. Capitalized implementation costs related to
a hosting arrangement that is a service contract will be amortized over the term of the hosting
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arrangement, beginning when the module or component of the hosting arrangement is ready for its intended use. The Company early adopted this ASU in the third quarter of
2018, and it did not have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04,Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reportingwhich provide
optional guidance for a limited time to ease the potential burden in accounting for reference rate reform. The new guidance provide optional expedients and exceptions for
applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The amendments apply only to contracts
and hedging relationships that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued due to reference rate reform. These amendments are effective
immediately and may be applied prospectively to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated on or before December 31, 2022. The
Company is currently evaluating contract and the optional expedients provided by the new standard.
4. Related Party Transactions:
The Company has recorded aggregate management fee charges and expenses from CCMP and Oak Hill Funds of $577, $562, and $546 for the years ended December 26, 2020,
December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
The Company recorded proceeds from the sale of Holdco stock to members of management and the Board of Directors for $750 during year ended December 28, 2019. There
were no such sales the year ended December 26, 2020 nor December 29, 2018.
In the year ended December 29, 2018, the Company paid a dividend of approximately $3,780 to Holdco for the purchase of 4,200 shares of Holdco stock from former members
of management. No such dividends were paid in fiscal 2020 nor fiscal 2019.
Gregory Mann and Gabrielle Mann are employed by Hillman. Hillman leases an industrial warehouse and office facility from companies under the control of the Manns. The
Company has recorded rental expense for the lease of this facility on an arm's length basis. Rental expense for the lease of this facility was $351 for the year ended
December 26, 2020, $350 for the year ended December 28, 2019, and $350 for the year ended December 29, 2018.
Douglas J. Cahill was hired effective July 29, 2019 as our Executive Chairman, Senior Executive Officer. He was promoted to President and Chief Executive Officer September
16, 2019. Mr. Cahill is also a former Managing Director of CCMP Capital Advisors, LP ("CCMP"). CCMP’s private equity fund CCMP Capital Investors III, L.P. (“CCMP
III”), together with its related fund vehicles, owns approximately 79.1% of Holdco's outstanding common stock as of December 26, 2020. Mr. Cahill has retained a carried
interest in CCMP III and the fair value of this carried interest, which is based on the overall performance of CCMP III, is contingent on several factors. As of December 26,
2020, the fair value of the carried interest is not estimable in accordance with ASC 405 - Contingencies.
5. Acquisitions
Minute Key Holdings, Inc.
On August 10, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of Minute Key Holdings, Inc. ("MinuteKey"), an innovative leader in self-service key duplicating kiosks, for a
total consideration reflecting an enterprise value of $156,289. The Company financed the acquisition with the unfunded delayed draw term loan facility of $165,000. MinuteKey
is headquartered in Boulder, Colorado and has operations in the United States and Canada. MinuteKey's financial results reside within the Company's Robotics and Digital
Solutions reportable segment.
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The following table reconciles the fair value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities to the finalized total purchase price of the MinuteKey acquisition:
Cash
Inventory
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Goodwill (1)
Customer relationships
Developed technology
Trade names
Other non-current assets
Total assets acquired
Less:
Liabilities assumed (1)

$

Total purchase price

$

1,791
3,952
766
29,888
58,077
50,000
19,000
5,400
16
168,890
(12,601)
156,289

(1) Goodwill and deferred tax liabilities have been reduced by $1,160 due to the correction of errors related to income taxes related to the valuation allowance against
deferred tax assets, which impacted our net deferred tax liabilities. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for additional details.
Pro forma financial information has not been presented for MinuteKey as their associated financial results are insignificant to the financial results of the Company on a
standalone basis.
Big Time Products
On October 1, 2018, the Company acquired NB Parent Company, LLC. and its affiliated companies including Big Time Products, LLC (collectively, "Big Time"), a leading
provider of personal protective and work gear products ranging from work gloves, tool belts and jobsite storage for a purchase price of $348,834. Coinciding with the Big Time
acquisition, the Company entered into an amendment (the "Amendment") to the Company's existing term loan credit agreement dated May 31, 2018 (the "Term Credit
Agreement"). The Amendment provided approximately $365,000 of incremental term loans. Refer to Note 7 - Long-Term Debt for further details on the Term Credit
Agreement and the associated Amendment. Big Time has business operations throughout North America and its financial results reside in the Company's Hardware and
Protective Solutions reportable segment.
The following table reconciles the fair value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities to the finalized total purchase price of the Big Time acquisition:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Goodwill (1)
Customer Relationships
Trade names
Other non-current assets
Total assets acquired
Less:
Liabilities assumed (1)

$

Total purchase price

$
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2,507
40,828
40,216
1,623
3,703
128,796
189,000
21,000
159
427,832
(78,998)
348,834

THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands)

(1) Goodwill and deferred tax liabilities have been reduced by $2,067 due to the correction of errors related to income taxes related to the valuation allowance against
deferred tax assets, which impacted our net deferred tax liabilities. See Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for additional details.
The following table provides unaudited pro forma results of the combined entities of Hillman and Big Time, had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2018:

Net revenues
Net earnings (loss)

$
$

(Unaudited)
Fiscal Year-ended
2018
1,139,562
(74,976)

The pro forma results are based on assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable under certain circumstances. The pro forma results presented are not intended to be
indicative of results that may occur in the future. The underlying pro forma information includes historical results of the Company, the Company's financing arrangements
related to the Big Time acquisition, and certain purchase price accounting adjustments, including amortization of acquired intangibles.
Sharp Systems, LLC
On August 16, 2019, the Company acquired the assets of Sharp Systems, LLC ("Resharp"), a California-based innovative developer of automated knife sharpening systems, for
a total purchase price of $21,100, including a contingent consideration provision with an estimated fair value of $18,100, with a maximum payout of $25,000 plus 1.8% of net
knife-sharpening revenues for five years after the $25,000 is fully paid. Contingent consideration to be paid subsequent to December 26, 2020 is contingent upon several
business performance metrics over a multi-year period. See Note 13 - Fair Value Measurements for additional information on the contingent consideration payable as of
December 26, 2020. Resharp has existing operations in the United States and its operating results reside within the Company's Robotics and Digital Solutions reportable
segment.
The following table reconciles the fair value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities to the finalized total purchase price of the Resharp acquisition:
Property and equipment
Goodwill
Technology
Total assets acquired
Less:
Contingent consideration payable

218
9,382
11,500
21,100

$

Net cash paid

(18,100)
3,000

Pro forma financial information has not been presented for Resharp as their associated financial results are insignificant to the financial results of the Company on a standalone
basis.
Other Acquisitions
On July 1, 2019, the Company acquired the assets of West Coast Washers, Inc. for a total purchase price of $3,135. The financial results of West Coast Washers, Inc. reside
within the Company's Hardware and Protective Solutions reportable segment and have been determined to be immaterial for purposes of additional disclosure.
On February 19, 2020, the Company acquired the assets of Instafob LLC ("Instafob") for a cash payment of $800 and a total purchase price of $2,618, which includes $1,818 in
contingent and non-contingent considerations that remain payable to the seller. The financial results of Instafob reside within the Company's Robotics and Digital Solutions
reportable segment and have been determined to be immaterial for purposes of additional disclosure.
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6. Income Taxes:
Income tax expense (benefit), deferred taxes and effective tax rates for the years ended December 29, 2018 and December 28, 2019 have been restated due to the correction of
errors in the accounting for income taxes related to the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, which impacted our net deferred tax liabilities. See Note 1 - Basis of
Presentation for additional details.
Loss before income taxes are comprised of the following components for the periods indicated:
Year Ended
December 26, 2020
United States based operations
Non-United States based operations
Loss before income taxes

$

Year Ended
December 28, 2019

(30,083)
(3,855)
(33,938)

$

$

(101,197)
(7,559)
(108,756)

$

Year Ended
December 29, 2018
$

(53,254)
(14,317)
(67,571)

$

Below are the components of the Company's income tax (benefit) provision for the periods indicated:
Year Ended
December 28, 2019
As Restated

Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Current:
Federal & State
Foreign
Total current
Deferred:
Federal & State
Foreign
Total deferred
Valuation allowance
Income tax expense/(benefit)

$

$

629
(49)
580
(7,625)
(1,356)
(8,981)
(1,038)
(9,439)

$

$

1,235
611
1,846
(23,333)
(2,625)
(25,958)
835
(23,277)

Year Ended
December 29, 2018
As Restated
$

$

263
67
330
(11,679)
(4,741)
(16,420)
7,200
(8,890)

The Company has U.S. federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards totaling $134,347 as of December 26, 2020 that are available to offset future taxable income. These
carryforwards expire from 2027 to 2038. A portion of the U.S. federal NOLs were acquired with the MinuteKey purchase in 2018. The MinuteKey NOLs are subject to
limitation under IRC §382 from current and prior ownership changes. In addition, the Company's foreign subsidiaries have NOL carryforwards aggregating $30,717. A portion
of these carryforwards expire from 2035 to 2040. Management anticipates utilizing all foreign NOLs prior to their expiration.
The Company has state NOL carryforwards with an aggregate tax benefit of $3,806 which expire from 2020 to 2040. The Company has recorded a valuation allowance of $439
in fiscal 2020 for the state NOLs expected to expire prior to utilization.
The Company has $891 of general business tax credit carryforwards which expire from 2020 to 2040. A valuation allowance of $210 has been maintained for a portion of these
tax credits. The Company has $822 of foreign tax credit carryforwards which expire from 2020 to 2025. A valuation allowance of $822 has been established for these credits
given insufficient foreign source income projected to utilize these credits.
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The table below reflects the significant components of the Company's net deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019:
December 28, 2019
As Restated
Non-current

December 26, 2020
Non-current
Deferred Tax Asset:
Inventory
Bad debt reserve
Casualty loss reserve
Accrued bonus / deferred compensation
Deferred rent
Derivative security value
Deferred social security (CARES Act)
Interest limitation
Lease liabilities
Deferred revenue - shipping terms
Original issue discount amortization
Transaction costs
Federal / foreign net operating loss
State net operating loss
Tax credit carryforwards
All other
Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax assets

$

$

Deferred Tax Liability:
Intangible asset amortization
Property and equipment
Lease assets
All other items
Deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

$

$
$

11,423
1,497
279
7,411
54
817
1,798
21,011
21,241
315
3,078
3,061
36,217
3,806
2,150
610
114,768
(1,471)
113,297

$

216,354
29,901
20,598
487
267,340
154,043

$

$

$
$

10,043
868
498
5,174
80
845
—
30,335
22,134
315
3,372
2,302
38,478
5,426
2,636
401
122,907
(2,586)
120,321
227,007
34,218
22,119
618
283,962
163,641

The December 28, 2019 lease liability deferred tax asset and the lease asset deferred tax liability were each increased by $5,646 to correct a misstatement.
Realization of the net deferred tax assets is dependent on the reversal of deferred tax liabilities. Although realization is not assured, management estimates it is more likely than
not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized. The amount of net deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future
taxable income during the carryforward periods are reduced. The Company maintains a valuation allowance of $439 on U.S. state NOLs due to the Company's inability to
utilize the losses prior to expiration.
Hillman considers the earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries to be indefinitely invested outside the United States on the basis of estimates that future domestic cash
generation will be sufficient to meet future domestic cash needs and our specific plans for reinvestment of those subsidiary earnings. The Company has not recorded a deferred
tax liability related to the U.S. federal and state income taxes and foreign withholding taxes of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries indefinitely invested outside the
United States. Should management decide to repatriate the foreign earnings, the Company would need to adjust the income tax provision in the period the earnings will no
longer be indefinitely invested outside the United States.
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Below is a reconciliation of statutory income tax rates to the effective income tax rates for the periods indicated:
Year Ended
December 28, 2019
As Restated
21.0 %

Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Statutory federal income tax rate
Non-U.S. taxes and the impact of non-U.S. losses for which a current tax
benefit is not available
State and local income taxes, net of U.S. federal income tax benefit
Change in valuation allowance
Adjustment for change in tax law
Permanent differences:
Acquisition and related transaction costs
Meals and entertainment expense
Reconciliation of tax provision to return
Reconciliation of other adjustments
Effective income tax rate

21.0 %

Year Ended December 29,
2018
As Restated
21.0 %

0.6
5.7
1.6
0.5

%
%
%
%

0.4
3.0
(1.2)
—

%
%
%
%

0.9
1.4
(7.5)
(0.9)

%
%
%
%

—
(0.4)
0.6
(1.6)
27.8

%
%
%
%
%

—
(0.2)
(0.5)
(1.0)
21.4

%
%
%
%
%

(2.7)
(0.3)
—
1.2
13.2

%
%
%
%
%

The Company's reserve for unrecognized tax benefits remains unchanged for the year ended December 26, 2020. A balance of $1,101 of unrecognized tax benefit is shown in
the financial statements at December 26, 2020 as a reduction of the deferred tax asset for the Company's NOL carryforward.
The following is a summary of the changes for the periods indicated below:

Unrecognized tax benefits - beginning balance
Gross increases - tax positions in current period
Gross increases - tax positions in prior period
Gross decreases - tax positions in prior period
Unrecognized tax benefits - ending balance

Year Ended
December 26, 2020
$
1,101
—
—
—
$
1,101

Year Ended
December 28, 2019
$
1,101
—
—
—
$
1,101

Year Ended
December 29, 2018
$
1,101
—
—
—
$
1,101

Amount of unrecognized tax benefit that, if recognized would affect
the Company's effective tax rate

$

$

$

1,101

1,101

1,101

Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act")
On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into law by the President of the United States. The CARES Act included, among other things, corporate income tax relief in
the form of accelerated alternative minimum tax ("AMT") refunds, allowed employers to defer certain payroll tax payments throughout 2020, and provided favorable corporate
interest deductions for the 2019 and 2020 periods. During 2020, the Company received an accelerated AMT income tax refund of $1,147 and was able to defer $7,136 of
payroll taxes. The CARES Act interest modification provisions allowed for increased interest deductions. The Company was able to deduct an additional $32,000 in interest on
its 2019 income tax return when compared to the 2019 income tax provision. For the fiscal year 2020, the Company's increased interest deduction will result in the utilization of
accumulated interest limitation carryforwards.
The Company files a consolidated income tax return in the U.S. and numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in various states and foreign jurisdictions. The
Company is not under any significant audits for the period ended December 26, 2020.
7. Long-Term Debt:
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The following table summarizes the Company’s debt:

Revolving loans
Senior Term Loan, due 2025
6.375% Senior Notes, due 2022
11.6% Junior Subordinated Debentures - Preferred
Junior Subordinated Debentures - Common
Finance leases & other obligations

$

Unamortized premium on 11.6% Junior Subordinated Debentures
Unamortized discount on Senior Term Loan
Current portion of long term debt and capital leases
Deferred financing fees
$

Total long term debt, net

December 26, 2020
72,000
1,037,044
330,000
105,443
3,261
2,044
1,549,792
14,591
(6,532)
(11,481)
(10,862)
1,535,508

$

$

December 28, 2019
113,000
1,047,653
330,000
105,443
3,261
2,275
1,601,632
16,110
(8,040)
(11,358)
(14,055)
1,584,289

Revolving Loans and Term Loans
On May 31, 2018, the Company entered into a new credit agreement that includes a funded term loan for $530,000 and a unfunded delayed draw term loan facility ("DDTL")
for $165,000 (collectively, "2018 Term Loan"). Concurrently, the Company also entered into a new asset-based revolving credit agreement ("ABL Revolver") for $150,000. The
proceeds from the 2018 Term Loan and ABL Revolver were used to refinance previous debt obligations, revolvers and the associated fees and expenses. As mentioned in Note
5 - Acquisitions, the Company utilized the full $165,000 DDTL to finance the MinuteKey acquisition on August 10, 2018. Both the 2018 Term Loan and ABL Revolver require
the Company to maintain certain financial and non-financial covenants. As of December 26, 2020, the Company is in compliance with all financial and non-financial debt
covenants with our existing obligations and agreements with external lenders.
On October 1, 2018, the Company entered into an amendment (the "Term Amendment") to the aforementioned 2018 Term Loan agreement which provided an additional
$365,000 of incremental term loan proceeds. These proceeds from the Amendment were used to (1) finance the acquisition of Big Time, (2) refinance certain pre-existing Big
Time indebtedness, and (3) pay related transaction costs. Refer to Note 5 - Acquisitions for additional Big Time acquisition details.
On November 15, 2019, the Company entered into an amendment (the "ABL Amendment") to the aforementioned ABL Revolver agreement which provided an additional
$100,000 of revolving credit, bringing the total available to $250,000.
The interest rate on the 2018 Term Loan is, at the discretion of the Company, either the adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") rate plus4.00% per annum for
LIBOR loans or an alternate base rate plus 3.00% per annum. The 2018 Term Loan is payable in fixed installments of approximately $2,652 per quarter, with a balloon payment
scheduled on the loan's maturity date of May 31, 2025.
The interest rate for the ABL Revolver is, at the discretion of the Company, either (1) adjusted LIBOR plus a margin of1.25% to 1.75% per annum or (2) an alternate base rate
plus a margin varying from 0.25% to 0.75% per annum. The maturity date for the ABL Revolver is November 15, 2024, provided that, if the 6.375% Senior Notes with a
maturity date of July 15, 2022 remain outstanding in a principal amount in excess of $50,000 on April 15, 2022, the maturity date shall be April 15, 2022, unless, at the
Company's sole discretion, the Company elects to take a reserve against the borrowing base in an amount equal to the amount of such excess and, after giving effect thereto,
availability as of such date is equal to or greater than $30,000. Portions of the ABL Revolver are separately available for borrowing by the Company's United States subsidiary
and Canadian subsidiary for $200,000 and $50,000, respectively.
In connection with the 2019 ABL Revolver refinancing activities, the Company recorded an additional $1,412 in deferred financing fees which are recorded as other non-current
assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 28, 2019.
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In connection with the 2018 refinancing activities, the Company recorded $14,293 in deferred financing fees and $9,950 in discount which were recorded as long term debt on
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 29, 2018. In connection with the ABL Revolver, the Company recorded $1,841 in deferred financing fees
which were recorded as other non-current assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 29, 2018.
The amounts outstanding under the 2018 Term Loan and ABL Revolver are guaranteed by the Company and, subject to certain exceptions, the Company's wholly-owned
domestic subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all of the Company's and guarantor's assets.
As of December 26, 2020, the ABL Revolver had an outstanding amount of $72,000 and outstanding letters of credit of approximately $23,590. The Company has
approximately $154,410 of available borrowings under the revolving credit facility as a source of liquidity as of December 26, 2020.
6.375% Senior Notes, due 2022
On June 30, 2014, Hillman Group issued $330,000 aggregate principal amount of its senior notes due July 15, 2022 (the “6.375% Senior Notes”), which are guaranteed by The
Hillman Companies, Inc. and its domestic subsidiaries other than the Hillman Group Capital Trust. Hillman Group pays interest on the 6.375% Senior Notes semi-annually on
January 15 and July 15 of each fiscal year.
Guaranteed Preferred Beneficial Interest in the Company's Junior Subordinated Debentures
In September 1997, The Hillman Group Capital Trust ("Trust"), a Grantor trust, completed a $105,443 underwritten public offering of 4,217,724 Trust Preferred Securities
(“TOPrS”). The Trust invested the proceeds from the sale of the preferred securities in an equal principal amount of 11.6% Junior Subordinated Debentures of Hillman due
September 30, 2027.
The Company pays interest to the Trust on the Junior Subordinated Debentures underlying the TOPrS at the rate of11.6% per annum on their face amount of $105,443, or
$12,231 per annum in the aggregate. The Trust distributes monthly cash payments it receives from the Company as interest on the debentures to preferred security holders at an
annual rate of 11.6% on the liquidation amount of $25.00 per preferred security. Pursuant to the Indenture that governs the TOPrS, the Trust is able to defer distribution
payments to holders of the TOPrS for a period that cannot exceed 60 months (the “Deferral Period”). During a Deferral Period, the Company is required to accrue the full
amount of all interest payable, and such deferred interest payable would become immediately payable by the Company at the end of the Deferral Period. During fiscal 2020, the
Company elected to defer interest payments to the bondholders during April 2020 through July 2020. The additional interest incurred as a result of the deferral was immaterial.
Interest paid to the bondholders at the end of the Deferral Period was paid in full. There were no interest deferrals during fiscal 2019.
In connection with the public offering of TOPrS, the Trust issued $3,261 of trust common securities to the Company. The Trust invested the proceeds from the sale of the trust
common securities in an equal principal amount of 11.6% Junior Subordinated Debentures of Hillman due September 30, 2027. The Trust distributes monthly cash payments it
receives from the Company as interest on the debentures to the Company at an annual rate of 11.6% on the liquidation amount of the common security.
The Company has determined that the Trust is a variable interest entity and the holders of the TOPrS are the primary beneficiaries of the Trust. Accordingly, the Company does
not consolidate the Trust. Summarized below is the financial information of the Trust as of December 26, 2020:
December 26, 2020
Non-current assets - junior subordinated debentures - preferred
Non-current assets - junior subordinated debentures - common
Total assets
Non-current liabilities - trust preferred securities
Stockholder's equity - trust common securities
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

Amount
$
$
$
$

120,034
3,261
123,295
120,034
3,261
123,295

The non-current assets for the Trust relate to its investment in the11.6% junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures of Hillman due September 30, 2027.
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The TOPrS constitute mandatory redeemable financial instruments. The Company guarantees the obligations of the Trust on the TOPrS. Accordingly, the guaranteed preferred
beneficial interest in the Company's junior subordinated debentures is presented in long-term liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
On June 30, 2014, the junior subordinated debentures were recorded at the fair value of $131,141 based on the price underlying the Trust Preferred Securities of $30.32 per
share upon close of trading on the NYSE Amex on that date plus the liquidation value of the trust common securities. The Company is amortizing the premium on the junior
subordinated debentures of $22,437 over their remaining life. Unamortized premium on the junior subordinated debentures was $14,591 and $16,110 as of December 26, 2020
and December 28, 2019, respectively.

The aggregate minimum principal maturities of the long-term debt obligations for each of the five years following December 26, 2020 are as follows:
Year
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

Amount
$

$

10,609
340,609
10,609
82,609
994,606
108,706
1,547,748

Note that future finance lease payments were excluded from the maturity schedule above. Refer to Note 8 - Leases.
Additional information with respect to the Company's fixed rate senior notes and junior subordinated debentures is included in Note 13 - Fair Value Measurements.
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8. Leases:
Lessee
The Company determines if a contract is or contains a lease at inception or modification of a contract. A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. Control over the use of the identified asset means the lessee has both (a) the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset and (b) the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company leases certain distribution center locations,
vehicles, forklifts, computer equipment, and its corporate headquarters with expiration dates through 2032. Certain lease arrangements include escalating rent payments and
options to extend the lease term. Expected lease terms include these options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise the option.
The Company's leasing arrangements do not contain material residual value guarantees nor material restrictive covenants.
The components of operating and finance lease cost for the year ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019 were as follows:

Operating lease cost
Short term lease costs
Variable lease costs
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right of use assets
Interest on lease liabilities

$

Year Ended
December 26, 2020
19,189
2,404
898

$

813
143

Year Ended
December 28, 2019
19,456
2,587
2,731
616
115

Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected lease term. Rent expense totaled $22,491, $24,774 and $19,281 in the year ended December 26, 2020,
December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively. Rent expense includes operating lease cost as well as expense for non-lease components such as common area
maintenance, real estate taxes, real estate insurance, variable costs related to our leased vehicles and also short-term rental expenses.
The implicit rate is not determinable in most of the Company’s leases, as such management uses the Company’s incremental borrowing rate based on the information available
at commencement date in determining the present value of future payments. The weighted average remaining lease terms and discount rates for all of our operating leases were
as follows as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019:

Weighted average remaining lease term
Weighted average discount rate

December 26, 2020
Operating Leases
Finance Leases
7.19
2.61
8.28%
7.14%

December 28, 2019
Operating Leases (1)
Finance Leases
7.88
3.46
7.81%
6.49%

(1) Upon adoption of the new lease standard, discount rates used for existing operating leases were established on December 30, 2018.
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to the Company's finance leases as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019:
December 26, 2020
Finance lease assets, net, included in property plant and
equipment

$

1,919

$

872
1,172
2,044

Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt, less current portion
Total principal payable on finance leases

December 28, 2019
$

2,101

$

749
1,526
2,275

Supplemental cash flow information related to our operating leases was as follows for the year ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019:
Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflow from operating leases
Operating cash outflow from finance leases
Financing cash outflow from finance leases

$

Year Ended
December 28, 2019
18,641
143
836

$

18,668
104
683

As of December 26, 2020, our future minimum rental commitments are immaterial for lease agreements beginning after the current reporting period. Maturities of our lease
liabilities for all operating and finance leases are as follows as of December 26, 2020:
Operating Leases
Less than one year
1 to 2 years
2 to 3 years
3 to 4 years
4 to 5 years
After 5 years
Total future minimum rental commitments
Less - amounts representing interest

$

Present value of lease liabilities

$

18,259
15,919
13,656
13,065
11,928
35,342
108,169
(27,067)
81,102

Finance Leases
$

$

993
708
421
129
—
—
2,251
(207)
2,044

Lessor
The Company has certain arrangements for key duplication equipment under which we are the lessor. These leases meet the criteria for operating lease classification. Lease
income associated with these leases is not material.
9. Deferred Compensation Plan:
The Company maintains a deferred compensation plan for key employees (the “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan” or “NQDC”) which allows the participants to defer
up to 25% of salary and commissions and up to 100% of bonuses to be paid during the year and invest these deferred amounts into certain Company directed mutual fund
investments, subject to the election of the participants. The Company is permitted to make a 25% matching contribution on deferred amounts up to $10, subject to a five year
vesting schedule.
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As of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets included $1,911 and $1,911, respectively, in restricted investments representing
the assets held in mutual funds to fund deferred compensation liabilities owed to the Company's current and former employees. The current portion of the restricted investments
was $595 and $355 as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively, and is included in other current assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The assets held in the NQDC are classified as an investment in trading securities, accordingly, the investments are marked-to-market, see Note 13 - Fair Value Measurements of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional detail.
During the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018 distributions from the deferred compensation plan aggregated $527, $686, and $849,
respectively.
10. Equity and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income:
Common Stock
The Hillman Companies, Inc. has one class of common stock. All outstanding shares of The Hillman Companies, Inc. common stock are owned by Holdco. The management
shareholders of Holdco do not have the ability to put their shares back to Holdco.
Preferred Stock
The Hillman Companies, Inc. has one class of preferred stock, with 5,000 shares authorized and none issued or outstanding as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following is the detail of the change in the Company's accumulated other comprehensive loss from December 30, 2017 to December 26, 2020 including the effect of
significant reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (net of tax):
Foreign Currency Translation
(26,537)
(11,104)
51
(11,053)
(37,590)
5,533
17
5,550
(32,040)
2,652
—
2,652
$
(29,388)

Balance at December 30, 2017
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income¹
Net current period other comprehensive loss
Balance at December 29, 2018
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income²
Net current period other comprehensive income
Balance at December 28, 2019
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income
Net current period other comprehensive income

$

Balance at December 26, 2020

1.

In the year ended December 29, 2018, the Company fully liquidated four subsidiaries within the Canada reportable segment: Hillman Group GP1, LLC, Hillman Group
GP2, LLC, HGC1 Financing LP, and HGC2 Holding LP and reclassified the cumulative translation adjustment to income The $51 loss was recorded as other income on
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss.

2.

In the year ended December 28, 2019, the Company fully liquidated its Luxembourg subsidiary which results resides within the Canada reportable segment.The $17 loss
was recorded as other income on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss.
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11. Stock Based Compensation:
HMAN Group Holdings Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan
Effective June 30, 2014, Holdco established the HMAN Group Holdings Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Equity Incentive Plan”), pursuant to which Holdco may
grant options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and other stock-based awards for up to an aggregate of 44,021 shares of its common stock. Effective August 10, 2018,
the number of shares within the stock option pool increased to 50,000. Effective July 29, 2019 the number of shares within the pool increased to84,008. Effective July 28, 2020
the number of shares within the pool increased to 94,195.
The 2014 Equity Incentive Plan is administered by a committee of the Holdco board of directors. Such committee determines the terms of each stock-based award grant under
the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, except that the exercise price of any granted options and the grant price of any granted stock appreciation rights may not be lower than the fair
market value of one share of common stock of Holdco as of the date of grant.
The fair value of 61,310 time-vested options outstanding as of December 26, 2020 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions: dividend yield equaling 0%, risk-free interest rate from 0.4% to 1.81%, expected volatility assumed to be 31.5%, and expected term of 6.25 years. The
fair value of an option in whole dollars was $335.46.
Stock option compensation expense of $3,960, $2,312, and $1,590 was recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended
December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively. As of December 26, 2020, there was $12,247 of unrecognized compensation expense for
unvested common options. The expense will be recognized as a charge to earnings over a weighted average period of approximately 3.50 years.
As of December 26, 2020, there were 16,082 performance-based stock options outstanding that ultimately vest depending upon satisfaction of conditions that only arise in the
event of a sale of the Company. No compensation expense will be recognized on these stock options unless it becomes probable the performance conditions will be satisfied.
A summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 26, 2020 is presented below:
Number
of
Shares
Outstanding at December 28, 2019
Exercisable at December 28, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding at December 26, 2020
Exercisable at December 26, 2020

81,700
—
11,607
7,333
8,582
77,392
21,315

$
$
$
$
$

Weighted Average
Exercise Price Per Share
(in whole dollars)
1,207
—
—
—
—
1,257
1,185

Weighted Average Remaining
Contractual Term
(Years)
8 years
—
—
—
—
8 years
7 years

In fiscal year ended December 26, 2020, 7,333 options were exercised. In fiscal year ended December 28, 2019,100 options were exercised. In fiscal year ended December 29,
2018, 200 options were exercised.
As of December 26, 2020, there were 1,071 shares of restricted stock outstanding under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. The shares were granted at the grant date fair value of
the underlying common stock securities. The restrictions lapse in one quarter increments on each of the three anniversaries of the award date, and one quarter on the completion
of the relocation of the recipient to the Cincinnati area or earlier in the event of a change in control. The number of unvested shares of restricted stock was 1,071 as of
December 26, 2020 however expense is recognized over the service period. The weighted average grant date fair value of unvested restricted stock was $1,168 as of
December 26, 2020.
A summary of the Company's restricted stock activity for the year ended December 26, 2020 is presented below:
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Number of Shares
Unvested at December 28, 2019
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

2,143
—
(1,072)
—
1,071

Unvested at December 26, 2020

Weighted-Average Grant Date
Fair Value
$
1,168
—
1,168
—
$
1,168

Restricted stock compensation expense of $1,165, $669, and $0 was recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the fiscal
years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
12. Derivatives and Hedging:
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposures to (1) interest rate fluctuations on its floating rate senior term loan and (2) fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates. The Company measures those instruments at fair value and recognizes changes in the fair value of derivatives in earnings in the period of change,
unless the derivative qualifies as an effective hedge that offsets certain exposures.
Interest Rate Swap Agreements
On September 3, 2014, the Company entered into two forward Interest Rate Swap Agreements (the “2014 Swaps”) with three year terms for notional amounts of $90,000 and
$40,000. The forward start date of the 2014 Swaps was October 1, 2015 and the termination date was September 30, 2018. The 2014 Swaps fixed the interest rate at2.2% plus
the applicable interest rate margin of 3.5% and the effective rate of 5.7%. The 2014 Swaps were terminated on September 30, 2018.
On January 8, 2018, the Company entered into a new forward Interest Rate Swap Agreement ("2018 Swap 1") withthree year terms for $90,000 notional amount. The forward
start date of the 2018 Swap was September 30, 2018 and the termination date is June 30, 2021. The 2018 Swap 1 has a fixed interest rate of 2.3% plus the applicable interest
rate margin of 4.0% for an effective rate of 6.3%.
On November 8, 2018, the Company entered into another new forward Interest Rate Swap Agreement ("2018 Swap 2") withthree year terms for $60,000 notional amount. The
forward start date of the 2018 Swap 2 was November 30, 2018 and the termination date is November 30, 2022. The 2018 Swap 2 has a fixed interest rate of 3.1% plus the
applicable interest rate margin of 4.0% for an effective rate of 7.1%.
The fair value of the 2018 Swap 1 was $709 as of December 26, 2020 and was reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets in other accrued expenses. The fair
value of the 2018 Swap 2 was $3,484 as of December 26, 2020 and was reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets in other non-current liabilities The total
impact of all the interest rate swaps to other (income) expense recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the unfavorable change of $601 in fair value
since December 28, 2019.
The fair value of the 2018 Swaps was $3,592 as of December 28, 2019 and they were reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets in other non-current liabilities.
The total impact of all the interest rate swaps to other (income) expense recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss was an unfavorable change of $2,608 in
fair value since December 29, 2018.
The Company's interest rate swap agreements did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment because they did not meet the provisions specified in ASC 815, Derivatives and
Hedging (“ASC 815”).
Foreign Currency Forward Contracts
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During fiscal 2018, 2019, and 2020, the Company entered into multiple foreign currency forward contracts. The purpose of the Company's foreign currency forward contracts is
to manage the Company's exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar.
The total notional amount of contracts outstanding was C$9,652 and C$1,326 as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively. The total fair value of the foreign
currency forward contracts was $12 and $12 as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively, and was reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets in other current liabilities. A decrease in other income of $557 and $50 was recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the change in fair value
during years ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, respectively.
The Company's foreign currency forward contracts did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment because they did not meet the provisions specified in ASC 815. Accordingly,
the gain or loss on these derivatives was recognized in other (income) expense in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss.
The Company does not enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes and, therefore, holds no derivative instruments for trading purposes.
Additional information with respect to the fair value of derivative instruments is included in Note 13 - Fair Value Measurements.
13. Fair Value Measurements:
The Company uses the accounting guidance that applies to all assets and liabilities that are being measured and reported on a fair value basis. The guidance defines fair value as
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The guidance also
establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Assets and liabilities carried at fair value are classified and
disclosed in one of the following three categories.
Level 1:

Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2:

Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.

Level 3:

Unobservable inputs reflecting the reporting entity's own assumptions.

The accounting guidance establishes a hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of quoted market prices and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. An asset or
liability's level is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
The following tables set forth the Company's financial assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis during the period, by level, within the fair value
hierarchy:
As of December 26, 2020
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Trading securities
Interest rate swaps
Foreign exchange forward contracts
Contingent consideration payable

$

1,911
—
—
—

$

Level 1
Trading securities
Interest rate swaps
Foreign exchange forward contracts
Contingent consideration payable

$

76

1,911
—
—
—

$

— $
(4,193)
12
—

Total

— $
—
—
(14,197)

As of December 28, 2019
Level 2
Level 3
— $
— $
(3,592)
—
12
—
—
(18,100)

1,911
(4,193)
12
(14,197)

Total
1,911
(3,592)
12
(18,100)
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Trading securities are valued using quoted prices on an active exchange. Trading securities represent assets held in a Rabbi Trust to fund deferred compensation liabilities and
are included as restricted investments on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Company utilizes interest rate swap contracts to manage our targeted mix of fixed and floating rate debt, and these contracts are valued using observable benchmark rates at
commonly quoted intervals for the full term of the swap contracts. As of December 26, 2020, the 2018 Swap 1 was recorded within other accrued expenses and the 2018 Swap 2
was recorded within other non-current liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 28, 2019, both the 2018 Swap 1 and the 2018 Swap 2 were
recorded within other non-current liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Company utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to manage our exposure to currency fluctuations in the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar. The forward contracts
were valued using observable benchmark rates at commonly quoted intervals during the term of the forward contract. As of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019, the
foreign exchange forward contracts were included in other current liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The contingent consideration represents future potential earn-out payments related to the Resharp acquisition in fiscal 2019 and the Instafob acquisition in the first quarter of
2020. Refer to Note 5 - Acquisitions for additional details. The estimated fair value of the contingent earn-out was determined using a Monte Carlo analysis examining the
frequency and mean value of the resulting earn-out payments. The resulting value captures the risk associated with the form of the payout structure. The risk neutral method is
applied, resulting in a value that captures the risk associated with the form of the payout structure and the projection risk. The carrying amount of the liability may fluctuate
significantly and actual amounts paid may be materially different from the liability's estimated value. As of December 26, 2020, the total contingent consideration for Resharp
was recorded as $304 within other accrued expenses and $11,890 within other non-current liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 26,
2020, the total contingent consideration for Instafob was recorded as $113 within other accrued expenses and $1,890 within other non-current liabilities on the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 28, 2019, the total contingent consideration was recorded as $2,275 within other accrued expenses and $15,825 within other noncurrent liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. During fiscal 2020, $2,006 of the Resharp contingent consideration was earned and will be paid during the
first quarter of fiscal 2021. This amount was moved to accounts payable as of December 26, 2020. The Company recorded a $3,900 decrease in the Resharp contingent
consideration liability as of December 26, 2020 compared to December 28, 2019. The Company recorded a $385 increase in the Instafob contingent consideration liability as of
December 26, 2020 compared to Instafob's acquisition date of February 19, 2020. The total decrease of $3,515 in value was determined by using a simulation model of the
Monte Carlo analysis that included updated projections applicable to the liability as of December 26, 2020 compared to the prior valuation period.
The fair value of the Company's fixed rate senior notes and junior subordinated debentures as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019 were determined by utilizing
current trading prices obtained from indicative market data. As a result, the fair value measurement of the Company's senior term loans is considered to be Level 2.

6.375% Senior Notes
Junior Subordinated Debentures

$

December 26, 2020
Carrying
Estimated
Amount
Fair Value
328,333 $
327,525
123,295
128,022

$

December 28, 2019
Carrying
Estimated
Amount
Fair Value
327,222 $
305,250
124,814
148,731

Cash, restricted investments, accounts receivable, short-term borrowings and accounts payable are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements at book value, which
approximates fair value, due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying amount of the long-term debt under the revolving credit facility approximates the fair
value at December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019 as the interest rate is variable and approximates current market rates. The Company also believes the carrying amount of
the long-term debt under the senior term loan approximates the fair value at December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019 because, while subject to a minimum LIBOR floor rate,
the interest rate approximates current market rates of debt with similar terms and comparable credit risk.
Additional information with respect to the derivative instruments is included in Note 12 - Derivatives and Hedging. Additional information with respect to the Company's fixed
rate senior notes and junior subordinated debentures is included in Note 7 - Long-Term Debt.
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14. Restructuring
Canadian Restructuring Plan
During fiscal 2018, the Company initiated plans to restructure the operations of the Canada segment. The restructuring seeks to streamline operations in the greater Toronto area
by consolidating facilities, exiting certain lines of business, and rationalizing stock keeping units (“SKUs”). The intended result of the Canada restructuring will be a more
streamlined and scalable operation focused on delivering optimal service and a broad offering of products across the Company's core categories. Plans were finalized during the
fourth quarter of 2018. The Company expects to wrap up restructuring related activities in our Canada segment in 2021. Charges incurred in part of the Canada Restructuring
Plan included:
Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Facility consolidation (1)
Inventory valuation adjustments
Labor expense
Consulting and legal fees
Other expense
Rent and related charges
Gain on sale of building
Severance

$

596
682
192
1,118
1,535
—
707

Exit of certain lines of business (2)
Inventory valuation adjustments
Gain on disposal of assets
Severance
Other expense
Total

Year Ended
December 28, 2019

—
—
—
—
4,830

$

$

Year Ended
December 29, 2018
3,799
1,751
225
2,126
584
—

$

617

535
(458)
—
488
9,667 $

$

8,694
503
314
116
—
(6,104)

—

1,152
837
2,749
—
8,261

(1) Facility consolidation includes inventory valuation adjustments associated with SKU rationalization, labor expense related to organizing inventory and equipment in
preparation for the facility consolidation, consulting and legal fees related to the project, and other expenses. The labor, consulting, and legal expenses were included in
selling, general and administrative expense ("SG&A") on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. The inventory valuation adjustments were included in cost
of sales on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss.
(2) As part of the restructuring, the Company is exiting a manufacturing business line. Related charges included adjustments to write inventory down to net realizable value,
asset impairment charges, and employee severance, which were included in cost of sales, other income and expense, and SG&A on the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Loss, respectively.
The following represents the roll forward of restructuring reserves for the year ended December 26, 2020:
Severance and related
expense
$
1,537
617
(1,033)
$
1,121
707
(680)
$
1,148

Balance as of December 29, 2018
Restructuring Charges
Cash Paid
Balance as of December 28, 2019
Restructuring Charges
Cash Paid
Balance as of December 26, 2020
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During the year ended December 26, 2020, the Company paid approximately $680 in severance and related expense related to the Canada Restructuring Plan.
United States Restructuring Plan
During fiscal 2019, the Company began implementing a plan to restructure the management and operations within the United States to achieve synergies and cost savings
associated with the recent acquisitions described in Note 5 - Acquisitions. This restructuring includes management realignment, integration of sales and operating functions, and
strategic review of the Company's product offerings. This plan was finalized during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019. The Company incurred additional charges in fiscal 2020
related to the consolidation of two of our distribution centers. Charges incurred in part of the United States Restructuring Plan included:
Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Management realignment & integration
Severance
Inventory valuation adjustments
Facility closures
Severance
Inventory valuation adjustments
Other
Total

Year Ended
December 28, 2019

$
$

886
—

$

903
1,568
1,422
4,779

$

$

3,820
5,707
—
—
—
9,527

The following represents a roll forward of the restructuring reserves for the year ended December 26, 2020:
Severance and related
expense
$
—
3,820
(534)
$
3,286
1,789
(3,746)
$
1,329

Balance as of December 29, 2018
Restructuring Charges
Cash Paid
Balance as of December 28, 2019
Restructuring Charges
Cash Paid
Balance as of December 26, 2020

During the year ended December 26, 2020, the Company paid approximately $3,746 in severance and related expense related to the United States Restructuring Plan.

15. Commitments and Contingencies:
The Company self-insures our product liability, automotive, and workers' compensation losses up to $250 per occurrence. General liability losses are self-insured up to $500 per
occurrence. Catastrophic coverage has been purchased from third party insurers for occurrences in excess of $250 up to $60,000. The two risk areas involving the most
significant accounting estimates are workers' compensation and automotive liability. Actuarial valuations performed by the Company's third-party risk insurance expert were
used by the Company's management to form the basis for workers' compensation and automotive liability loss reserves. The actuary contemplated the Company's specific loss
history, actual claims reported, and industry trends among statistical and other factors to estimate the range of reserves required. Risk insurance reserves are comprised of
specific reserves for individual claims and additional amounts expected for development of these claims, as well as for incurred but not yet reported claims. The Company
believes that the liability of approximately $2,488 recorded for such risk insurance reserves is adequate as of December 26, 2020.
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As of December 26, 2020, the Company has provided certain vendors and insurers letters of credit aggregating $23,590 related to our product purchases and insurance coverage
of product liability, workers' compensation, and general liability.
The Company self-insures our group health claims up to an annual stop loss limit of $250 per participant. Historical group insurance loss experience forms the basis for the
recognition of group health insurance reserves. Provisions for losses expected under these programs are recorded based on an analysis of historical insurance claim data and
certain actuarial assumptions. The Company believes that the liability of approximately $2,609 recorded for such group health insurance reserves is adequate as of
December 26, 2020.
The Company imports large quantities of fastener products which are subject to customs requirements and to tariffs and quotas set by governments through mutual agreements
and bilateral actions. The Company could be subject to the assessment of additional duties and interest if it or its suppliers fail to comply with customs regulations or similar
laws. The U.S. Department of Commerce (the "Department”) has received requests from petitioners to conduct administrative reviews of compliance with anti-dumping duty
and countervailing duty laws for certain nails products sourced from Asian countries. The Company sourced products under review from vendors in China and Taiwan during
the periods selected for review. The Company accrues for the duty expense once it is determined to be probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. On March 16,
2018, the Department published updated results, which were finalized upon the completion of review of appeals in April 2018. Based on final results, our liability was reduced
to $2,446. The Company recorded income of $3,829 in fiscal 2018, which is included in Cost of Sales on the Company's Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. There
were no related charges in fiscal 2019 nor in fiscal 2020.
On June 3, 2019, The Hillman Group, Inc. ("Hillman Group") filed a complaint for patent infringement against KeyMe, LLC ("KeyMe"), a provider of self-service key
duplication kiosks, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (Marshall Division). The case was assigned Civil Action No. 2:19-cv-0209. Hillman
Group’s complaint alleges that KeyMe’s self-named and “Locksmith in a Box” key duplication kiosks infringe U.S. Patent Nos. 8,979,446 and 9,914,179, which are assigned to
Hillman Group, and seeks damages and injunctive relief against KeyMe. After the United States Patent and Trademark Office issued U.S. Patent No. 10,400,474 to Hillman
Group on September 3, 2019, Hillman Group filed a motion the same day to amend its initial complaint to add the new patent to the litigation. The Texas court granted the
motion on September 13, 2019. KeyMe filed two motions in the case on July 25, 2019, the first seeking to dismiss Hillman Group's complaint under Rule 12(b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for improper venue, or in the alternative, to move the case from Marshall, Texas to the Southern District of New York. KeyMe’s second
motion seeks to transfer the venue of the case from Texas to New York under 28 U.S.C. § 1404. Subsequently, Hillman Group filed a motion on September 4, 2019 to
disqualify KeyMe's counsel Cooley LLP from the litigation due to Cooley's concurrent and prior representation of Hillman Group and predecessor-in-interest MinuteKey
Holdings, Inc ("MinuteKey"). Hillman Group served its initial infringement contentions for the patents-in-suit on KeyMe on September 6, 2019, and KeyMe served its initial
invalidity and unenforceability contentions for the patents-in-suit on Hillman Group on November 15, 2019. The parties filed a joint claim construction statement with the Court
on January 31, 2020, setting forth the disputed constructions of terms and phrases recited in the asserted claims of the patents-in-suit. On February 14, 2020, the Court granted
Hillman Group’s motion to disqualify Cooley LLP, and denied KeyMe’s pending venue-related motion to dismiss and motion to transfer without prejudice to refiling. The case
was stayed until March 30, 2020 to permit KeyMe to retain new legal counsel. The parties filed a joint status report on March 25, 2020, and on March 27, 2020, the Texas Court
set a new case schedule with a trial in early December 2020. On April 14, 2020, KeyMe re-filed a single motion to dismiss for improper venue, or in the alternative, to transfer
the case to the Southern District of New York.After an oral hearing held on September 30, 2020, the Texas Court denied KeyMe’s motion to dismiss on November 13, 2020.
The Texas Court conducted a claim construction hearing in Marshall, TX, on June 23, 2020 to construe various disputed claim terms of the three patents-in-suit, and issued a
claim construction order on July 2, 2020. On August 31, 2020, KeyMe filed two motions for partial summary judgment on portions of the case, and also filed a motion
objecting to portions of the testimony of one of Hillman Group’s technical expert witnesses. As of the date of this filing, those motions remain pending before the Texas Court.
On March 2, 2020, Hillman Group filed a second complaint for patent infringement against KeyMe in the same Texas Court, alleging that KeyMe’s key duplication kiosks
infringe Hillman Group’s U.S. Patent No. 10,577,830. The case was assigned Civil Action No. 2:20-cv-0070. Hillman Group added a second patent to the case, U.S. Patent No.
10,628,813, upon that patent's issuance on April 21, 2020. Upon issuance of U.S. Patent No. 10,737,336 to Hillman Group on August 10, 2020, Hillman Group moved for leave
of Court to add that patent to the case; however, KeyMe opposed the motion.
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KeyMe filed a motion to consolidate the two Texas patent cases involving KeyMe and Hillman Group on April 14, 2020. In addition, on April 30, 2020, KeyMe filed a
substantially identical motion to dismiss the case for improper venue, or in the alternative, to transfer the case to the Southern District of New York. The Texas Court heard oral
argument on the motion to consolidate, the motion to dismiss, and Hillman Group’s motion to add the ’336 patent on September 30, 2020. On October 23, 2020, the Texas
Court granted KeyMe’s motion to consolidate the two Texas cases, and granted Hillman Group’s motion to add the ’336 patent. The Texas Court denied KeyMe’s motion to
dismiss on November 13, 2020. On November 18, 2020, the Texas Court issued a new case schedule for the consolidated case, setting a trial date of April 5, 2021 for the sixpatent case. The parties stipulated in November, 2020 that no new claim construction hearing would be held, and that selected constructions from the 2:19-cv-209 action that
pertained to claims in the 2:20-cv-0070 action would govern. Fact discovery closed in the consolidated case on December 21, 2020, and expert discovery closed on January 22,
2021. The parties are preparing for a trial in April.
On January 25, 2021, KeyMe filed a second summary judgement motion for a judgement of no willful infringement, and also filed another motion objecting to portions of the
testimony of one of Hillman Group's technical expert witnesses. As of the date of this filing, those motions remain pending before the Texas Court.
On September 9, 2020, the parties conducted a mediation before Ret. District Judge David Folsom of the U.S. District Court of the Eastern District of Texas. Though
substantive discussion took place, no agreement on resolution of the litigation was reached.
On August 16, 2019, KeyMe filed a complaint for patent infringement against Hillman Group in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. KeyMe alleges
that Hillman Group’s KeyKrafter key duplication machines and MinuteKey self-service key duplication kiosks infringe KeyMe’s U.S. Patent No. 8,682,468 when those
machines are used in conjunction with Hillman Group’s KeyHero system. KeyMe seeks damages and injunctive relief against Hillman Group. Hillman Group filed an answer to
KeyMe’s complaint on October 23, 2019, and asserted counterclaims seeking declaratory judgments of invalidity and noninfringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,682,468. On May 4,
2020, the Delaware Court entered a scheduling order setting trial for November 2021. KeyMe served its initial infringement contentions on June 11, 2020, with Hillman Group
serving its initial invalidity contentions on July 16, 2020. The Delaware Court held a claim construction hearing on November 24, 2020, and issued its claim construction order
on January 25, 2021. Fact discovery closed in the Delaware case on January 28, 2021. KeyMe served its final infringement contentions on January 4, 2021; Hillman Group
served its final invalidity contentions on January 18, 2021. Expert discovery is currently underway through April 8, 2021.
Management and legal counsel for the Company are of the opinion that KeyMe's claim is without merit and the Company should prevail in defending the suit. The Company is
unable to estimate the possible loss or range of loss at this early stage in the case.
In addition, legal proceedings are pending which are either in the ordinary course of business or incidental to the Company's business. Those legal proceedings incidental to the
business of the Company are generally not covered by insurance or other indemnity. In the opinion of the Company's management, the ultimate resolution of the pending
litigation matters will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, operations, or cash flows of the Company.

16. Statement of Cash Flows:
Supplemental disclosures of cash flows information are presented below:
Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest on junior subordinated debentures
Interest
Income taxes, net of refunds

$
$
$

81

12,329
81,024
(301)

Year Ended
December 28, 2019
$
$
$

11,211
94,461
(489)

Year Ended
December 29, 2018
$
$
$

12,230
56,879
1,027
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17. Quarterly Data (unaudited):
2020
Net sales
Income from operations
Net income (loss)
2019
Net sales
Income (loss) from operations
Net loss

First
As Restated
295,836
9,446
(14,804)

Second
As Restated
346,710
20,728
(5,037)

Third
As Restated
398,680
35,102
9,304

First
As Restated
287,659
265
(22,939)

Second
As Restated
324,628
8,546
(17,746)

Third
As Restated
317,277
9,952
(14,068)

Fourth

Total

327,069
490
(13,962)

1,368,295
65,766
(24,499)

Fourth
As Restated
284,798
(11,068)
(30,726)

Total
As Restated
1,214,362
7,695
(85,479)

Correction of Previously Issued Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for Income Tax Accounting Errors
As a result of the corrections of the income tax accounting errors disclosed in Note 1 - Basis of Presentation, the Company has also corrected previously disclosed unaudited
condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the thirteen and thirty-nine week periods ended March 30, 2019, March 28, 2020, June 29, 2019, June
27, 2020, September 28, 2019, and September 26, 2020, and the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets as of March 30, 2019, March 28, 2020, June 29, 2019, June
27, 2020, September 28, 2019, and September 26, 2020. Relevant restated financial information for the impacted quarterly periods is included in this Annual Report 10-K in
the schedules below. The unaudited interim financial statements reflect all adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of results for the
interim periods presented.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Income tax (benefit) expense
Net income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

Income tax (benefit) expense
Net loss
Comprehensive loss

$

$

Thirteen Weeks Ended
March 28, 2020
As
As
Reported
Restated
(9,290) $
(4,237) $
(9,751)
(14,804)
(20,964)
(26,017)

Thirteen Weeks Ended
June 27, 2020
As
As
Reported
Restated
(1,703) $
(895) $
(4,229)
(5,037)
(586)
(1,394)

Thirteen Weeks Ended
September 26, 2020
As
As
Reported
Restated
1,400 $
2,758
10,662
9,304
13,732
12,374

Thirteen Weeks Ended
March 30, 2019
As
As
Reported
Restated
4,800 $
(7,529) $
(35,268)
(22,939)
(32,489)
(20,160)

Thirteen Weeks Ended
June 29, 2019
As
As
Reported
Restated
(2,869) $
(4,619) $
(19,496)
(17,746)
(16,949)
(15,199)

Thirteen Weeks Ended
September 28, 2019
As
As
Reported
Restated
(3,775) $
(4,234)
(14,526)
(14,068)
(16,231)
(15,772)

82

THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands)

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

Goodwill
Total Assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholder's equity
Total liabilities and stockholder's equity

Goodwill
Total Assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholder's equity
Total liabilities and stockholder's equity

$

$

As of March 28, 2020
As
As
Reported
Restated
816,299 $
813,072 $
2,433,512
2,430,285
188,817
161,776
2,108,229
2,081,188
(185,968)
(162,154)
325,283
349,097
2,433,512
2,430,285

As of June 27, 2020
As
As
Reported
Restated
817,099 $
813,872 $
2,450,502
2,447,275
186,892
160,659
2,124,281
2,098,048
(190,197)
(167,191)
326,221
349,227
2,450,502
2,447,275

As of September 26, 2020
As
As
Reported
Restated
817,781 $
814,554
2,474,681
2,471,454
187,938
163,063
2,133,579
2,108,704
(179,535)
(157,887)
341,102
362,750
2,474,681
2,471,454

As of March 30, 2019
As
As
Reported
Restated
804,661 $
801,434 $
2,468,418
2,465,191
205,153
178,637
2,061,439
2,034,923
(108,099)
(84,810)
406,979
430,268
2,468,418
2,465,191

As of June 29, 2019
As
As
Reported
Restated
806,031 $
802,804 $
2,464,586
2,461,359
202,739
174,473
2,074,255
2,045,989
(127,595)
(102,557)
390,331
415,369
2,464,586
2,461,359

As of September 28, 2019
As
As
Reported
Restated
818,534 $
815,307
2,479,864
2,476,637
198,864
170,139
2,103,770
2,075,045
(142,121)
(116,624)
376,094
401,591
2,479,864
2,476,637

18. Concentration of Credit Risks:
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables. The Company
places its cash and cash equivalents with high credit quality financial institutions. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to sales and trade receivables are limited due to the
large number of customers comprising the Company's customer base and their dispersion across geographic areas. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its
customers' financial condition and generally does not require collateral.
For the year ended December 26, 2020, the largest two customers accounted for49.1% of total revenues and 45.1% of the year-end accounts receivable balance. For the year
ended December 28, 2019, the largest two customers accounted for 46.3% of total revenues and 43.2% of the year-end accounts receivable balance. No other customer
accounted for more than 10% of the Company's accounts receivables in 2020, 2019, nor 2018.
In each of the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, the Company derived over 10% of its total revenues from two separate customers
which operated in each of the operating segments. The following table presents revenue from each customer as percentage of total revenue for each of the years ended:

Lowe's
Home Depot

Year Ended December 26,
2020
22.5%
26.5%
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Year Ended December 28,
2019
21.6%
24.7%

Year Ended December 29,
2018
22.0%
21.8%
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19. Segment Reporting and Geographic Information:
The Company's segment reporting structure uses the Company's management reporting structure as the foundation for how the Company manages its business. The Company
periodically evaluates its segment reporting structure in accordance with ASC 350-20-55 and has concluded that it has three reportable segments as of December 26, 2020.
The segments are as follows:
•
•
•

Hardware and Protective Solutions
Robotics and Digital Solutions
Canada

The Hardware and Protective Solutions segment distributes fasteners and related hardware items, threaded rod, personal protective equipment, and letters, numbers, and signs to
hardware stores, home centers, mass merchants, and other retail outlets primarily in the United States and Mexico.
The Robotics and Digital Solutions segment consists of key duplication and engraving kiosks that can be operated directly by the consumer. The kiosks operate in retail and
other high-traffic locations offering customized licensed and unlicensed products targeted to consumers in the respective locations. It also includes our associate-assisted key
duplication systems and key accessories. The Robotics and Digital Solutions segment also includes Resharp, our robotic knife sharpening business, and Instafob, which
specializes in RFID key duplication technology.
The Canada segment distributes fasteners and related hardware items, threaded rod, keys, key duplicating systems, accessories, personal protective equipment, and
identification items, such as tags and letters, numbers, and signs to hardware stores, home centers, mass merchants, industrial distributors, automotive aftermarket distributors,
and other retail outlets and industrial Original Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMs”) in Canada. The Canada segment also produces fasteners, stampings, fittings, and processes
threaded parts for automotive suppliers and industrial OEMs.
The Company uses profit or loss from operations to evaluate the performance of its segments, and does not include segment assets or non-operating income/expense items for
management reporting purposes. Profit or loss from operations is defined as income from operations before interest and tax expenses. Segment revenue excludes sales between
segments, which is consistent with the segment revenue information provided to the Company's chief operating decision maker ("CODM").
In the year ended December 29, 2018 the Company acquired Minute Key and Big Time (see Note 5 - Acquisitions of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information). Minute Key is included in our Robotics and Digital Solutions segment while Big Time is included in our Hardware and Protective Solutions segment.
The table below presents revenues and income (loss) from operations for the reportable segments for the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and
December 29, 2018.
Year Ended
December 26, 2020
Revenues
Hardware and Protective Solutions
Robotics and Digital Solutions
Canada
Total revenues

$

$

Segment Income (Loss) from Operations
Hardware and Protective Solutions
Robotics and Digital Solutions
Canada
Total segment income from operations

$

$
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Year Ended
December 28, 2019

1,024,392
209,287
134,616
1,368,295

$

67,313
3,177
(4,724)
65,766

$

$

$

Year Ended
December 29, 2018

853,016
236,086
125,260
1,214,362

$

14,204
3,385
(9,894)
7,695

$

$

$

636,717
196,043
141,415
974,175
18,555
17,705
(8,817)
27,443

THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands)

20. Subsequent Events
On January 24, 2021, the Company’s parent, HMan Group Holdings, Inc., and Landcadia Holdings III, Inc. ("Landcadia"), a special purpose acquisition company ("SPAC")
entered into an agreement ("Merger Agreement") whereby the Parent would become a wholly owned subsidiary of Landcadia for the consideration of $911.3 million upon
approval of the Landcadia shareholders and will be accounted for as a reverse acquisition resulting in a recapitalization of HMan Group Holdings. Consideration would be a
combination of roll-over equity by current Company shareholders, new share purchases by Landcadia SPAC participants, cash from a new credit agreement and refinancing of
existing credit facilities of the Company. A full description of the proposed acquisition terms may be found in the Landcadia Proxy Statement dated February 3, 2021 (the
“Proxy”) filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), which is available on www.sec.gov.
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Financial Statement Schedule:
Schedule II - VALUATION ACCOUNTS
(dollars in thousands)
Deducted From
Assets in
Balance Sheet
Allowance for
Doubtful
Accounts
Ending Balance - December 30, 2017
Additions charged to cost and expense
Deductions due to:
Others
Ending Balance - December 29, 2018
Additions charged to cost and expense
Deductions due to:
Others
Ending Balance - December 28, 2019
Additions charged to cost and expense
Deductions due to:
Others
Ending Balance - December 26, 2020

$

1,121
(40)
(235)
846
790
255
1,891
1,378

$

86

(874)
2,395

Item 9 – Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A – Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are those
controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that material information relating to The Hillman Companies, Inc. required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management,
including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that
evaluation, the Company's chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that because of the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting
described below, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 26, 2020 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed
in our reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. We view our internal control over financial reporting as an integral part of our disclosure controls and procedures.
Management performed additional analysis and other post-closing procedures as of December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019 and for each of the three years in the period
ended December 26, 2020, to ensure the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“U.S. GAAP”), including reviewing the accounting for deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Management has concluded that, notwithstanding the material weakness described below, the company’s consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K fairly present, in
all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of the dates, and for the periods presented, in conformity with U.S. GAAP.
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange
Act. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Commission, internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company's
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the Company's Board of Directors, management, and other
personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
•

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and the dispositions of assets;

•

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with appropriate authorizations; and

•

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material
effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective
can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
The Company's management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 26, 2020, using the criteria set forth by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013 framework).
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A material weakness, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2, is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
As a result of this assessment, management concluded that we did not design and maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of the accounting for, and
disclosure of, the valuation allowance against deferred income taxes. The material weakness resulted in material errors in the application of certain provisions of the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act of 2017 (“2017 Tax Act”) related to the IRC §163(j) interest limitation (Interest Limitation). This material weakness resulted in material errors in our income tax
benefit and deferred tax liabilities that were corrected through the restatement of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 28, 2019 and
December 29, 2018. Additionally, this material weakness could result in misstatements to the aforementioned account balances or disclosures that would result in a material
misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.
As a result of the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described above, management has concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 26, 2020. Management's report on internal control over financial reporting is set forth above under the heading, “Report of Management
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” in Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.
Management's Plan for Remediation of the Material Weakness
In response to the material weakness described above, management implemented changes to its internal control over financial reporting to remediate the control deficiencies
that gave rise to the material weakness. Those changes included the engagement of third party consultants to assist with technical tax accounting research and application of
guidance, the addition of a committee to review technical accounting issues and ensure we have the appropriate subject matter experts engaged, and hiring additional personnel
in our tax department.
While significant progress has been made to enhance our internal control over financial reporting, we are still in the process of testing these recently implemented processes,
procedures, and controls. Additional time is required to complete the assessment to ensure the sustainability of these procedures. We believe the above actions will be effective
in remediating the material weaknesses described above. However, the material weaknesses cannot be considered remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a
sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively.
The remediation efforts are intended both to address the identified material weakness and to enhance our overall financial control environment. Management is committed to
continuous improvement of the company’s internal control over financial reporting and will continue to diligently review the company’s internal control over financial
reporting.
Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
This annual report does not contain an attestation report of the Company's independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.
Management's report was not subject to attestation by the Company's independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Commission that permit the
Company to provide only management's report in this annual report.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
There were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that occurred during
the quarter ended December 26, 2020, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting except
as otherwise described above in this Item 9A.
Item 9B – Other Information.
None.
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PART III
Item 10 – Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance.
The following is a summary of the biographies for at least the last five years of Hillman's directors and officers.
Directors
Name and Age

Douglas J. Cahill (61)

Max W. Hillman, Jr. (74)

Aaron P. Jagdfeld (49)

Kevin M. Mailender (43)

Position and Five-year Employment History

President and Chief Executive Officer of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and The Hillman Group, Inc. since
September 2019, director since June 2014 and Chairman of our board of directors since September 2014. Mr. Cahill
joined Hillman on July 25, 2019 as Executive Chairman, Senior Executive Officer. Prior to joining Hillman, Mr.
Cahill was a Managing Director of CCMP from July 2014 to July 2019 and was a member of CCMP's Investment
Committee and previously was an Executive Adviser of CCMP from March 2013. Mr. Cahill served as President
and Chief Executive Officer of Oreck, the manufacturer of upright vacuums and cleaning products, from May 2010
until December 2012. Prior to joining Oreck, Mr. Cahill served for eight years as President and Chief Executive
Officer of Doane Pet Care Company, a private label manufacturer of pet food and former CCMP portfolio company,
through to its sale to MARS Inc. in 2006. From 2006 to 2009 Mr. Cahill served as president of Mars Petcare U.S..
Prior to joining Doane in 1997, Mr. Cahill spent 13 years at Olin Corporation, a diversified manufacturer of metal
and chemicals, where he served in a variety of managerial and executive roles. Mr. Cahill serves as a Board Member
for Junior Achievement of Middle Tennessee and the Visitor Board at Vanderbilt University's Owen Graduate
School of Management. In January 2009, Mr. Cahill was appointed as an Adviser to Mars Incorporated. Mr. Cahill
previously served as a director of Banfield Pet Hospital from 2006 to 2016, Ollie’s Bargain Outlet from 2013 to
2016, Jamieson Laboratories from 2014 to 2017, Founder Sport Group from 2016 to 2019, and Shoes for Crews
from 2015 to 2019. Mr. Cahill serves as the Chairman of our board of directors due to his financial, investment, and
extensive management experience.
Mr. Hillman has served as director since September 2001. Prior to retirement from his executive position, effective
July 1, 2013, Mr. Hillman was President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the Board of Directors of
Hillman and Chief Executive Officer of Hillman Group. Mr. Hillman currently serves on the boards of Sunsource
Technology Services Inc., and LEM Products. Mr. Hillman previously served as a director of State Industrial
Products from 2006 to 2011; and on Woodstream Corp. from 2007 to 2015; and Westchester Holdings from 2012
to 2019. Mr. Hillman's qualifications to sit on our board of directors include his former roles as President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Co-Chief Executive Officer of Hillman Group.
Mr. Jagdfeld has served as director since August 2014. Mr. Jagdfeld has been the President and Chief Executive
Officer of Generac Power Systems, Inc. since September 2008 and a director of Generac since November 2006. Mr.
Jagdfeld began his career at Generac in the finance department in 1994 and became Generac's Chief Financial
Officer in 2002. In 2007, he was appointed President and was responsible for sales, marketing, engineering, and
product development. Prior to joining Generac, Mr. Jagdfeld worked in the audit practice of the Milwaukee,
Wisconsin office of Deloitte & Touche from 1993 to 1994. Mr. Jagdfeld was selected to serve on our board of
directors due to his extensive management and financial experience.
Mr. Mailender served as director since May 2010. Mr. Mailender was a Partner of Oak Hill Capital Management
since 2013 (where he has been employed since 2002). Mr. Mailender was a member of Oak Hill Capital
Management's investment committee. Mr. Mailender served on the boards of Earth Fare and Checkers Drive-In
Restaurants. Mr. Mailender previously served as a director of Berlin Packaging from 2014 to 2017, Dave & Buster’s
Entertainment, Inc. from 2010 to 2016 and the IMAGINE Group from 2016 to 2019. Mr. Mailender was selected to
serve on our board of directors due to his financial, investment, and business experience. Mr. Mailender resigned
from our board effective December 31, 2020.
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Name and Age

David A. Owens (58)
Joseph M. Scharfenberger, Jr. (49)

Kristin S. Steen (37)

Tyler J. Wolfram (54)

Philip K. Woodlief (67)

Richard F. Zannino (62)

Position and Five-year Employment History

Mr. Owens has served as a director since April 2018. Mr. Owens has been a Professor at Vanderbilt University's Owen
Graduate School of Business since August 2009. At Vanderbilt, Mr. Owens has taught The Practice of Management.
Mr. Owens was selected to serve on our board of directors due to his financial and business experience.
Mr. Scharfenberger has served as director since June 2015. Mr. Scharfenberger has been a Managing Director of CCMP
since July 2009 and is a member of CCMP's Investment Committee. Prior to joining CCMP, Mr. Scharfenberger worked
at Bear Stearns Merchant Banking. Prior to joining Bear Stearns Merchant Banking, Mr. Scharfenberger worked in the
private equity division at Toronto Dominion Securities. Mr. Scharfenberger currently serves on the boards of Badger
Sportswear, Jetro Cash & Carry, Shoes for Crews, and Truck Hero, Inc. Mr. Scharfenberger previously served as a director
of Jamieson Laboratories from 2014 to 2017. Mr. Scharfenberger was selected to serve on our board of directors due to his
financial, investment, and business experience.
Ms. Steen is a Managing Director in the New York office of CCMP Capital. Prior to joining CCMP in June 2011 she
worked for affiliates of Lone Star Funds and HBK Capital Management. She also worked at CCMP from 2005 to 2008.
Ms. Steen currently serves on the board of directors of Shoes For Crews. Ms. Steen was selected to serve on our board of
directors due to her financial, investment, and business experience.
Mr. Wolfram has served as director since May 2010. Mr. Wolfram has been the Chief Executive Officer of Oak Hill
Capital Management since 2018, Managing Partner since 2013 and Partner since 2002. Mr. Wolfram is Chairman of Oak
Hill's Investment Committee. Mr. Wolfram currently serves on the boards of Berlin Packaging, Checkers Drive- In
Restaurants, and The IMAGINE Group. Mr. Wolfram previously served as a director of Duane Reade Holdings, Inc. from
2004 to 2010, NSA International, Inc. from 2006 to 2013, and Dave & Buster's Entertainment, Inc. from 2010 to 2016.
Mr. Wolfram was selected to serve on our board of directors due to his financial, investment, and business experience.
Mr. Woodlief has served as director since February 2015. Mr. Woodlief has been an independent financial consultant
since 2007 and an Adjunct Professor of Management at Vanderbilt University's Owen Graduate School of Business since
October 2010. At Vanderbilt, Mr. Woodlief has taught Financial Statement Research and Financial Statement Analysis.
Mr. Woodlief also currently serves as a Visiting Instructor of Accounting at Sewanee: The University of the South. Prior
to 2008, Mr. Woodlief was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Doane Pet Care, a global manufacturer of pet
products. Prior to 1998, Mr. Woodlief was Vice President and Corporate Controller of Insilco Corporation, a diversified
manufacturer of consumer and industrial products. Mr. Woodlief began his career in 1979 at KPMG Peat Marwick in
Houston, Texas, progressing to the Senior Manager level in the firm's Energy and Natural Resources practice. Mr.
Woodlief was a certified public accountant. Mr. Woodlief currently serves on the board of trustees, and chairs the
Finance Committee, of Sewanee St. Andrew’s School. Mr. Woodlief was selected to serve on our board of directors due
to his financial and business experience.
Mr. Zannino has served as director since August 2014. Mr. Zannino has been a Managing Director of CCMP since July
2009 and is a member of CCMP's Investment Committee. Prior to joining CCMP, Mr. Zannino was Chief Executive
Officer and a member of the board of directors of Dow Jones & Company. Mr. Zannino joined Dow Jones as Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in February 2001 before his promotion to Chief Operating Officer in July 2002
and to Chief Executive Officer and Director in February 2006. Prior to joining Dow Jones, Mr. Zannino was Executive
Vice President in charge of strategy, finance, M&A, technology, and a number of operating units at Liz Claiborne. Mr.
Zannino joined Liz Claiborne in 1998 as Chief Financial Officer. In 1998, Mr. Zannino served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of General Signal. From 1993 until early 1998, Mr. Zannino was at Saks Fifth
Avenue, ultimately serving as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Zannino currently serves on the
boards of Ollie's Bargain Outlet, Estee Lauder Companies, IAC/InterActiveCorp., Badger Sportswear, Shoes for Crews,
Truck Hero, Inc., and Eating Recovery Center and is a trustee of Pace University. Mr. Zannino previously served as a
director of Jamieson Laboratories from 2014 to 2017. Mr. Zannino was selected to serve on our board of directors due to
his financial, investment, and business experience.

All directors hold office until their successors are duly elected and qualified.
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Committees
The Company is a controlled company within the meaning of the NYSE Amex listing standards because an affiliate of CCMP owns more than 50% of the outstanding shares of
the Company's common voting stock. Accordingly, the Company is exempt from the requirements of the NYSE Amex listing standards to maintain a majority of independent
directors on the Company's Board of Directors and to have a Nominating Committee and a Compensation Committee composed entirely of independent directors.
The Company does not have a Nominating Committee, but it does have a Compensation Committee. The Board of Directors believes that it is not necessary to utilize a
Nominating Committee. Director nominees for the Company are selected by the Board of Directors following receipt of recommendations of potential candidates from the
Chairman of the Board of the Company. The Board of Directors is not limited by the recommendation of the Chairman and may select other nominees. There is no charter
setting forth these procedures and the board of directors has no policy regarding the consideration of any director candidates recommended by shareholders. While the Board of
Directors does not have a formal policy on diversity, it will consider issues of diversity, including diversity of gender, race, and national origin, education, professional
experiences, and differences in viewpoints and skills when filling vacancies on the Board of Directors.
The current members of the Audit Committee are Aaron Jagdfeld and Philip K. Woodlief, both of whom are considered independent under the Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC") standards and the NYSE AMEX listing standards. In addition, Kevin M. Mailender and Richard F. Zannino have observer rights with the Audit
Committee. The Company has previously received an exemption from AMEX to Section 121 of the AMEX Company Guide that requires the Audit Committee to have three
members. The Board of Directors has determined that each of Messrs. Jagdfeld and Woodlief as an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of applicable rules of
the SEC.
Risk Oversight and Board Structure
The Board of Directors executes its oversight responsibility for risk management with the assistance of its Audit Committee and Compensation Committee. The Audit
Committee oversees the Company's risk management activities, generally, and is charged with reviewing and discussing with management the Company's major risk exposures
and the steps management has taken to monitor, control, and manage these exposures. The Audit Committee's meeting agendas include discussions of individual risk areas
throughout the year, as well as an annual summary of the risk management process, including the Company's risk assessment and risk management guidelines. The
Compensation Committee oversees the Company's compensation policies generally to determine whether they create risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse
effect on the Company. The Audit Committee and Compensation Committee report the results of their oversight activities to the Board of Directors.
The Compensation Committee has conducted a comprehensive review of the Company's compensation structure from the perspective of enterprise risk management and the
design and operation of its executive and employee compensation plans, policies, and arrangements generally, including the performance objectives and target levels used in
connection with our annual performance-based bonuses and stock option awards. The Compensation Committee has concluded that there are no risks arising from the
Company's compensation policies and practices for its employees that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company. Our compensation program as a
whole does not encourage or incentivize our executives or other employees to take unnecessary and excessive risks or engage in other activities and behavior that threaten the
value of the Company or the investments of its shareholders, as evidenced by the following design features that we believe mitigate risk taking.
Base Salaries
Base salaries are fixed in amount and thus do not encourage risk taking.
Annual Performance Based Bonuses
The Compensation Committee believes that the Company's annual bonus program is structured to appropriately balance risk and the desire to focus executives on specific shortterm goals important to the Company's success. While specific performance criteria are set and communicated in advance, the Company does not consider that the pursuit of
these objectives may encourage unnecessary or excessive risk taking or lead to behaviors that focus executives on their individual enrichment rather than the Company's longterm welfare.
Stock Options and Restricted Stock
Employees are also eligible to receive stock options to acquire Holdco common stock under the HMAN Group Holdings Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Equity
Incentive Plan”). The 2014 Equity Incentive Plan is administered by the Holdco Board of Directors. In fiscal year 2020, the Holdco Board of Directors granted 11,607 options
to employees. These option
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grants included options subject to service-vesting (in four equal annual installments beginning on the grant date), with possible acceleration upon a change of control. Since the
vesting is staggered and in some cases tied directly to long-term performance, employees should not be incentivized to achieve only short-term increases in stock price.
Additionally, executives are also eligible to receive discretionary grants of restricted shares.
Code of Ethics
The Company has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics which applies to its directors, senior officers, including its Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial
Officer, as well as every employee of the Company. The Company's code of business conduct and ethics can be accessed at its website at www.hillmangroup.com. Information
contained or linked on our website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report and should not be considered a part of this annual report. The Company will disclose
amendments to or waivers from a provision of the code of business conduct and ethics on Form 8-K.
Executive Officers
The executive officers of the Company (including the executive officers of The Hillman Group, Inc. and The Hillman Group Canada ULC, wholly-owned indirect subsidiaries
of the Company) are set forth below:
Name and Age

Position with the Company; Five-year Employment History

Douglas J. Cahill (61)

President and Chief Executive Officer of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and The Hillman Group, Inc. since September 2019,
director since June 2014 and Chairman of our board of directors since September 2014. Mr. Cahill joined Hillman on July 25,
2019 as Executive Chairman, Senior Executive Officer. Prior to joining Hillman, Mr. Cahill was a Managing Director of CCMP
from July 2014 to July 2019 and was a member of CCMP's Investment Committee and previously was an Executive Adviser of
CCMP from March 2013. Mr. Cahill served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Oreck, the manufacturer of upright
vacuums and cleaning products, from May 2010 until December 2012. Prior to joining Oreck, Mr. Cahill served for eight years as
President and Chief Executive Officer of Doane Pet Care Company, a private label manufacturer of pet food and former CCMP
portfolio company, through to its sale to MARS Inc. in 2006. From 2006 to 2009 Mr. Cahill served as president of Mars Petcare
U.S.. Prior to joining Doane in 1997, Mr. Cahill spent 13 years at Olin Corporation, a diversified manufacturer of metal and
chemicals, where he served in a variety of managerial and executive roles. Mr. Cahill serves as a Board Member for Junior
Achievement of Middle Tennessee and the Visitor Board at Vanderbilt University's Owen Graduate School of Management. In
January 2009, Mr. Cahill was appointed as an Adviser to Mars Incorporated. Mr. Cahill previously served as a director of
Banfield Pet Hospital from 2006 to 2016, Ollie’s Bargain Outlet from 2013 to 2016, Jamieson Laboratories from 2014 to 2017,
Founder Sport Group from 2016 to 2019, and Shoes for Crews from 2015 to 2019. Mr. Cahill serves as the Chairman of our board
of directors due to his financial, investment, and extensive management experience.
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and The Hillman Group, Inc. since November 2017. Prior
to joining Hillman, Mr. Kraft served as the President of the Omnicare (Long Term Care) division, and an Executive Vice
President, of CVS Health Corporation from August 2015 to September 2017. From November 2010 to August 2015, Mr. Kraft
was Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Omnicare, Inc. Mr. Kraft began his career with
PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP in 1992, was admitted as a Partner in 2004, and is a certified public accountant (inactive). Mr.
Kraft currently serves on the board of Medpace Holdings, Inc.
Divisional President, Robotics and Digital Solutions of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and The Hillman Group, Inc. since August
2018. Prior to joining Hillman, Mr. Fagundo served as the President, and Chief Executive Officer of MinuteKey since June 2010.
Executive Vice President, Sales of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and The Hillman Group, Inc. since October 2019. Mr. Murphy
severed as Executive Vice President of Sales of our Big Time Products division from January 2018 - October 2019 and the
President of Home Depot Sales from March 2016- Jan 2018. Prior to joining Big Time Products, Mr. Murphy served as Senior
Director of Sales for Master lock from June 2007 - March 2016.
Divisional President, Personal Protective Solutions & Corporate Marketing of The Hillman Companies, Inc. and The Hillman
Group, Inc. since October 2019. Mr. Streng served as Executive Vice President Marketing & Operations of our Big Time
Products Division from 2018- 2019 and was the Senior Vice President of Marketing for Big Time Products from 2017-2018. Prior
to joining Big Time Products, Mr. Streng served as the Vice President of Brand Management and Development for Plano Synergy
from 2014-2017.

Robert O. Kraft (49)

Randall J. Fagundo (61)
George S. Murphy (55)

Jarrod T. Streng (41)

All executive officers hold office at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.
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Item 11 – Executive Compensation
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides an overview and analysis of our compensation programs, the compensation decisions we have made under these
programs, and the factors we considered in making these decisions with respect to the compensation earned by the following individuals, who as determined under the rules of
the SEC are collectively referred to herein as our named executive officers (“NEOs”) for fiscal year 2020:
•

Douglas J. Cahill, President and Chief Executive Officer

•

Robert O. Kraft, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

•

Randall J. Fagundo, Divisional President, Robotics and Digital Solutions

•

George S. Murphy, Executive Vice President, Sales

•

Jarrod T. Streng, Divisional President, Protective Solutions & Corporate Marketing

Overview of the Compensation Program
Compensation Philosophy
The objective of Hillman's corporate compensation and benefits program is to establish and maintain competitive total compensation programs that will attract, motivate, and
retain the qualified and skilled workforce necessary for the continued success of Hillman. To help align compensation paid to executive officers with the achievement of
corporate goals, Hillman has designed its cash compensation program as a pay-for-performance based system that rewards NEOs for their individual performance and
contribution in achieving corporate goals. In determining the components and levels of NEO compensation each year, the Compensation Committee of our board of directors
(our “compensation committee”) considers Company performance, and each individual's performance and potential to enhance long-term stockholder value. To remain
competitive, the compensation committee also periodically reviews compensation survey information published by various organizations as another factor in setting NEO
compensation. The compensation committee relies on judgment and does not have any formal guidelines or formulas for allocating between long-term and currently paid
compensation, cash and non-cash compensation, or among different forms of non-cash compensation for the Company's NEOs.
Components of Total Compensation
Compensation packages in 2020 for the Company's NEOs were comprised of the following elements:

Short-Term Compensation Elements
Element

Role and Purpose

Base Salary

Attract and retain executives and reward their skills and contributions to the day-to-day management of
our Company.
Motivate the attainment of annual Company and division, financial, operational, and strategic goals by
paying bonuses determined by the achievement of specified performance targets with a performance
period of one year.
From time to time, the Company may award discretionary bonuses to compensate executives for special
contributions or extraordinary circumstances or events.

Annual Performance-Based Bonuses
Discretionary Bonuses
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Long-Term Compensation Elements
Element

Role and Purpose

Stock Options and other Equity-Based Awards

Motivate the attainment of long-term value creation, align executive interests with the interests of our
stockholders, create accountability for executives to enhance stockholder value, and promote long-term
retention through the use of multi-year vesting equity awards.
Align executive interests, create accountability and retain executives through the integration of Hillman’s
various acquisitions.
Promote long-term retention and align the interests of executives with stockholders by providing for
acceleration of equity vesting in the event of a change in control transaction.
We provide modest severance protection in the form of continued base salary and bonus payments in the
event of a termination of employment without cause or for good reason for individual NEOs, as described
below.

Long Term Cash Retention Plan
Severance and Change of Control Benefits
Severance Benefits

Benefits
Element

Role and Purpose

Employee Benefit Plans and Perquisites

Participation in Company-wide health and retirement benefit programs, provide financial security and
additional compensation commensurate with senior executive level duties and responsibilities.

Process
Role of the Compensation Committee and Management
The Compensation Committee meets annually to review and consider base salary and any proposed adjustments, prior year annual performance bonus results and targets for the
current year, and any long-term incentive awards. The Compensation Committee also reviews the compensation package for all new executive officer hires.
The key member of management involved in the compensation process is our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), Douglas J. Cahill. Our CEO presents recommendations for
each element of compensation for each NEO, other than himself, to the Compensation Committee, which in turn evaluates these goals and either approves or appropriately
revises them and presents them to the Board of Directors for review and approval. On an annual basis, a comprehensive report is provided by the CEO to the Compensation
Committee on all of Hillman's compensation programs.
Determination of CEO Compensation
The Compensation Committee determines the level of each element of compensation for our CEO and presents its recommendations to the full Board of Directors for review
and approval. Consistent with its determination process for other NEOs, the Compensation Committee considers a variety of factors when determining compensation for our
CEO, including past corporate and individual performance, general market survey data for similar size companies, and the degree to which the individual's contributions have
the potential to influence the outcome of the Company's short and long-term operating goals and alignment with shareholder value.
Assessment of Market Data and Use of Compensation Consultants
In establishing the compensation for each NEO, the Compensation Committee considers information about the compensation practices of companies both within and outside our
industry and geographic region, and considers evolving compensation trends and practices generally. The Compensation Committee periodically reviews third-party market data
published by various organizations such as the National Association of Manufacturers, the Compensation Data Manufacturing and Distribution Survey. The Compensation
Committee may review such survey data for market trends and developments, and utilize such data as one factor when making its annual compensation determinations. The
Compensation Committee does not typically use market data to establish specific targets for compensation or any particular component of compensation, and does not
otherwise numerically benchmark its compensation decisions. Rather, the Compensation Committee may review survey information
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about the type and amount of compensation paid to executives in similar positions and with similar responsibilities as reported on an aggregate basis for companies with
comparable sales volume and number of employees both within and outside its industry and geographic region. The Company did not utilize an executive compensation
consultant during fiscal years 2020, 2019, or 2018.
Short-Term Compensation Elements
Base Salary
Hillman believes that executive base salaries are an essential element to attract and retain talented and qualified executives. Base salaries are designed to provide financial
security and a minimum level of fixed compensation for services rendered to the Company. Base salary adjustments may reflect an individual's performance, experience, and/or
changes in job responsibilities. The Company also considers other compensation provided to its NEOs, such as the value of outstanding options, when determining base salary.
The rate of annual base salary for each NEO for fiscal years 2020, 2019, or 2018 are set forth below.

Name
Douglas J. Cahill (1)

2020 Base
Salary (2)
$
650,000

2019 Base Salary 2018 Base Salary
$
650,000 $
—

Robert O. Kraft

$

415,000

$

415,000

$

415,000

Randall J. Fagundo
George S. Murphy

$
$

330,000
350,000

$
$

286,000
350,000

$
$

286,000
350,000

Jarrod T. Streng

$

385,000

$

350,000

$

350,000

(1) Mr. Cahill was not an NEO in 2018; he was hired effective July 29, 2019 as Executive Chairman, Senior Executive Officer and promoted to President and Chief Executive
Officer effective September 16, 2019.
(2) Due to the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic, base salaries for Mr. Cahill, Mr. Kraft were reduced 10% on March 29, 2020. Base salaries for Mr. Cahill and Mr.
Kraft were further reduced to a 20% total reduction on April 20, 2020 and Mr. Fagundo's base salary was reduced by 20% on April 20, 2020. Base salaries were reinstated
on May 31, 2020 based on company performance.
The increase, if any, in base salary for each NEO for a fiscal year reflects each individual's particular skills, responsibilities, experience, and prior year performance. The fiscal
year 2020 base salary amounts were determined as part of the total compensation paid to each NEO and were not considered, by themselves, as fully compensating the NEOs for
their service to the Company.
Annual Performance-Based Bonuses
Pursuant to their employment agreements, each NEO is eligible to receive an annual cash bonus under the terms of a performance-based bonus plan. Each employment
agreement specifies an annual target and maximum bonus as a percentage of the NEO's annual base salary, which percentages may be adjusted (but not decreased below those
stated in the NEO's employment agreement) for any particular year in the Company's discretion. The specific performance criteria and performance goals are established
annually by our Compensation Committee in consultation with our CEO (other than with respect to himself) and approved by our Board of Directors. The performance targets
are communicated to the NEOs following formal approval by the Compensation Committee and Board of Directors, which is normally around March. The table below shows
the target bonus and maximum bonuses as a percentage of base salary for each NEO for 2020. Generally, the higher the level of responsibility of the NEO within the Company,
the greater the percentages of base salary applied for that individual's target and maximum bonus compensation.
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2020 Target and Maximum Bonus
Name
Douglas J. Cahill
Robert O. Kraft
Randall J. Fagundo
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

2020 Minimum Bonus as Percentage of Base
Salary
50%
30%
25%
25%
25%

2020 Target Bonus as Percentage of Base
Salary
100%
60%
50%
50%
50%

2020 Maximum Bonus as
Percentage of Base Salary
150%
90%
75%
75%
75%

Each NEO's annual bonus is determined based on actual performance in several categories of pre-established performance criteria as further described below. If actual results
for each performance category equal the specified target performance level, the total bonus is the target bonus shown above. If actual results for each performance category
equal or exceed the specified maximum performance level, the total bonus is the maximum bonus shown above. As described below, for some performance criteria, a portion of
the target bonus may be payable if actual results for that category are less than the target performance level but are at least equal to a specified threshold level of performance.
For 2020, the bonus criteria for all NEOs included two company performance goals measured by 1) our Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 26, 2020, which is our
consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization, as adjusted for non-recurring charges as shown in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section of
this proxy statement/prospectus, further adjusted for inventory valuation charges and expenses associated with the implementation of cost saving initiatives (“Compensation
Adjusted EBITDA”), and 2) our consolidated compensation cash flow, which is the change in cash plus the reduction in the revolver and the principle of the term loan during
the year ended December 26, 2020 (“Consolidated Compensation Cash Flow”). Bonus criteria for Mr. Murphy in 2020 included a gross sales target, which is our total sales to
certain of our national account customers during the year ended December 26, 2020, unadjusted for the costs related to those sales (“NAC Gross Sales”). Bonus criteria for Mr.
Streng included a segment-specific performance goal measured by Compensation Adjusted EBITDA, as described above, specific to the Hardware and Protective Solutions
segment of our business (“Protective Solutions EBITDA”). For the bonus to be funded, the Compensation Adjusted EBITDA target must meet the threshold. Once the
Compensation Adjusted EBITDA threshold is met, the final payout is dependent on the achievement of all metrics and their respective targets. Achievement at levels between
threshold and maximum will result in payments on a sliding scale.
The table below shows the performance criteria for fiscal year 2020 selected for each NEO and the relative weight of total target and maximum bonus assigned to each
component.
2020 Performance Criteria and Relative Weight
Name

Douglas J. Cahill
Robert O. Kraft
Randall J. Fagundo
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

Compensation Adjusted
EBITDA

Consolidated
CompensationCash Flow

Protective Solutions
EBITDA

NAC Gross Sales

70%
70%
70%
50%
50%

30%
30%
30%
20%
20%

—%
—%
—%
—%
30%

—%
—%
—%
30%
—%

Compensation Adjusted EBITDA, Consolidated Compensation Cash Flow, NAC Gross Sales and Protective Solutions EBITDA are non-GAAP measures. Please see refer to
the charts below for additional information, including our definitions and use of Adjusted EBITDA and segment Adjusted EBITDA, and for a reconciliation of those measures
to the most directly comparable financial measures under GAAP.
The threshold, target and maximum amounts and payout levels of each of the Consolidated EBITDA, Consolidated Compensation Cash Flow, Protective Solutions EBITDA
and NAC Gross Sales targets determinative of the annual bonus payouts to each of the NEOs are as follows (amounts in thousands):
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Metric
Compensation Adjusted EBITDA
Payout

$

Threshold (89%)
190,100
$
50 %

Target (100%)
213,000
$
100 %

Maximum (112%)
238,600
150 %

Metric
Consolidated Compensation Cash Flows
Payout

Threshold (64%)
20,200
$
50 %

Target (100%)

$

31,200
$
100 %

Maximum (164%)
51,200
150 %

Metric
NAC Gross Sales
Payout

$

Threshold (94%)
300,000
$
50 %

Target (100%)
316,300
$
100 %

Maximum (105%)
332,100
150 %

Metric
Protective Solutions EBITDA
Payout

Threshold (88%)
39,500
$
50 %

Target (100%)

$

Maximum (112%)
50,100
150 %

44,700
$
100 %

The level of performance actually achieved for the fiscal year ended December 26, 2020 in each of the above categories was as follows (amounts in thousands):
Metric
Compensation Adjusted EBITDA
Consolidated Compensation Cash Flows
NAC Gross Sales
Protective Solutions EBITDA

Target
$

Actual
213,000
31,200
316,300
44,700

$

224,100
53,155
351,800
66,063

Achievement as a % of Target
105.2 %
170.4 %
111.2 %
147.8 %

Resulting Payout
121.7
150.0
150.0
150.0

%
%
%
%

The annual bonus paid to each of our NEOs for the year ended December 26, 2020 was as follows:

Name
Douglas J. Cahill
Robert O. Kraft
Randall J. Fagundo
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

2020 Target Bonus
$
650,000
249,000
165,000
175,000
192,500

Actual Annual Bonus
Paid
$
846,235
324,173
214,814
237,738
261,512

% of Target Bonus
130.2 %
130.2 %
130.2 %
135.9 %
135.9 %

The following charts reconcile Compensation Adjusted EBITDA, Consolidated Cash Flow, and Protective Solutions EBITDA to their nearest GAAP measure. Please refer to
the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section of this filing for additional information, including our definitions and use of Adjusted EBITDA and segment Adjusted EBITDA,
and for a reconciliation of those measures to the most directly comparable financial measures under GAAP.
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Compensation Adjusted EBITDA
Amounts in Thousands

Net loss
Income tax (benefit) expense
Interest expense, net
Interest expense on junior subordinated debentures
Investment income on trust common securities
Depreciation
Amortization
Mark-to-market adjustment on interest rate swaps
EBITDA

$

Stock compensation expense
Management fees
Facility exits (1)
Restructuring (2)
Litigation expense (3)
Acquisition and integration expense (4)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Other non-recurring charges (5)
$

Compensation adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended
December 26, 2020
(24,499)
(9,439)
86,774
12,707
(378)
67,423
59,492
601
192,681
5,125
577
3,894
4,902
7,719
9,832
(3,515)
2,885
224,100

(1) Facility exits include costs associated with the closure of facilities in Parma, Ohio, San Antonio, Texas, and Dallas, Texas.
(2) Restructuring includes restructuring costs associated with restructuring in our Canada segment announced in 2018, including facility consolidation, stock keeping unit
rationalization, severance, sale of property and equipment, and charges relating to exiting certain lines of business. Also included is restructuring in our United Stated
business announced in 2019, including severance related to management realignment and the integration of sales and operating functions. See Note 14 - Restructuring of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. Finally, includes consulting and other costs associated with streamlining our
manufacturing and distribution operations.
(3) Litigation expense includes legal fees associated with our ongoing litigation with KeyMe, Inc. (see Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).
(4) Acquisition and integration expense includes professional fees, non-recurring bonuses, and other costs related to historical acquisitions.
(5) Consulting costs and other related costs associated with business improvements along with ongoing expenses associated with manufacturing lines that were temporarily
idle due to the pandemic.
Consolidated Compensation Cash Flow
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Amounts in Thousands
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Reduction in Debt
Repayments of senior term loans
Repayments of revolving term loans, net of borrowings

$

1,547

Consolidated Compensation Cash Flow

$

10,608
41,000
53,155

Protective Solutions EBITDA
Amounts in Thousands
Year Ended December 26, 2020
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization

$

Facility exits (1)
Acquisition and integration expense (2)
Other nonrecurring charges (3)
$

Adjusted EBITDA

50,574
14,999
1,551
113
(1,174)
66,063

(1) Facility exits include costs associated with the closure of facilities in San Antonio, Texas.
(2) Acquisition and integration expense includes professional fees, non-recurring bonuses, and other costs related to historical acquisitions.
(3) Consulting costs and other related costs associated with business improvements along with ongoing expenses associated with manufacturing lines that were temporarily
idle due to the pandemic.
Long-Term Compensation Elements
Stock Options and Restricted Shares
All equity awards are granted under the HMAN Group Holdings Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Equity Incentive Plan”), pursuant to which Holdco may grant
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and other stock-based awards for up to an aggregate of 94,195 stock options. The 2014 Equity Incentive Plan is administered
by the Compensation Committee. Such committee determines the terms of each stock-based award grant under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, except that the exercise price of
any granted options and the grant price of any granted stock appreciation rights may not be lower than the fair market value of one share of common stock of Holdco as of the
date of grant.
Our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan is designed to align the interests of our stockholders and executive officers by increasing the proprietary interest of our executive officers in our
growth and success to advance our interests by attracting and retaining key employees, and motivating such executives to act in our long-term best interests. We grant equity
awards to promote the success and enhance the value of the Company by providing participants with an incentive for outstanding performance. Equity-based awards also
provide the Company with the flexibility to motivate, attract, and retain the services of employees upon whose judgment, interest, and special effort the successful conduct of
our operation is largely dependent. In the year ended December 26, 2020, 3,880 stock options were granted to NEOs. On July 30, 2020, we granted 1,940 stock options to each
of Messrs. Kraft and Fagundo. These options were time-based awards which, beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date, vest 25% annually until fully vested on the
fourth anniversary of the grant date, subject to the optionee’s continued employment on each such vesting date.
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Long Term Cash Retention Plan
In 2018, we rolled out a long term cash retention incentive. The long term cash incentive plan ("LTCI") is designed to align executive interests, create accountability and retain
executives through the integration of Hillman’s various acquisitions. The LTCI is tied to the achievement of 2020 target EBITDA for our recently acquired businesses
(MinuteKey and Big Time) along with the core Hillman business. The LTCI was granted to executives involved with the integration of the acquired businesses. The table below
shows the LTCI payout amounts based on the achievement of threshold, target, and maximum 2020 EBITDA as defined by the plan.

2018 Long Term Cash Retention Plan Target and Maximum Bonus
Name
Robert O. Kraft
Randall J. Fagundo

Threshold ($)
500,000
737,000

Target ($)
1,000,000
1,474,000

Maximum ($)
1,500,000
2,211,000

The threshold, target and maximum amounts of target EBITDA, for MinuteKey and Big Time in respect of Mr. Kraft’s LTCI bonus and MinuteKey in respect of Mr. Fagundo’s
LTCI bonus, that determine the NEOs’ earning of their LTCI bonuses are as follows:
Name
Robert O. Kraft
Randall J. Fagundo

Threshold EBITDA ($)
62,000,000
22,000,000

Target EBITDA ($)
76,000,000
28,000,000

Maximum EBITDA ($)
90,000,000
34,000,000

In 2020, the LTCI plan was modified for certain executives. The modified LTCI plan is tied to the achievement of 2020 and 2021 EBITDA targets for Big Time. The table
below shows the LTCI payouts based on the achievement of target EBITDA in 2020 and target and maximum EBITDA in 2021 as defined by the plan.

Name
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

2020 Payout
Threshold ($)
1,500,000
1,500,000

2021 Payout
Target ($)
500,000
500,000

Maximum ($)
1,000,000
1,000,000

The target and maximum amounts of EBITDA targets that determine the NEOs’ earning of their LTCI bonuses are as follows:

Name
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

December 26, 2020
Target EBITDA ($)
62,000,000
62,000,000

Target EBITDA ($)
62,000,000
62,000,000

December 25, 2021
Maximum EBITDA ($)
70,400,000
70,400,000

Severance and Change in Control Benefits
The Company has entered into an employment agreement with each NEO that provides for severance payments and benefits in the event that his employment is terminated
under specified conditions including death, disability, termination by the Company without “cause,” or his resignation for “good reason” (each as defined in the agreements). In
addition, we have provided for certain equity acceleration benefits designed to assure the Company of the continued employment and attention and dedication to duty of these
key management employees and to seek to ensure the availability of their continued service, notwithstanding the possibility or occurrence of a change in control of the Company
and resultant employment termination. The severance payments and benefits payable both in the event of, and independently from, a change in control are in amounts that the
Company has determined are necessary to remain competitive in the marketplace for executive talent. See “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control” for
additional information.
Employee Benefit Plans and Perquisites
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Executives are eligible to participate in the same health and benefit plans generally available to all full-time employees, including health, dental, vision, term life, disability
insurance, and supplemental long term disability insurance. In addition, the NEOs are eligible to participate in the Company's Defined Contribution Plan (401(k) Plan) and the
Hillman Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, both described below.
Defined Contribution Plans
The Company's NEOs and most other full-time U.S. employees are covered under a 401(k) retirement savings plan (the “Defined Contribution Plan”) which permits employees
to make tax-deferred contributions and provides for a matching contribution of 50% of each dollar contributed by the employee up to 6% of the employee's compensation. In
addition, the Defined Contribution Plan provides a discretionary annual contribution in amounts authorized by the Board of Directors, subject to the terms and conditions of the
plan.
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan
All NEOs and certain other employees are eligible to participate in the Hillman Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Deferred Compensation Plan”). The Deferred
Compensation Plan allows eligible employees to defer up to 25% of salary and commissions and up to 100% of bonuses. The Company contributes a matching contribution of
25% on the first $10,000 of employee deferrals, subject to a five year vesting schedule.
Perquisites
Mr. Kraft, Mr. Fagundo, Mr. Murphy, and Mr. Streng are entitled to reimbursement for the reasonable expenses of leasing or buying a car up to $700, $700, $750, and $750,
respectively, per month.
Miscellaneous
The Company does not have any equity or security ownership guidelines for executives, including the NEOs. The Company considers the accounting and tax treatment of
particular forms of compensation awarded to NEOs as part of its overall review of compensation, but does not structure its compensation practices to comply with specific
accounting or tax treatment.

Compensation Committee Report
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K
with management. Based on this review and discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis
be included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 26, 2020 for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Respectfully submitted,
The Compensation Committee
Richard F. Zannino
Joseph M. Scharfenberger, Jr
Douglas J. Cahill
The information contained in the Compensation Committee Report above shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, except to the extent specifically incorporated by reference therein.
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Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth compensation that the Company's principal Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), principal Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), and each of the next
three highest paid executive officers of the Company, or the NEOs, earned during the years ended December 26, 2020, December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018 in each
executive capacity in which each NEO served. Mr. Cahill served as both an officer and director (upon joining Hillman in July 2019) but did not receive any compensation from
the Company with respect to his role as a director.

Name and
Principal Position
Douglas J. Cahill (6)
President and CEO
The Hillman Companies, Inc.

Robert O. Kraft (7)
CFO and Treasurer
The Hillman Companies, Inc.

Randall J. Fagundo (8)
Divisional President, Robotics and
Digital Solutions

George S. Murphy (9)
Executive Vice President, Sales, The
Hillman Companies, Inc.

Jarrod T. Streng (9)
Divisional President, Personal
Protective Solutions & Corporate
Marketing, The Hillman Companies,
Inc.

Year

Salary (1)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation(4)

Option
Awards (3)

Bonus(2)

2020 $

631,250 $

— $

— $

2019
2018

262,500

—

11,113,635

—

—

—

2020

403,029

—

2019
2018

415,000
415,000

—
—

2020

322,380

2019
2018

306,462
110,000

2020

Compensation - All
Other(5)

846,235 $

Total

100,776 $

1,578,261

190,249

1,500

11,567,884

—

—

—

748,158

1,824,173

23,905

2,999,265

—
257,692

171,150
—

17,945
17,907

604,095
690,599

748,158

1,234,822

21,198

2,326,558

—
116,250

—
216,461

104,225
—

60,684
33,000

471,371
475,711

350,000

68,513

—

1,737,738

21,364

2,177,615

2019
2018

347,308
87,500

50,000
—

—
177,672

12,142
104,890

1,268,493
3,593

1,677,943
373,655

2020

384,058

75,364

—

1,761,512

15,159

2,236,093

2019
2018

347,308
87,500

50,000
—

—
177,672

12,142
104,890

1,268,595
3,542

1,678,045
373,604

(1) Represents base salary paid including any deferral of salary into the Defined Contribution Plan and the Deferred Compensation Plan. Base salary adjustments are
dependent upon the executive performance for the prior year. Increases are be effective on the anniversary of the last increase, plus or minus three months. Due to the
uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic, base salaries for Mr. Cahill, Mr. Kraft were reduced 10% on March 29, 2020. Base salaries for Mr. Cahill and Mr. Kraft were
further reduced to a 20% total reduction on April 20, 2020 and Mr. Fagundo's base salary was reduced by 20% on April 20, 2020. Base salaries were reinstated on May 31,
2020 based on company performance.
(2) Other bonus payouts were discretionary based on the service of the executives for the years when annual bonus plan targets were not met. These discretionary bonuses are
presented in the table in the year in which the bonuses were earned. The payments were made in the subsequent year. In 2020, Mr. Murphy and Mr. Streng both received a
discretionary bonus based on their performance.
(3) The amount included in the “Option Awards” column represents the grant date fair value of options calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note 11 Stock Based Compensation, to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for details.
(4) Represents earned bonus for services rendered in each year and paid in the subsequent year based on achievement of performance goals under the performance-based
bonus arrangements. In 2020 this also includes payouts under the long
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term cash incentive plan of $1,500,000 for Mr. Kraft, Mr. Murphy and Mr. Streng, and $1,020,008 for Mr. Fagundo. See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—ShortTerm Compensation Elements—Annual Performance-Based Bonuses” above, for additional information.
(5) The amounts in this column consist of our matching contributions to the Defined Contribution Plan ($12,980 for Mr. Cahill, $13,005 for Mr. Kraft, $12,798 for Mr.
Fagundo, $3,659 for Mr. Streng and $12,364 for Mr. Murphy), our matching contributions to the Deferred Compensation Plan ($2,500 for each of Messrs. Kraft and
Streng), the car allowance for each NEO ($8,400 each for Messrs. Kraft and Fagundo and $9,000 each for Messrs. Streng and Murphy), and $87,769 in moving expenses
for Mr. Cahill. During each of the fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, there were no above market earnings in the Deferred Compensation Plan for any the NEOs
(6) Mr. Cahill was hired effective July 29, 2019 as Executive Chairman, Senior Executive Officer and promoted to President and Chief Executive Officer effective September
16, 2019
(7) Mr. Kraft was hired effective November 1, 2017.
(8) Mr. Fagundo was hired effective August 10, 2018.
(9) Mr. Murphy and Mr. Streng were hired effective October 1, 2018.
Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal Year 2020
The following table summarizes the plan-based incentive awards granted to NEOs in 2020:
Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Awards (1)
Name
Douglas J. Cahill
Robert O. Kraft
Randall J. Fagundo
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

Grant Date
4/22/2020
4/22/2020
7/30/2020
4/22/2020
7/30/2020
4/22/2020
4/22/2020

$

Minimum ($)
Target ($)
Maximum ($)
325,000 $
650,000 $
975,000
124,500
249,000
373,500
—
—
—
82,500
165,000
247,500
—
—
—
87,500
175,000
262,500
96,250
192,500
288,750

All Other Option
Awards: Number of
Securities Underlying
Options (#) (2)
—
—
1,940
—
1,940
—
—

Grant Date Fair
Value of Stock and
Exercise Price of Option Awards ($)
(3)
Option Awards ($)
—
—
—
—
1,300
748,158
—
—
1,300
748,158
—
—
—
—

(1) The amounts in this table granted on April 22, 2020, reflect the 2020 performance-based bonus awards that each NEO was eligible to receive pursuant to the terms of his
employment agreement and the Company's 2020 performance bonus plan. Each NEO's overall target and maximum performance-based bonus for 2020 was determined
as a percentage of base salary. See the description of Annual Performance Bonus in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a description of the specific
performance components and more detail regarding the determination of actual 2020 annual performance bonus and Incentive Bonus payments
(2) Represents grants of options pursuant to the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan.
(3) The amount included in this column represents the grant date fair value of options and restricted stock calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note 11
- Stock Based Compensation, to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for details.
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2020 Fiscal Year-End
The following table sets forth the number of unexercised options and unvested shares of restricted stock held by the NEOs at December 26, 2020.
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Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable
8,333.2500
1,125.0000
312.500
—
262.500
—
212.5000
212.5000

Name
Douglas J. Cahill
Robert O. Kraft

Randall J. Fagundo
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable
24,999.7500
375.0000
312.5000
1,940.0000
262.5000
1,940.0000
212.5000
212.5000

Option Awards (1)
Equity Incentive
Plan Awards;
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned Option
(#)

Option
Exercise
Price
($)
1,400
1,000
1,200
1,300
1,200
1,300
1,200
1,200

—
1,500.0000
625.0000
—
525.0000
—
425.0000
425.0000

Option
Expiration Date
7/29/2029
11/1/2027
8/30/2028
7/30/2030
8/10/2028
7/30/2030
10/1/2028
10/1/2028

(1) All stock options reported in the table above are options to acquire Holdco common stock granted under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. Pursuant to each NEO's stock
option award agreement (other than options granted to Mr. Cahill in 2019 and options granted to Mr. Kraft and Mr. Fagundo in 2020), these options were divided into
two equal vesting tranches. The first tranche is a time-based award which, beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date, vests 25% annually until fully vested on
the fourth anniversary of the grant date, subject to the optionee's continued employment on each such vesting date.
The second tranche of each stock option grant is performance-based. Subject to the optionee's continuous employment with the Company through the consummation of a
sale event, 100% of the performance-based options will vest if the CCMP stockholders receive proceeds resulting in a multiple on investment of at least 2.0. Options
granted to Mr. Cahill in 2019 and options granted to Mr. Kraft and Mr. Fagundo in 2020 do not contain the performance based vesting criteria and vest solely on the
time-based schedule described above.
Option Exercises and Stock Vested During Fiscal Year 2020
No NEO exercised any stock options during the year ended December 26, 2020. There were no other stock-based awards eligible for vesting during fiscal year 2020.
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for Fiscal Year 2020
The following table sets forth activity in the Deferred Compensation Plan for the NEOs for the year ended December 26, 2020:

Name

Douglas J. Cahill
Robert O. Kraft
Randall J. Fagundo
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

Company
Matching
Contributions(2)

Executive
Contributions(1)

$

—
12,091
—
—
11,514

$

—
2,500
—
—
2,500

Aggregate
Withdrawal/
Distributions

Aggregate
Earnings (3)

$

—
7,086
—
—
2,646

$

Aggregate
Balance at
12/26/2020 (4)

—
—
—
—
—

$

—
51,354
—
—
16,603

(1) The amounts in this column represent the deferral of base salary and annual performance bonuses. These amounts are also included in the Summary Compensation Table
in the Salary or Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation columns, as appropriate.
(2) The amounts in this column are also included in the Summary Compensation Table in the All Other Compensation column.
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(3) Earnings in the Deferred Compensation Plan were not at a level required to be included in the Summary Compensation Table.
(4) Amounts reported in this column for each NEO include amounts previously reported in the Company's Summary Compensation Table in previous years when earned if
that officer's compensation was required to be disclosed in a previous year. Amounts previously reported in such years include previously earned, but deferred, salary and
bonus and Company matching contributions. This total reflects the cumulative value of each NEO's deferrals, matching contributions, and investment experience.
All of our executives, including each of our NEOs, are eligible to participate in the Deferred Compensation Plan. The Deferred Compensation Plan allows eligible employees to
defer up to 25% of salary and commissions and up to 100% of bonuses. A separate account is maintained for each participant in the Deferred Compensation Plan, reflecting
hypothetical contributions, earnings, expenses, and gains or losses. The plan is “unfunded” for tax purposes – those are notional accounts and not held in trust. The Company
contributes a matching contribution of 25% on the first $10,000 of salary and bonus deferrals. Participants in the Deferred Compensation Plan can choose to invest amounts
deferred and the matching company contributions in a variety of mutual fund investments, consisting of bonds, stocks, and short-term investments as well as blended funds. The
available investment choices are the same as the primary investment choices available under the Defined Contribution Plan. The account balances are thus subject to investment
returns and will change over time depending on market performance. A participant is entitled to receive his or her account balance upon termination of employment or the date
or dates selected by the participant on his or her enrollment forms. If a participant dies or experiences a total and permanent disability before terminating employment and
before commencement of payments, the entire value of the participant's account shall be paid at the time selected by the participant in his or her enrollment forms.
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
Severance Payments and Benefits under Employment Agreements
The Company has an employment agreement in effect with each NEO that provides for specified payments and benefits in connection with certain terminations of employment.
No severance payments or benefits are payable in the event of a termination for cause or resignation without good reason (each as defined below). Additional severance
payments and benefits for each NEO are described below.
For all NEOs, severance payments and benefits are conditioned upon the execution by the executive of a release of claims against the Company and his continued compliance
with the restrictive covenants contained in the employment agreement and/or stock option award agreement. The employment agreements and/or stock option award agreements
require the executive not to disclose at any time confidential information of the Company or of any third party to which the Company has a duty of confidentiality and to assign
to the Company all intellectual property developed during employment. Pursuant to their employment agreements and/or stock option award agreements, the executives are also
required (i) during employment and for one year thereafter not to compete with the Company and (ii) during employment and for two years thereafter not to solicit the
employees, customers, or business relations of the Company or make disparaging statements about the Company.
Douglas J. Cahill
For Mr. Cahill, in the event of termination of employment by the Company without cause or resignation by Mr. Cahill with good reason, Mr. Cahill would be entitled to
continued payments of base salary and his target bonus for a period of one year following termination.
Robert O. Kraft
For Mr. Kraft, in the event of termination of employment by the Company without cause or resignation by Mr. Kraft with good reason, Mr. Kraft would be entitled to (i)
continued payments of base salary for a period of one year following termination and (ii) a proportionate portion of his annual bonus for the year in which the termination
occurs, payable when bonus payments for such year are made to other senior executives.
Randall J. Fagundo
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For Mr. Fagundo, in the event of termination of employment by the Company without cause or resignation by Mr. Fagundo with good reason, Mr. Fagundo would be entitled to
continued payments of base salary and target bonus for a period of one year following termination.
George S. Murphy
For Mr. Murphy, in the event of termination of employment by the Company without cause or resignation by Mr. Murphy with good reason, Mr. Murphy would be entitled to (i)
continued payments of base salary for a period of one year following termination, (ii) the annual bonus earned in the year prior to his termination, but not yet paid, and (iii) a
proportionate portion of his annual bonus for the year in which the termination occurs, payable when bonus payments for such year are made to other senior executives.
Jarrod T. Streng
For Mr. Streng, in the event of termination of employment by the Company without cause or resignation by Mr. Streng with good reason, Mr. Streng would be entitled to (i)
continued payments of base salary for a period of one year following termination, (ii) the annual bonus earned in the year prior to his termination, but not yet paid, and (iii) a
proportionate portion of his annual bonus for the year in which the termination occurs, payable when bonus payments for such year are made to other senior executives.
“Good reason” is defined generally as (i) any material diminution in the executive's position, authority, or duties with the Company, (ii) the Company reassigning the executive
to work at a location that is more than 75 miles from the executive's current work location, (iii) any amendment to the Company's bylaws which results in a material and adverse
change to the officer and director indemnification provisions contained therein, or (iv) a material breach of the compensation, benefits, term, and severance provisions of the
employment agreement by the Company which is not cured within 10 days following written notice from the executive. The Company has a 10-day period to cure all
circumstances otherwise constituting good reason.
Option Vesting
All time-based options held by the NEOs will vest upon the occurrence of a change in control subject to the optionee's continued employment by Hillman through the
consummation of such change in control.
Provided that the consummation of a change in control occurs during the optionee's continued employment or on or before the first anniversary of the optionee's termination,
100% of the performance-based options will vest if the CCMP stockholders receive proceeds resulting in a multiple on investment of at least 2.0.
The pending merger with Landcadia will not constitute a change in control under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, or with respect to any awards or agreements thereunder, and
the Business Combination will not result in the acceleration or vesting of any equity awards held by any of our NEOs. Under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, our compensation
committee is permitted to, and may in connection with the Business Combination, make certain adjustments to outstanding equity awards, including equitable adjustments to the
vesting terms applicable to performance-based options.
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Estimated Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control
The table below shows the severance payments and benefits that each NEO would receive upon (1) death, disability, or non-renewal by executive, (2) termination without
cause, resignation with good reason, or non-renewal by the Company, (3) termination without cause, resignation with good reason, or non-renewal by the Company within 90
days of a change in control or (4) a change in control, regardless of termination. The amounts are calculated as if the date of termination (and change in control where applicable)
were December 26, 2020. For purposes of the table, the cost of continuing health care, life, and disability insurance coverage is based on the current Company cost for the level
of such coverage elected by the executive.

Name

Douglas J. Cahill
Robert O. Kraft
Randall S. Fagundo
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng

Termination without
cause, resignation
with good reason, or
non-renewal by the
Company

Death,
Disability, or
non-renewal by
Executive

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

1,300,000
739,173
495,000
587,738
646,511

Termination without cause,
resignation with good
reason, or non-renewal by
the Company within 90 days
of a change in control

$

1,300,000
739,173
495,000
587,738
646,511

Change in
Control
(regardless of
termination) (1)

$

8,237,584
3,173,735
1,142,919
380,061
380,061

(1) Represents the cash-out value of unvested options as of December 26, 2020, at the fair market value of the Company's common stock ($1,647.13) less the applicable
exercise price, and assuming that the applicable performance targets were achieved and the options vested in full upon a “change in control” that occurred on the same
date. As noted above, the pending merger with Landcadia will not constitute a change in control under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan or otherwise trigger such
acceleration entitlements Note that, in the absence of an actual change in control transaction, it is not possible to determine whether the thresholds would actually be met.
Pay Ratio Disclosure
The following information is a reasonable estimate of the annual total compensation of our employees as relates to the 2020 total compensation of our CEO. Based on the
methodology described below, our CEO’s 2020 total compensation was approximately 37 times that of our median employee.
We identified the median employee using our employee population as of December 26, 2020, which included all 3,780 global full-time, part-time, temporary, and seasonal
employees employed on that date. We applied an exchange rate as of December 26, 2020 to convert all international currencies into U.S. Dollars.
A variety of pay elements comprise the total compensation of our employees. This includes annual base salary, equity awards, annual cash incentive payments based on
company performance, sales or commission incentives, and various field bonuses. The incentive awards an employee is eligible for is based on his or her pay grade and
reporting level, and are consistently applied across the organization. Cash incentives, rather than equity, is the primary vehicle of incentive compensation for most of our
employees throughout the organization. While all employees earn a base salary, not all receive such cash incentive payments. Furthermore, less than 1% of our employees
receive equity awards. Consequently, for purposes of applying a consistently-applied compensation metric for determining our median employee, we selected annual base salary
as the sole, and most appropriate, compensation element for determining the median employee. We used the annual base salary of our employees as reflected on our human
resources systems on December 26, 2020, excluding that of our CEO, in preparing our data set.
Using this methodology we determined that the median employee was a full-time service representative located in the United States with total annual compensation of $42,637,
which includes base pay, overtime pay, bonus pay, car allowance, and 401(K) match. With respect to the 2020 total compensation of our CEO, we used the amount reported in
the “Total” column of our 2020 Summary Compensation Table included in this filing, $1,578,261. Accordingly, our CEO to Employee Pay Ratio is 37:1.The pay ratio disclosed
is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with the applicable SEC disclosure rules.
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Director Compensation for Fiscal Year 2020
The following table sets forth compensation earned by the Company's directors who are not also employees of the Company during the year ended December 26, 2020.

Name
Max W. Hillman, Jr. (3)
Aaron P. Jagdfeld (4)
Kevin M. Mailender (5)
David A. Owens (3)
Kristin S. Steen (2)
Joseph M. Scharfenberger, Jr. (2)
Tyler J. Wolfram (5)
Philip K. Woodlief (4)
Richard F. Zannino (2)

$

Fees Earned
or Paid in
Cash
60,000
75,000
—
60,000
—
—
75,000
—

Change in Pension
Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings

Option
Awards (1)
$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

Total
60,000
75,000
—
60,000
—
—
75,000
—

(1) The amount included in the “Option Awards” column represents the grant date fair value of options calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note 11 Stock Based Compensation, to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for details.
(2) Mr. Scharfenberger, Mr. Zannino, and Ms. Steen are each employed and compensated by CCMP and were not compensated for their services on the Board during the year
ended December 26, 2020.
(3) Mr. Hillman and Mr. Owens are each entitled to an annual Board fee of $60,000.
(4) Mr. Jagdfeld and Mr. Woodlief are each entitled to an annual Board fee of $60,000 and an annual Audit Committee fee of $15,000.
(5) Mr. Wolfram and Mr. Mailender are each employed and compensated by Oak Hill Capital Management, LLC and were not compensated for their services on the Board
during the year ended December 26, 2020.
Directors do not receive any perquisites or other personal benefits from the Company.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
The members of the Compensation Committee of the Board of the Company are Mr. Zannino and Mr. Cahill. Mr. Cahill is our Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Zannino was not an
officer or employee of the Company during fiscal year 2020, was not formerly a Company officer or had any relationship otherwise requiring disclosure. There were no
interlocks or insider participation between any member of the Board or Compensation Committee and any member of the Board or Compensation Committee of another
company.
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Item 12 – Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Hillman Group are owned by Hillman Investment Company, all of whose shares are owned by The Hillman Companies, Inc. All
of the outstanding shares of capital stock of The Hillman Companies, Inc. are owned by HMAN Intermediate II Holdings Corp. (“HMAN Intermediate II”). All of the
outstanding shares of capital stock of HMAN Intermediate II are owned by HMAN Intermediate Holdings Corp. (“HMAN Intermediate”). All of the outstanding shares of
capital stock of HMAN Intermediate are owned by HMAN Group Holdings Inc. (“Holdco”). All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Holdco are owned by CCMP
Capital Investors III, L.P., CCMP Co-Invest III A, L.P., CCMP Capital Investors III (Employee), L.P., Oak Hill Capital Partners III, L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management
Partners III, L.P., OHCP III HC RO, L.P., and officers, directors, and former employees of the Company. The following table sets forth information as of the close of business
on December 26, 2020 as to the share ownership of Holdco by the directors, executive officers, and holders of 5% or more of the shares of Holdco.
Shares Beneficially Owned
Number
Percentage (%) (2)
316,171.2265
57.308
101,400.0000
18.379
18,967.7735
3.438
86,716.6350
15.718
2,847.9750
0.516
2,435.3900
0.441
536.0000
1,000.0000
1,000.0000
500.0000
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
3,036.000
0.550

Name and Address of Beneficial Owners(1)
CCMP Capital Investors III, L.P. (3)
CCMP Co-Invest III A, L.P. (3)
CCMP Capital Investors, (Employee) III L.P. (3)
Oak Hill Capital Partners III, L.P. (4)
Oak Hill Capital Management Partners, III L.P. (4)
OHCP III HC RO, L.P. (4)
Douglas J. Cahill
Max W. Hillman, Jr. (5)
Aaron P. Jagdfeld
Robert O. Kraft
Randall J. Fagundo
George S. Murphy
Jarrod T. Streng
Kevin M. Mailender
David A. Owens
Joseph M. Scharfenberger, Jr.
Kristin S. Steen
Tyler J. Wolfram
Philip K. Woodlief
Richard F. Zannino
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (14 persons)

%
%
%
%
%
%
*
*
*
*
*

%

* Less than 1%
(1) Unless otherwise noted, the business address of each beneficial owner is c/o The Hillman Group, Inc., 10590 Hamilton Avenue, Cincinnati, Ohio 45231-1764.
(2) Based on 551,704 shares outstanding as of December 26, 2020.
(3) The business address of CCMP Capital Investors III, L.P., CCMP Co-Invest III A, L.P., and CCMP Capital Investors III (Employee), L.P. (collectively, the “CCMP
Partnerships”) is 277 Park Avenue, 27th Floor, New York, New York 10172. CCMP Capital GP, LLC, is the general partner of CCMP Capital, LP which is the sole
member of CCMP Capital Associates III GP, LLC, which is the sole general partner of CCMP Capital Associates III, L.P., which is the sole general partner of CCMP
Capital Investors III, L.P. and CCMP Capital Investors III (Employee), L.P. CCMP Capital, LP is the sole member of CCMP Co-Invest III A GP, LLC, which is the sole
general partner of CCMP Co-Invest III A, L.P. CCMP Capital GP, LLC exercises voting and dispositive control over the shares held by each of the CCMP Partnerships.
Voting and disposition decisions at CCMP Capital GP with respect to such shares are made by a committee, the members of which are Greg Brenneman, Timothy Walsh,
Joseph Scharfenberger, and Richard Zannino. Each of these individuals disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by the CCMP Partnerships.
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(4) The business address of Oak Hill Capital Partners III, L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management Partners III, L.P., and OHCP III HC RO, L.P. (collectively, the “Oak Hill
Funds”) is 263 Tresser Blvd, 15th floor, Stamford, CT 06901. OHCP MGP III, Ltd. is the sole general partner of OHCP MGP Partners III, L.P., which is the sole general
partner of OHCP GenPar III, L.P., which is the sole general partner of each of the Oak Hill Funds. OHCP MGP III, Ltd. exercises voting and dispositive control over the
shares held by each of the Oak Hill Funds. Investment and voting decisions with regard to the shares of Holdco's common stock owned by the Oak Hill Funds are made by
the board of directors of OHCP MGP III, Ltd. The members of the board are Tyler J. Wolfram, Brian N. Cherry, and Steven G. Puccinelli . Each of these individuals
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by the Oak Hill Funds.
(5) All shares are held by the Max William Hillman 2012 Spousal GST Trust.

Item 13 – Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
The Company has recorded aggregate management fee charges and expenses from CCMP and Oak Hill Funds of $577, $562, and $546 for the years ended December 26, 2020,
December 28, 2019, and December 29, 2018, respectively.
The Company recorded proceeds from the sale of Holdco stock to members of management and the Board of Directors for $750 during year ended December 28, 2019. There
were no such sales the year ended December 26, 2020 nor December 29, 2018.
In the year ended December 29, 2018, the Company paid a dividend of approximately $3,780 to Holdco for the purchase of 4,200 shares of Holdco stock from former members
of management. No such dividends were paid in fiscal 2020 nor fiscal 2019.
Gregory Mann and Gabrielle Mann are employed by Hillman. Hillman leases an industrial warehouse and office facility from companies under the control of the Manns. The
Company has recorded rental expense for the lease of this facility on an arm's length basis. Rental expense for the lease of this facility was $351 for the year ended
December 26, 2020, $350 for the year ended December 28, 2019, and $350 for the year ended December 29, 2018.
Douglas J. Cahill was hired effective July 29, 2019 as our Executive Chairman and Senior Executive Officer. He was promoted to President and Chief Executive Officer
September 16, 2019. Mr. Cahill is also a former Managing Director of CCMP Capital Advisors, LP ("CCMP"). CCMP’s private equity fund CCMP Capital Investors III, L.P.
(“CCMP III”), together with its related fund vehicles, owns approximately 79.1% of Holdco's outstanding common stock as of December 26, 2020. Mr. Cahill has retained a
carried interest in CCMP III and the fair value of this carried interest, which is based on the overall performance of CCMP III, is contingent on several factors. As of
December 26, 2020, the fair value of the carried interest is not estimable in accordance with ASC 405 - Contingencies.
The Company's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics addresses the approval of related party transactions including transactions between the Company and our officers,
directors, and employees. The Company does not allow officers, directors, and employees to give preferences in business dealings based upon personal financial considerations.
Officers, directors, and employees are also not permitted to own a financial interest in or hold any employment or managerial position with a competing firm or one that seeks to
do or does business with the Company without prior approval of the Board of Directors of the Company. In addition, the Company's code prohibits officers, directors, and
employees from receiving or giving loans, gifts, or benefits to any supplier, customer, or competitor unless specifically permitted in the Company's code. Such expenditures or
gifts must be reported to, and approved by, a supervisor. Compliance review and reporting procedures for violations of the Company rules are also listed in the ethics code.
Director Independence
As disclosed in “Item 10 - Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance,” Mr. Jagdfeld and Mr. Woodlief would be considered independent for our Board of
Directors and for our Audit Committee and Mr. Zannino and Mr. Cahill would be considered independent for our Compensation Committee, based upon the listing standards of
the NYSE AMEX.
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Item 14 – Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
Audit Fees
Audit fees consist of fees for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and review of the interim condensed consolidated
financial statements included in quarterly reports and services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings. The aggregate fees of KPMG LLP
for the 2020 audit were approximately $773 thousand and the 2019 audit fees were approximately $833 thousand.
Audit Related Fees
Audit related fees are fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company's Consolidated
Financial Statements and are not under “Audit Fees.”
There were no audit related fees billed by KPMG LLP in the years ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019.
Tax Fees
Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning. There were no tax fees billed by KPMG LLP in 2020 or 2019.
All Other Fees
No other services were rendered by KPMG LLP for 2020 or 2019.
The Audit Committee's policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by KPMG LLP on a case-by-case basis, and any pre-approval is detailed as
to the particular service or category of service and is generally subject to a specific budget. These services may include audit services, audit related services, tax services, and
other related services. KPMG LLP and the Company's management are required to periodically report to the Audit Committee regarding the extent of services provided by
KPMG LLP in accordance with this pre-approval policy, and the fees for the services performed to date. In accordance with its policies and procedures, the Audit Committee
pre-approved 100% of the audit and non-audit services performed by KPMG LLP for the years ended December 26, 2020 and December 28, 2019.

PART IV
Item 15 – Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Documents Filed as a Part of the Report:
1.

Financial Statements.

The information concerning financial statements called for by Item 15 of Form 10-K is set forth in Part II, Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.
2.

Financial Statement Schedules.

The information concerning financial statement schedules called for by Item 15 of Form 10-K is set forth in Part II, Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.
3.

Exhibits, Including Those Incorporated by Reference.

The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K. Where so indicated by footnote, exhibits which were previously filed are incorporated by
reference. For exhibits incorporated by reference, the location of the exhibit in the previous filing is indicated in parentheses.
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2.1
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7
10.8
10.9

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 16, 2014 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 29, 2014 Exhibit 2.1)
Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of The Hillman Companies, Inc. (effective as of May 23, 2013). (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 30, 2013 - Exhibit 3.1)
Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Hillman Companies, Inc. as of May 28, 2010. (5) (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2010 - Exhibit 3.1)
Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 333-44733 on Form S-2 - Exhibit
4.1)
Indenture between The Hillman Companies, Inc. and the Bank of New York. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement
No. 333-44733 on Form S-2 - Exhibit 4.2)
Preferred Securities Guarantee. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 333-44733 on Form S-2 - Exhibit 4.3)
Rights Agreement between The Hillman Companies, Inc. and the Registrar and Transfer Company. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement No. 333-44733 on Form S-2 - Exhibit 10.5)
Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement dated June 18, 2001. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
March 29, 2004 - Exhibit 4.6)
Amendment No. 2 to the Rights Agreement dated February 14, 2004. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
March 29, 2004 - Exhibit 4.7)
Indenture, dated as of June 30, 2014, among HMAN Finance Sub Corp., HMAN Intermediate Finance Sub Corp., as guarantor and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as Trustee. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2014 - Exhibit 4.1)
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 30, 2014, among The Hillman Group, Inc. and certain guarantors party thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as Trustee. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2014 - Exhibit 4.2)
The Hillman Companies, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan (amended and restated). (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 15, 2004 - Exhibit - 10.1)
First Amendment to The Hillman Companies, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan. (3) (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 15, 2004 - Exhibit - 10.2)
2014 Equity Incentive Plan. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2014 - Exhibit - 10.2)
Credit Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2014, by and among HMAN Finance Sub Corp., to be merged with and into The Hillman Group, Inc., Hillman
Investment Company, HMAN Intermediate Finance Sub Corp., to be merged with and into The Hillman Companies Inc., the subsidiaries of the
borrower from time to time party thereto, the financial institutions party thereto as lenders and Barclays Bank PLC, as administrative agent for such
lenders. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2014 - Exhibit - 10.1)
Credit Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2018, by and among The Hillman Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, The Hillman Companies, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, the Lenders from time to time party hereto including Barclays Bank PLC, in its capacities as administrative agent and collateral
agent with Barclays, Jefferies Finance LLC, Citizens Bank and MUFG Union Bank, N.A. as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners.(incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 5, 2018 - Exhibit 10.1)
ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2018, by and among The Hillman Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, The Hillman Companies, Inc., a
Delaware corporation , The Hillman Group Canada ULC, a British Columbia unlimited liability company, the Lenders and Issuing Banks from time to
time party hereto, including Barclays Bank PLC, and Barclays, in its capacities as administrative agent and collateral agent and the Swingline Lender,
with Barclays, Jefferies Finance LLC, Citizens Bank, N.A. and MUFG Union Bank, N.A. as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners, Credit Suisse
Loan Funding LLC and PNC Bank, National Association, as a documentation agent. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 5, 2018 - Exhibit 10.2)
First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on October 5, 2018 - Exhibit 10.1)
First Amendment to the ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of November 15, 2019 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on November 15, 2019 - Exhibit 10.1)
Form of 2014 Equity Incentive Plan Award Agreements. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December
4, 2014 - Exhibit10.2)
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10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
21.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101

Employment Agreement between Robert O. Kraft and The Hillman Group, Inc. dated October 2, 2017 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2017 - Exhibit 10.10)
Employment Agreement between Randall J. Fagundo and The Hillman Group, Inc. dated August 10, 2018 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2019 - Exhibit - 10.13)
Employment Agreement between Douglas J. Cahill and The Hillman Group, Inc. dated July 25, 2019 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 27, 2020 - Exhibit - 10.12)
Employment Agreement between Jarrod T. Streng and The Hillman Group, Inc. dated October 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 27, 2020 - Exhibit - 10.15)
Employment Agreement between George S. Murphy and The Hillman Group, Inc. dated October 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 27, 2020 - Exhibit - 10.14)
* Subsidiaries. (As of December 26, 2020)
* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
* Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
* Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
The following financial information from the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2020, filed with the SEC on
February 19, 2021, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 26, 2020 and December 28,
2019, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year ended December 26, 2020, the year ended December 28, 2019 and the
year ended December 29, 2018, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December 26, 2020, the year ended December 28, 2019
and the year ended December 29, 2018, (iv) Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the year ended December 26, 2020, the year ended
December 28, 2019 and the year ended December 29, 2018, and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

* Filed herewith
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Item 16 – Form 10-K Summary.
None
SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
THE HILLMAN COMPANIES, INC.
Dated:

March 3, 2021

By:
Title:

/s/ Robert O. Kraft
Robert O. Kraft
Chief Financial Officer and Duly Authorized Officer of the
Registrant

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated below.

Signature

/s/ Douglas J. Cahill
Douglas J. Cahill
/s/ Robert O. Kraft
Robert O. Kraft
/s/ Anne S. McCalla
Anne S. McCalla
/s/ Max W. Hillman, Jr.
Max W. Hillman, Jr.
/s/ Aaron P. Jagdfeld
Aaron P. Jagdfeld
/s/ David A. Owens
David A. Owens
/s/ Joseph M. Scharfenberger, Jr.
Joseph M. Scharfenberger, Jr.
/s/ Kristin S. Steen
Kristin S. Steen
/s/ Tyler J. Wolfram
Tyler J. Wolfram
/s/ Philip K. Woodlief
Philip K. Woodlief
/s/ Richard F. Zannino
Richard F. Zannino

Capacity

Date

Principal Executive Officer, Chairman and Director

March 3, 2021

Principal Financial Officer

March 3, 2021

Chief Accounting Officer

March 3, 2021

Director

March 3, 2021

Director

March 3, 2021

Director

March 3, 2021

Director

March 3, 2021

Director

March 3, 2021

Director

March 3, 2021

Director

March 3, 2021

Director

March 3, 2021
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EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES - As of December 26, 2020
1.

Hillman Investment Company
Incorporated in the State of Delaware

2.

The Hillman Group, Inc.
Incorporated in the State of Delaware
a. SunSource Integrated Services de Mexico S.A. de C.V.
Incorporated in Ciudad de Mexico, Mexico
b. SunSub C Inc.
Incorporated in the State of Delaware
c. The Hillman Group Canada ULC
Incorporated in the Province of British Columbia, Canada
d. NB Parent Company, LLC
Incorporated in the State of Delaware
1) NB Products LLC
Incorporated in the State of Delaware
a. BTP Latinoamericana S. de. R. L. de C.V.
Incorporated in Ciudad de Mexico, Mexico
b. Big Time Products, LLC
Incorporated in the State of Georgia

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Douglas J. Cahill, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Hillman Companies, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date:

March 3, 2021

/s/ Douglas J. Cahill
Douglas J. Cahill
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Robert O. Kraft, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Hillman Companies, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date:

March 3, 2021

/s/ Robert O. Kraft
Robert O. Kraft
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2020 (the "Report") of The Hillman Companies, Inc. (the "Registrant"), as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof; I, Douglas J. Cahill, the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, certify, to the best of my knowledge,
that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
/s/ Douglas J. Cahill
Name: Douglas J. Cahill
Date:
March 3, 2021

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2020 (the "Report") of The Hillman Companies, Inc. (the "Registrant"), as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof; I, Robert O. Kraft, the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, certify, to the best of my knowledge, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
/s/ Robert O. Kraft
Name: Robert O. Kraft
Date:
March 3, 2021

